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Financial Highlights and Five-Year summary
S mENRTFHE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEFE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E_RE —E-mEF —Eo—F —TE-F —T-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FTAT TAT FAT FAT
Revenue WA 4,140,212 4,211,034 3,875,377 2,919,500 2,080,403
EBITDA® SR E REER
2B 307,846 388,132 430,270 536,364 397,354
Adjusted EBITDA RARBBHNER
BSER0 2 BF 375,150 441,643 385,571 519,526 317,218
(Loss)/profit before tax BREiAT(E518),/
S (101,140) 16,874 136,189 321,411 265,896
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE), & F (111,918) 15,695 107,027 270,503 225,593
(Loss)/profit attributable to RATEE AES
owners of the Company (E518),/ %A (167,186) (18,947) 69,664 197,501 102,865
Basic (loss)/earnings per share ~ FAEEA(E1E),/
(HK cents) BF GBI (14.1) (1.6) 5.9 171 18.8
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E_RE —E-NEF —TEo—F E--F E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT FAT FAT FHT
Total assets BERE 5,026,888 5,373,054 5,513,330 4,860,608 3,790,481
Total liabilities BiEHHE 2,821,892 2,970,283 3,142,385 2,510,052 2,159,695
Net assets BEFE 2,204,996 2,402,771 2,370,945 2,350,556 1,630,786
Financial Metrics BSIEE
EBITDA Margin® SR E LEHER
2 B Ee 7.4% 9.2% 11.1% 18.4% 19.1%
Net (loss)/profit margin® F(EB),/SRFRe -4.0% 0.4% 2.8% 9.3% 10.8%
Current ratio BN @ 1.00x 0.92x 0.85x 1.11x 1.07x
Quick ratio® RE)L KO 0.92x 0.85x 0.80x 1.04x 1.04x
Debt/EBITDA &%,/ BHMER
BRI 2 BF) 2.6x 2.4x 1.7x 0.4x 1.4x
Gearing ratio BESFELE 36.1% 38.3% 30.3% 10.1% 34.5%
Return on equity® preNEEEL -51% 0.7% 4.5% 11.5% 13.8%
Return on average total assets?” F#8%& E Bl 3R KM -4.5% 0.6% 2.1% 6.3% 7.1%
Dividend per share (HK cents)  ER%A% S (FBl) 1.0 05 10.0 14.4 15.9
EC Healthcare 2 Annual Report 2024/25



Financial Highlights and Five-Year Summary
BB R TFRE

Bt

Notes:

EBITDA equals earnings before interests, taxation, depreciation-owned property,
plant and equipment and amortisation. EBITDA is not standard measure under
HKFRS. The Company’s management believes that EBITDA, as a proxy of
operating cash flow generated by the Group’s businesses, provide investors with
useful supplementary information to assess the performance of the Group.

In addition to EBITDA, we present Adjusted EBITDA as a supplemental non-
HKFRS financial measure.

We present these financial measures because they are used by our management
to evaluate our financial performance by eliminating the impact of items (i.e.
one off and non-recurring items) that we do not consider indicative of the
performance of our business. We also believe that the Adjusted EBITDA provide
additional information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating
our consolidated results of operations in the same manner as they help our
management and in comparing financial results across accounting periods.

When assessing our operating and financial performance, readers should
not view the Adjusted EBITDA in isolation or as a substitute for our profit for
the period or any other operating performance measure that is calculated in
accordance with HKFRS. In addition, because Adjusted EBITDA may not be
calculated in the same manner by all companies, they may not be comparable to
other similarly tited measures used by other companies.

BREE 3
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Financial Highlights and Five-Year Summary
BB R TFRE

TRETIB AR B B T K 5 A 2 2 A
BRELAT(B51R), R AR

The following table sets out the reconciliation of the EBITDA and (loss)/profit
before tax for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 March
BEZA=1+—HLEFE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E-EF —EomE =& T & B
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHT FHET FAT
(Loss)/profit before tax BrEEAT(E518) &7 (101,140) 16,874 136,189 321,411 265,896
Finance costs BAFE R AR 89,442 100,837 63,636 48,907 23,648
Depreciation — owned property, #HE—BEDE  FE
plant and equipment gk 218,762 177,073 137,204 96,031 77,547
Amortisation of intangible assets £ & B 118,182 108,921 97,767 71,379 31,968
Bank and other interest income 847 & E A R S U A (17,400) (15,573) (4,526) (1,364) (1,705)
EBITDA BRMEREH 2
el 307,846 388,132 430,270 536,364 397,354
Impairment loss on goodwill AEREEE 115,599 - 7,481 - -
Impairment loss on interestina A —f& & ¥R R
joint venture RIEEE 9,892 - - - -
Share of impairment loss on DIER— =R AH
interest in an associate* BEREsE 87,979 - - - -
Unrealised and realised losses A FET ABZEHE
on financial assets at fair value ~ BAEEMAERLE
through profit or loss, net FREBBTE 10,939 24,582 19,093 11,565 2,893
Fair value loss/(gain) on other  EAEWFIBHNAFE
receivables B8/ (W) 36,039 1,254 (13,560) 3,792 6,328
Fair value loss/(gain) on BEMENATES
investment properties 8/ (W) 68,692 26,378 (2,200) (10,800) 2,700
Remeasurement loss on TR E DB
previously-held interest in an BRERENE
associate &8 5,921 - - - -
(Gain)/loss on disposals of LEMBARK
subsidiaries, net (Wezs) /EEEE (268,214) 84 - - 4,283
Loss/(gain) on disposals and HERMBEWE - BE
write-off of property, plantand KR EHIEIE,
equipment (Mas) 1,298 1,751 (3,636) (19,115) (21,061)
Government grants BB (841) (538) (51,877) (2,280) (75,279)
Adjusted EBITDA R BB E R
#12 B 375,150 441,643 385,571 519,526 317,218
# Included in share of (losses)/profits of associates # STADREEE QAN (E51E), 5T
EC Healthcare 4 Annual Report 2024/25



Financial Highlights and Five-Year Summary
BB R TFRE

EBITDA Margin equals earnings before interests, taxation, depreciation-owned
property, plant and equipment and amortisation over total revenue of the financial
year.

Net loss/profit margin equals profit for the year divided by revenue for the same
period.

Current ratio equals current assets divided by current liabilities as at the end of
the financial year.

Quick ratio equals current assets less inventories divided by current liabilities as
at the end of the financial year.

Gearing ratio equals total debt (total debt refers to the aggregate sum of bank
borrowings and convertible bonds excluding lease liabilities relating to properties
leased for own use) divided by total equity.

Return on equity equals loss/profit for the year divided by the ending balance of
total equity of the financial year.

Return on average total assets equals loss/profit for the year divided by the
arithmetic mean of the beginning and ending balances of total assets of the
financial year.
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FC Healthcare at a Glance

%/E&;EI\{@E_%_%E;

VISION

FA=

To be the leading one-stop
healthcare ECOSYSTEM with
focus on preventive and
precision medicine

B AEEH — A RIEREERR
o W BT B R TAR 1 B

Medical
BE

Revenue (HK$ million)

2,507

MISSION
fiEan

Bring Health, Beauty and
Happiness to more People

R » X - REBREZA

Aesthetic medical, beauty
and wellness services

TEER XBNRELERK
R $ million
evenue (HK llion) 1 ,296

WA @Esr) S ONGE:S:-50)
No. of Service Points No. of Service Points
IR B &= 1 02 R BB = 53
OUR STORES No. Service Points 164
RMHPIE R
No. of Customer Visit!
O\UR CUSTOMERS = S H5 A K 1,767,583
EMANEF
Existing Customer Revenue 0
Contribution? 66.6%
RAEREFPWAMGL?
Cust Satisfacti Rate®
%:u;/c%m%(zrzf isfactions Rate® g9 ggoy,
OUR PEOPLE No. of Registered Practitioners 316
% 179 60 B EEAR
Notes:
MI3E -
1. Based on sales volume for the year excluding non-retail brands

BREAFEHEELTBEFTERT

2. Customers of FY24 contribution in FY25 divided by the total revenue in FY24
“ECMEEPE_S_AMFNRATR - RAZZT M FAKA

3. Revenue contribution by existing customers to the total revenue for the year

BERPHAFERRANERE

CORE VALUES
%MEE

BEWE
= REL
HEEE
TR
FENL il

- Integrity

- Empathy

- Co-Ownership

- Disruptive Agility

- Excellence

Veterinary and other

B R HAb

Revenue (HK$ million)
WA @&Esr) 337
No. of Service Points 9
FRi% B E =2
Total Service Area
B IRIEER 591,000

sqft ¥R
Repurchase Rate?
A 65.7%
No. of Cross Brand 36.7%
Customers* '
BEamhaE s AZ
No. of Registered
Veterinary Surgeons 71

A EAEE A 8K

4, Number of unique customers who purchased services from more than one brand for the year divided by total number of unique customers
since 2018 among 34 brands
B =2~ \FUAR34 BREF A EREEERENBLEFHERNEBLTFPHE

5. 100% minus the percentage of material unfavourable feedback of total revenue for the year

100% AR FELRBM AP ERTFIREHN TS L

EC Healthcare 6 Annual Report 2024/25



Geographical Coverage
Hh % 7B 2=

Total of 164 service points across 591,000 sq ft covering Greater China (as of 31 March 2025)
RPEEBREZ M EHLEL591,000F 5 R164EREH(BE—E-_AF=A=+—H)

Mainland China (exclude Greater Bay Area, China (exclude

Hong Kong and Macau) H K A (R 3
R (B EE R AP ong Kong) X HIE( &5 (2

Hong Kong, China RE&# (s

West # 52E1LQ

Medical B ----ooooonneeeennnns

Aesthetic Medical
Beauty and Wellness ~ -........
EZBRRBUREBARRE

Veterinarian and other .
k : HER /

BERRE 7 FERE 2024/25




One-Stop, Multi-Brand Ecosystem
—uh\Z M ERE RS

48 diverse brands: luxury and affordable options catering to a wide range of customers

BEZTmE REREFEHUSRRARNEE

. Aesthetic Medical, Beauty
2 9 %e%cczlﬁgrands 1 1 and Wellness Brands
. EBEE EARBLERE

Preventive Care TaFZ&E2
@# DR REBORN

#re:HEALTH
F B LA B R

EHBEBEAD A\
Hoat
Mobile Med\cﬂll+

Health Check C

N B raREs

Lab Testing and Screening 3l &2 1t & N “\\5 FOREST
ES
L: 48| Parnlas @M

WREEDH D
o ocme

Hong KoNG ADvANCED Iy

}{ AmMed Medical Diagnostic Center Hg PA N G E N | A

REWE DT O

dm

DERMAGIC

A step ahead for healthcare

ATO HAIR CLUB

Primary Care and Doctor Network 6 swiss line
EEERRRLEAYR EQUL ST
= umphre
D = g2 @@ 8 phrey
AI MEDICAL = artners
CHI KIN TONG

Specialists E&}

EC Healthcare D SPECIALISTS

Medical Centre c CENTRAL @: Premier Me‘diccll Centre

BRREEEDD T FE R EEEREL

Qualigenics fi R - EC eve

B A N < L . ~ARLLE

) At L <) @ reVIVE

Veterinary Brands

S ﬁ?&lﬁlUﬂQﬁ%u (ZHEEEREER D
CEF VLI L LT Vong Keng Infrmaiona Cacilogy Ce AR Eﬂ% =] Hﬂ
= AR
PRIMECAI'C
55 M B bl
Pain and Wellness FEiE &% B &£
/7
m ( ©
MCKENZIE
@YG @ HEALTHCARE
NEW YORK MEDICAL GROUP" \\y %@E%g?%
& B R %@ CORES

AMAH %c Vetcare
4 Animal Medical Academy Hospital g E §x g
O 1T ) PAINKILLER prassar
ERBHRTEARSL Y —REER—

Heung Wo Animal Medical Centre Maple Veterinary Hospital

ZRB}MERP L 18 1 B ¥ B R
Dental Care FF e {R {2 G G
BREY RN
Bayley & Jackson EC DENTAL CARE W R

Dental Surgeons Ltd. XA ml feamicoeomaiame BN | /R Avimat weaicar contre PET CARES Professional Veterinary Service
ERREFHE R EM%E?EP/U ZE &Y 8 KR

= Den i @ Qs

m

a Dental Centr,
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

Dear Shareholders,

BNV EHAIRR

As we reflect on the past year, | am pleased to share how EC
Healthcare has navigated a complex and evolving landscape
with strategic clarity and resilience. The macroeconomic
environment has presented significant challenges, including
persistent inflation, shifting consumer behaviors, and intensifying
competition in Hong Kong’s healthcare sector. Through swift
and decisive measures during the financial year, we successfully

rationalized our cost structure to achieve substantial recurring
annual savings against our baseline operations, significantly
strengthening our financial position for the future.

CIEAE —F - NATRR D = 58 B2 R ANARAE S M A0 2R A% A1
BEROEE  EEMRSZENMERRBTRRBR - RERLER
BEREANKE - BREFENER THRENHEEETS
ARBEBBERZITEADZMNNZTS - EAMBFEAN - ]
PISREGR R RETROIE 1 - I B AR - BRERELE
HE BN FREEFERANEGE -

Our approach has been anchored in three strategic pillars: strengthening
our core business, driving operational excellence, and accelerating
digital transformation. We have developed clear integration plans for our
various assets, particularly in dental, health screening & laboratory, and
medical specialty pillars, with systematic consolidation of IT, HR, finance,
centralized procurement and customer service functions to be completed
in 2026. These initiatives will unleash powerful synergies and drive
meaningful financial improvement across our organization.

In our Medical Services segment, we have made meaningful progress
in diversifying our revenue streams by deepening partnerships with
insurers and government programs. We are persistently executing
our defined consolidation platform strategy to effectively drive growth
and diversification of market segments through dedicated business
development efforts. This is complemented by enhanced operational
efficiency through robust capital and asset management, along with
accelerated digital integration across our brands — a comprehensive
approach that positions us to return to net profitability within the coming
three years.

BPIRA IR R EZE = RRR AT - sgbizd
% HHFUSERMESLEL - HFHD
HHEREE(LERTH BRHREER
EUREMBERL) HEEHMNBEFE -
YHR =B ANFERERRR - ADER
% KRPRBREFPREBENRFIUER
& o REREREREANIHRERE - HEEE
BETEREREANMBRE -

EEERSDBIE  RAEBFRCERREA
A RBUFREBINEIE - ERARIRZ T E
RSHEER - RAFERTRERETFER
B BRFINEBIRE  EREBTESH
BREZITTE - 1IN RAEBBREOELR
BETERTZERE - NRE RO E
B-EREAEMNTHERMABEERK=FA
WEFRF -

FEHRE 2024/25



Chairman’s Statement
FERE

The Aesthetic, Beauty, and Wellness segment has faced headwinds
due to cautious consumer sentiment, but our strategic acquisition
of a premium regional chain has strengthened our market position
and created synergies across our expanded network. By integrating
renowned brands and investing in cutting-edge technologies, we are
reinforcing our leadership in this competitive space while preparing for a
recovery in consumer confidence.

Our Veterinary Services division has demonstrated resilience, benefiting
from stable local demand and the growing recognition of our Animal
Medical Academy Hospital as a center of excellence. The recent easing
of cross-border pet quarantine rules has further solidified our role as a
trusted provider of comprehensive pet healthcare services in Hong Kong.

Operational excellence remains a cornerstone of our strategy. Through
targeted efficiency initiatives, including network optimization and digital
transformation, we have enhanced productivity without compromising
service quality. Our collaboration with Jiangxi RIMAG Group to form
the RIMAG-EC Health Tech Alliance exemplifies our commitment to
innovation, enabling us to integrate advanced diagnostic technologies
and streamline supply chain operations.

The development of our flagship EC Healthcare Towers in Central and
Tsim Sha Tsui marks a significant milestone in our growth journey. These
premier facilities will centralize our premium services, enhance patient
convenience, and unlock operational synergies, further solidifying our
position as Hong Kong’s leading integrated healthcare provider.

While mindful of near-term macroeconomic headwinds, EC Healthcare is
exceptionally positioned to harness Hong Kong’s structural advantages.
Our unwavering focus on innovation, quality, and strategic execution will
continue to create lasting value for shareholders and stakeholders alike.
We remain committed to advancing healthcare technology to enable
lower costs, higher efficiency, and superior service quality across Hong
Kong, Mainland China, and Asia.

At EC Healthcare, our vision is clear: to build Asia’s leading healthcare
platform that promotes health, beauty, and happiness for all. | extend
my deepest gratitude to our shareholders, partners, and dedicated
employees for your trust and support. Together, we will shape a healthier
and brighter future.

Tang Chi Fai
Chairman

EC Healthcare 10
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Biography of Directors and Senior Management

SESZNEREEAERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

TANG Chi Fai, Eddy, aged 46, is the Chairman of the Board, our
executive Director and chairman of the Nomination Committee. He is a
controlling shareholder of the Company and he founded our Group on 23
November 2005. He is responsible for formulating the Group’s strategy,
system, corporate culture, managing the Board and C-suite platform
development. Mr. Tang is also a director of various subsidiaries of the
Company.

Mr. Tang has over 22 years of experience in management of the
aesthetic medical and medical healthcare industries. Mr. Tang has
diversified experiences ranging from the initial establishment and business
development of medical aesthetic clinics and beauty centres, the
development of marketing strategies and maintenance of sales channels.

From September 1998 to May 2001, Mr. Tang attended the University of
Hong Kong where he was enrolled in the bachelor of medicine and the
bachelor of surgery programmes before deciding to pursue a different
career path. From September 2001 to February 2005, Mr. Tang enrolled
in the bachelor of business administration in accounting and finance at
the University of Hong Kong and worked on a part-time basis before
deciding to switch to full-time employment. Mr. Tang obtained Certificate
[V in Training and Assessment from Northern Melbourne Institute of
Technical and Further Education in September 2009 and the executive
master of business administration degree from the University of Hull in
January 2014. Mr. Tang is an Elizabeth Wordsworth Fellow at St. Hugh’s
College, University of Oxford.

HITES

AR 4658 REFTELIR  WMTEEMN
RRBEBEIE - RAARTERBRR -
YR -ZZAF+—AZ+=HEIVAEHE -

REEERIEAKERE A5 - QRIXILE
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B3 28 K H7 2 B2 (St. Hugh's College) 2 Elizabeth
Wordsworth Fellow °
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Biography of Directors and Senior Management
EELEREEABBE

LU Lyn Wade Leslie, aged 45, joined the Group in August 2021 and
is the chief executive officer of the Group. He focus on the Group’s high
level strategy, systems building, implementation and cultural alignment.

Mr. Lu is a seasoned corporate executive with 22 years of management
experience across multiple industry verticals. Mr. Lu worked in Sun Hung
Kai Real Estate Agency Limited as Deputy Chief Digital Officer. Before
that, Mr. Lu was an executive at Cathay Pacific Airways Limited during
2001-2007 & 2008-2020. His roles include General Manager Digital,
General Manager Product, managerial positions in airline planning, cargo,
flight operations, customer relationship management as well as oversea
station at Thailand, Vietnam and United States.

Mr. Lu graduated from The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology (“HKUST”) with a Bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering in
2001 and a master’s degree in Global Finance in 2009 from New York
University and HKUST.

EC Healthcare 12
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Biography of Directors and Senior Management
EENEREBEABBE

LEE
Chief
BFS

LEE Heung Wing, Levin, aged 44, joined the Group as corporate
finance director in March 2016 and was responsible for corporate
finance, mergers and acquisitions matters and has become the chief
financial officer of the Group since July 2019. Mr. Lee is responsible for
supervising capital market activities, evaluating M&A targets, and setting
financial plan for the Group.

Mr. Lee has over 20 years of professional experience in auditing,
accounting and corporate finance. Mr. Lee obtained a degree of Bachelor
of Business Administration in Finance from the University of Hong Kong
in 2004 and a postgraduate diploma in accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2006. Mr. Lee became a member and practising
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in
2007 and 2015, respectively. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lee founded
his own certified public accountant and consultancy firm in 2015,
principally engaged in business and accounting consultation services.
Prior to 2015 and after his graduation, Mr. Lee worked in assurance
department of Ernst & Young and his last position was senior manager
which he acquired intensive financial reporting and corporate governance
experience.

FTEE 445 R_TE-REFEZAMALRE
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Biography of Directors and Senior Management
EENEREBEABBE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LUK Kun Shin

Non-Executive Di

FATES

LUK Kun Shing Ben, aged 46, has more than 13 years of experience
in the aesthetic medical industry, and over 20 years of experience in
the information technology industry. Prior to joining our Group in March
2010, from January 2011 to February 2014, Mr. Luk served as a software
engineer at Google (Hong Kong) Limited, a subsidiary of Google Inc.,
specialising in internet-related services and products. From December
20083 to December 2010, he was a software engineer at Google Inc.,
in Mountain View, California, the United States and involved in the
implementation of Google Maps.

Mr. Luk graduated from Cornell University with a bachelor of science
degree in computer science in August 2000 and Stanford University with
a master of science degree in computer science in June 2003. Mr. Luk
was appointed as the Engineering Site Lead at Google Beijing in 2017.
The Board believes that his role in Google Beijing will allow him to be in
touch with the state-of-the-art technology and Mr. Luk will continue to
advise the Company to enhance its IT systems and access to the latest
IT resources.

EC Healthcare 14

FIITES

PEEIR - 465%  NESBEBTEEBB13F
KB WA BB ITEEAB20F KR -
RZZE—TF=AMAREEF] - BEEAERZ
T——F—-HE-Z—F = A#EEGoogle
(Hong Kong) Limited(Google Inc. KB B AT -
XN EEAAERSE RE M) NEEIRE
fl e RZBE=F+ _AE_T-ZTF+=
A+ R EREINFEE 22 M Mountain View
Google Inc. FyEL {4 TIZAM 2 2 B ATt B E 35 -

BEAR _ZZETF\ARERERBAAZ -
MBERMBEELTEU YN _FTT=FX
AR EASREERIBEER T2 -
BEEAN - Tt FREm RATIL R ED
DHERIE - EREREE - BRATILRNAE
R BIRAE B R ST OB - WARERER AR
EEETARRRERAIRARREMBHLR
RSV ERRER

Annual Report 2024/25



Biography of Directors and Senior Management
EENEREBEABBE

LEUNG YANG,
Non-Executive Dir

FNTES

LEUNG YANG, Shih Ti Marianne, aged 70, was appointed as our
Non-Executive Director on 27 December 2024. Mrs. Leung is currently a
director at PathLab Medical Laboratories Limited (“PathLab”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group. Mrs. Leung has headed and directed
PathLab (formerly known as Sing Tao Medical Laboratory Limited) since
1982 and currently oversees its operations, management, and strategy
implementation. PathLab is one of the largest private laboratories in Hong
Kong and has been in operation for over 49 years. In 2006, PathLab was
the first private laboratory to become ISO 15189 accredited for clinical
laboratory testing in Hong Kong. Mrs. Leung received a Bachelor of
Science degree (BS, MT, ASCP) from Creighton University in the United
States. She is a qualified medical technologist in both Hong Kong and
the United States and has dedicated her entire career to the medical
laboratory industry. Mrs. Leung has held and still holds positions on
various laboratory-related committees of HKSAR Government and
higher educational institutions. She was a member of the Hong Kong
Medical Laboratory Technologist Board (2007 to 2013) and the Hong
Kong Council for Testing and Certification (2009 to 2016). In 2022,
during the COVID-19 epidemic, she was awarded the Chief Executive’s
Commendation for Community Service.
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Biography of Directors and Senior Management
EENEREBEABBE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MA Ching Nam
Independent Non-

B FMITES

MA Ching Nam, aged 72, was appointed as our Independent Non-
Executive Director on 19 February 2016. Mr. Ma is also a member of
each of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Ma
has been practising law for more than 42 years. He was admitted as a
solicitor in England and Wales, Hong Kong, Australia and Singapore. He
currently serves as a consultant of Hastings & Co, Solicitors & Notaries, a
law firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Ma is also a Notary Public, China Appointed
Attesting Officer and Civil Celebrant. He was the President of the Hong
Kong Society of Notaries from 2007 to 2013.

Mr. Ma was a director of Tai Sang Bank Limited, and currently serves as a
director of Heptacontinental Group of companies, Ma Kam Ming Company
Limited, Ma Kam Ming Charitable Foundation and Ma’s Enterprises
Company Limited. He is now an Independent Non-Executive Director of
JY Grandmark Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2231), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ma was also an Independent
Non-executive Director of Time Watch Investments Limited (Stock Code:
2033), which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, during the
period between 10 January 2013 and 24 November 2022. Mr. Ma was the
Chairman of Po Leung Kuk from 2019 to 2020.

Mr. Ma is a council member of Hong Kong St. John Ambulance. He
was appointed as a member of Political and Consultative Conference
in Hunan Province, PRC. He was also the past Chairman of St. Paul’'s
Co-educational College Alumni Association. Mr. Ma graduated from the
University of Hull with a bachelor of science degree in economics with
honours in 1977.
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Biography of Directors and Senior Management
EERAREEAEME

LOOK Andrew
Independent Non-Exe:
BIUFNTES

LOOK Andrew, aged 60, was appointed as our independent non-
executive Director on 19 February 2016. Mr. Look is also a member of
each of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee, as
well as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

Mr. Look holds a bachelor of commerce degree from the University of
Toronto and has over 30 years’ experience in the equity investment
analysis of Hong Kong and China stock markets. From 2000 to 2008,
Mr. Look served in Union Bank of Switzerland (“UBS”) as the head of
Hong Kong research, strategy and product. He was rated as the best
Hong Kong strategist and best analyst by the Asiamoney magazine, a
leading monthly financial and capital markets publication for corporate
and finance readers and investors, in 2001, 2002, 2003, 2005, 2006
and 2007. Mr. Look is currently an independent non-executive director
of Hung Fook Tong Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1446), CITIC
Resources Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1205) and L.K. Technology
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 558), all of which are listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive director of
TCL Communication Technology Holdings Limited (a company delisted
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 30 September 2016) from
September 2010 to September 2016, an independent non-executive
director of Man Sang Jewellery Holdings Limited (now renamed as Baijin
Life Science Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 1466, a company listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange) from September 2014 to December
2016, an independent non-executive director of Cowell e Holdings
Inc. (Stock Code: 1415, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange) from April 2017 to December 2018 and an independent
non-executive director of Ka Shui International Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 822, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange) from
December 2009 to May 2024.
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Biography of Directors and Senior Management
BEENSNEEASBE

AU Tsun

Independent Non-exe:

B FMITES

AU Tsun, aged 45, joined the Group in September 2022 as Independent
Non-executive Director. Mr. Au is also the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, and a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Au owns over 16 years of experience in senior
management role, with expertise in asset management, investment,
audit and compliance. He is now the Chief Executive Officer of Verdant
Capital Group, a multi-billion asset management firm managing and
overseeing private equities, venture capital and real estate investments in
Hong Kong, Singapore and overseas. He provides the overall strategic
direction, leadership and governance of the group, and manages its
resources and daily operations.

Mr. Au was the Group Chief Operating Officer of CTF Education Group,
where he oversaw the operations and management of Hong Kong
and Mainland China regional offices, including operations, finance, IT
and human resources functions. Mr. Au was also the Interim Executive
Director of Victoria Educational Organisation.

Mr. Au was an audit and advisory Partner in Ernst & Young (EY), he
also held the role of EY’s Asia Pacific leader in System, Process and
Automation under Financial Accounting and Advisory Services where he
drove proprietary system solutions for clients. Prior to that, Mr. Au served
as Head of Asia for a US-listed global data analytics firm.

Mr. Au serves on the Audit Committee of UNICEF Hong Kong, school
council member of Sheng Kung Hui schools, and Board Member of Hong
Kong Education City wholly owned by the HKSAR Government. Mr. Au’s
life passion is to support humanity through different charity initiatives,
including Rotary, leadership endowment fund, and many more.

Mr. Au obtained a degree of Bachelor of Economics and Finance from
the University of Hong Kong in 2002. Mr. Au is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and is also a member of
the New Hampshire State Board of Accountancy in the US and American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Au is an alumnus of St.
Paul’s Co-educational College.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
ERE TR RN

BUSINESS REVIEW ¥ OE

Overview

productivity improvements

BHERUFENEERREALESD

The macro economic conditions remained challenging in the second half of
FY2025, as persistent inflation, high interest rates and cautious consumer
spendings hindered global and local economic recovery. In addition, the
recent announcement by the US government of excessively high tariffs on
China brought new uncertainties and pressures on Hong Kong, significantly
undermining consumer confidence. In the fierce competition across
healthcare sector of Hong Kong for both local medical needs and inbound
medical tourism and while we see growing trend of cross-border healthcare
consumption — especially in Shenzhen — has increased pressure on local
service providers to compete through superior quality, cost-effectiveness,
and operation efficiency. Amid these headwinds, the Group has proven its
resilience and adaptability, underscoring its strategic foresight, operational
strength, and dedication to stakeholders. While revenue saw a mild decline,
the Group achieved meaningful gains in operational efficiency — a crucial
advancement that strengthens its foundation for long-term growth and
sustained value creation despite ongoing market pressures.

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated revenue of HK$4,140.2
million and sales volume of HK$4,170.3 million, representing slight YoY
decreases of 1.7% and 1.0% respectively. This performance reflects two
key factors: (1) softer demand in discretionary healthcare segments —
including medical services, aesthetic treatments, and beauty & wellness
offerings — affected by cautious consumer spendings and the growing
preference for cross-border healthcare services in Shenzhen; and (2)
targeted portfolio optimization through the strategic disposal of certain
medical assets, reinforcing our capital discipline and creating value through
active balance sheet management.

The Group has maintained its trajectory of disciplined cost management and
strategic consolidation while maintaining high service standards adapting to
market conditions. On an adjusted basis, if excluding the effects of: (i) gain
on disposal of subsidiaries, net; (i) government grant; (iii) losses on financial
assets at fair value; (iv) impairment loss on goodwill; (v) fair value loss on
investment properties; (vi) impairment loss on joint venture; (vii) impairment
loss on other receivables; (viii) share of impairment loss of an associate; and

BRE 19

Fully committed in delivering sustainable bottom-line growth and

B

=

R-Z-_RMETFF  RELERKARE - BIRS
BMERSEUARHEEZEHE B DR R AR
PEEKPRBE < tboh - ERBTEHMEMRE RS D
B REBERANEEERES  BEHBEEER
Do BEEBERRITERFHR - EFRT AEHFR
S EEARRERE - MSRERREEE (CHEEE
ARINBE A& - MASEREEE RS HRE -
A N ERRFFOESN c BHZF AR - K
SERREIELERE S - TEARRER  £EED
LAR B 550 E BB - REWARRE T - ARENEE
BEMBREEE R - IHERERZEAAREERAENT
BENTERRIERIISHEAEBENER o

PSR - REMESWRAL 14028 8B HEEA
4170.3B BB T © Rt BIEHRA1.7%%1.0% » R
MEEXEREE  ()2FRIEREERIEZRSHEEZEE
BRADZEROBETE  DEBERY  BEFREEE
ARBEREANIEVTEERERE D BERER : &
QUEBRRBIEHES TEREE  HTYHEELIREASE -
IEEAER  WEATHERLAERBREEEE-

FEHFSRISKENRE - AREBRKRESBRROREE
BREREES  LUERMIBRE - LHARE - H3IBR T
T2 (\HEWBARMKEFE  ()BUTHED : (ifRAF
B ENeMEESE  (VEBRERSE  WVREDELR
FEEE © (ViiEERERERTE © (vi)E b UG IEREE
1B ¢ (Wil 5 — R E A RIMRERIE KX &S R

FEHRE 2024/25



Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE T

(ix) loss on disposals and write-off of property, plant and equipment, the
Group’s adjusted EBITDA during the Reporting Period decreased by 15.1%
YoY to HK$375.2 million (FY24: HK$441.6 million), reflecting both market
challenges and our strategic investments in long-term operational efficiency.
These measures position the Group for improved performance as market
conditions stabilize.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recognised HK$268.2 million gain
collectively from the disposals of certain Hong Kong-based medical service
assets as part of our strategic collaboration with insurance partners and
a disciplined capital management strategy. These transactions achieved
dual objectives: (1) unlocking value from established healthcare assets
through strategic partnerships, and (2) refining our service portfolio by
exiting non-core and underperforming operations. This active approach
to capital recycling has strengthened our balance sheet while allowing for
reinvestment in higher-growth service lines. Moreover, these measures
demonstrate our commitment to maintaining an optimal asset mix while
maximizing shareholder value through proactive portfolio management.

In FY25, non-cash impairment charges were made in respect of the
goodwill, interest in a joint venture, and interest in an associate of HK$213.5
million for certain dental clinics in our Hong Kong medical service segment,
as well as certain centres in our Chinese Mainland aesthetic medical, beauty
and wellness segment. In addition, non-cash fair value loss were recognised
in respect of investment properties, financial assets and other receivables
approximately HK$115.6 million. Due to the aforementioned impairments,
the Group recorded a loss attributable to shareholders of the Company for
the Reporting Period of HK$167.2 million (FY24: loss of HK$18.9 million).

The Group remains steadfast in its commitment to delivering sustainable
profitability and enhanced productivity. Having successfully executed our
strategic expansion and established key commercial partnerships, we now
focus on optimizing network integration and pursuing targeted B2B, B2I,
and B2G opportunities. These efforts create a unified healthcare ecosystem
that facilitates seamless patient referrals and continuity of care, while
delivering accessible, high-quality, and cost-effective services. Through
synergistic collaboration across our various business units and the strategic
expansion of our medical and diagnostic center network, we anticipate
improvements in both operational performance and financial results.
Concurrently, the Group maintains rigorous working capital discipline to
preserve financial stability and support future growth initiatives.
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B E R AT

Furthermore, during the Reporting Period, the Group has executed
significant cost optimization measures, reducing headcounts by 613
(272 back-office and 341 front-line roles) against the FY23 baseline while
leveraging on lease expirations to renegotiate rental rates across 137,000
sq ft of service floor space and consolidate operations, resulting in the
release of 233,000 sq ft of underutilized facilities. These initiatives have
collectively improved our rent-to-sales ratio, reduced overhead costs,
enhanced operational synergies, and strengthened our integrated service
delivery platform, demonstrating disciplined execution of our efficiency
roadmap while maintaining capacity for future growth.

Moreover, the Group has implemented comprehensive cost management
initiatives while maintaining high service standards, including operational
restructuring, optimized doctor fee arrangements, and streamlined
processes. Through strategic measures such as G&A expense
rationalization, back-office centralization, selective outsourcing, and digital
transformation, we have achieved cumulative savings of approximately
HK$286.0 million (excluding certain one-off compensation and costs) since
the FY23 baseline. These structural improvements are expected to deliver
additional recurring benefits in future periods as transitional costs phase out
and efficiency measures reach full implementation.

The Group has strategically optimized its service network by consolidating
footprints and operations, resulting in a net decrease of 18 service points
alongside a 66,000 sq ft reduction in total service floor space (primarily
from medical services) as compared to FY24. As of 31 March 2025, our
streamlined network comprises 164 service points across Hong Kong (152),
Macau (4), and Chinese Mainland (8), occupying an aggregate service floor
space of approximately 591,000 sq ft (FY24: 657,000 sq ft). This balanced
approach of selective expansion and facility consolidation has enhanced
operational efficiency while maintaining comprehensive market coverage,
creating a more sustainable platform for service delivery and future growth.
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BUSINESS SEGMENT REVIEW
Medical service segment

The Group has established a robust healthcare ecosystem comprising
102 strategically positioned service points in Hong Kong, delivering
comprehensive medical services across 38 specialties through our
network of 316 registered practitioners. Our integrated platform provides
end-to-end care including advanced diagnostics, dental services, health
screening & laboratory testing, pain management, and specialized
treatments through a one-stop service model. In FY25, revenue from
medical service declined by 4.7% to HK$2,507.3 million (60.6% of total
revenue) mainly due to (1) softer demand in discretionary B2C segments
— particularly dental care, health screenings, and pain management —
which were impacted by cautious consumer spendings and growing
cross-border healthcare demand in Shenzhen, and (2) targeted portfolio
optimization through the strategic divestment of selected Hong Kong
medical service assets to enhance capital efficiency. Notably, while
elective procedures faced intense competition, demand for core medical
services maintained stable albeit with heightened price sensitivity.

To enhance performance, we have implemented clinic consolidations
and resource reallocation to high-demand locations, coupled with
operational upgrades including patient flow improvements and staff
training programs. Simultaneously, we are pivoting towards institutional
healthcare through insurance-linked preventive care programs,
government service contracts, and community partnerships. Our newly
established flagship facilities — including the diagnostic and day surgery
centre and advanced imaging centre located in Central district — are
achieving scale, diversifying revenue across B2B (corporate) and B2l
(insurer) segments to reduce consumer market dependence. This dual
approach of operational refinement and business model innovation
strengthens our market adaptability and revenue resilience by reducing
reliance on discretionary consumer spendings.

The Group is advancing its technological capabilities through Al
integration in medical imaging, enhancing diagnostic precision and
clinical decision-making across our network. We have successfully
secured key service contracts, including Hospital Authority imaging
referrals and civil servant dental programs, demonstrating our competitive
strengths in institutional healthcare delivery. These strategic initiatives
— coupled with operational improvements, technological advancement,
and partnership expansion — position the Group for sustainable growth
despite challenging market conditions.
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Aesthetic medical, beauty and wellness segment

Our aesthetic medical, beauty and wellness service pillar comprises
aesthetic medical, traditional beauty, haircare, ancillary wellness services
and the sale of skincare, healthcare and beauty products in Hong
Kong, Macau and Chinese Mainland. During the Reporting Period,
the Group has strengthened its beauty and wellness portfolio through
the strategic acquisition of established Hong Kong and Macau-based
chain operating under renowned brands including BMF, MSC, Svenson
and Harvard Addhair. This transaction enhances our market position
by adding 14 premium service locations, expanding our offerings
in aesthetic treatments, slimming solutions, haircare, and wellness
services. The acquisition creates immediate synergies with our existing
medical aesthetics platform while providing opportunities for revenue
diversification, cross-selling, and operational optimization across our
expanded network. By integrating these well-recognised brands into our
ecosystem, we reinforce our competitive edge in the region’s beauty and
wellness sector, aligning with our long-term growth strategy of vertical
integration and market consolidation.

Nevertheless, Hong Kong'’s subdued consumer confidence and weak
retail environment continue to drive spendings towards lower-cost
alternatives in Shenzhen, particularly during weekends and holidays,
creating ongoing pressure on our discretionary service bookings. These
market conditions present a dual challenge: maintaining stable revenue
amid declining average customer spendings while simultaneously
retaining existing clients and attracting new ones despite tightened
budgets. As a result, the revenue contribution by this segment has
decreased by 1.0% YoY to HK$1,296.1 million, accounted for 31.3%
of the total revenue. Revenue from the 42 service points in Hong Kong
declined by 4.8% YoY to HK$1,009.8 million. Revenue from the 8 service
points in Chinese Mainland and the 3 service points in Macau recorded a
YoY decline of 19.0% to HK$100.0 million and a YoY decline of 14.0% to
HK$108.0 million respectively, indicating broader regional consumption
downgrades across the Greater Bay Area.

The Group has proactively addressed the challenging market environment
of Hong Kong. We have implemented a comprehensive competitiveness
enhancement program: upgrading our CRM systems, investing in cutting-
edge beauty equipment, and optimizing marketing budgets to strengthen
our market leadership. Simultaneously, we are improving operational
efficiency through sales network optimization, resource reallocation,
and business process re-engineering. These initiatives are designed
to enhance customer loyalty and service quality while maintaining our
position as the premium service provider in Hong Kong'’s aesthetic and
wellness market.
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For our Chinese Mainland operations, we have executed strategic
consolidations of service outlets and reallocated resources to high-
demand locations. This is complemented by operational upgrades and
stringent quality control measures to ensure service excellence. By
focusing on operational efficiency and premium service delivery, we
aim to navigate the current consumption downturn while positioning for
recovery in this crucial market segment.

Veterinary and other service segment

While weaker sentiment in Hong Kong’s economy has had some
minor impact on the veterinary segment, the overall demand remains
resilient, supported by restrictions on bringing pets across the border
into Shenzhen. This limitation reinforces the need for local pet owners
to rely on Hong Kong’s veterinary services, sustaining steady demand
for high-quality pet healthcare. The Group’s veterinary and multi-
channel networking segment in Hong Kong achieved 24.9% YoY
revenue growth to HK$336.8 million (8.1% of total revenue), driven by
expanded market share in Hong Kong’s veterinary sector. Our veterinary
team has expanded into 71 registered surgeons, while our first organic
flagship Animal Medical Academy Hospital (“AMAH”) in Tsim Sha Tsui
East achieved profitability and earned designation as one of the only
three training clinics approved by the Veterinary Surgeons Board — a
remarkable achievement within two years of operation that validates our
world-class facilities and clinical standards. This accreditation allows
AMAH to train overseas veterinary graduates seeking local registration,
further enhancing our industry standing.

As of 31 March 2025, our 9 veterinary service points form the foundation
for continued growth in this strategic segment, as we focus on
developing our veterinary consolidation platform into a major growth
driver by addressing industry needs, maintaining clinical excellence at
AMAH, and expanding our network to strengthen our market leadership
in Hong Kong’s evolving pet healthcare sector. These efforts reinforce
our commitment to building a premium veterinary brand while capitalizing
on the sector’s strong growth potential — further bolstered by the recent
decision of Hong Kong government to shorten the quarantine period
for pets entering from the Chinese Mainland from 120 days to 30 days
which became effective on 3 June 2025. While this policy eases one-
way cross-border mobility into Hong Kong, it also drives demand for
compliant health checks, vaccinations, and post-arrival care, creating
new opportunities for veterinary service providers. The Group is well-
positioned to capture this demand through accredited facilities such
as AMAH, which offers pre- and post-quarantine supports, ensuring
regulatory compliance and solidifying our role as a trusted partner for
pet owners. This policy shift aligns with our expansion strategy and
underscores the rising importance of professional pet healthcare in Hong
Kong’s dynamic market.
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In FY25, our Group made significant strides in advancing
our sustainability efforts, with a focus on environmental and
social sustainability, as well as governance. We installed
loT devices in our locations to achieve energy efficiency
and reduce our carbon footprint, while also entering into a
lease with Green Pledge to ensure that our operations focus
on energy savings and reducing waste. Besides that, we
introduced and expanded sustainability-linked facilities as
a key part of our financial strategy. This approach not only
integrates ESG considerations into all our operations and
decision-making processes, but also enables us to invest in
long-term projects that promote sustainability while meeting
our financial objectives. Additionally, we hosted various
events to serve underprivileged communities, providing equal
access to healthcare and working with the government and
charitable organizations for community outreach.

EC Healthcare remains unwavering in its commitment to
protecting the health, safety, and privacy of our patients.
To uphold the highest standards of medical governance,

we have established a Medical Advisory
Board composed of distinguished leaders in
healthcare, including Dr. Ko Wing Man (Executive
Council Member and former Secretary for
Food and Health) as Chief Advisor. The board
meets quarterly to provide strategic oversight
on governance, medical risk mitigation, and
the advancement of best practices in quality
assurance, safety, and regulatory compliance.
The Group also obtained ISO 9001:2015 Quality
Management System certification and adhered to
the 1ISO 31000:2018 Risk Management standard,
demonstrating our commitment to strengthening
corporate governance and providing high-quality
services to our customers while managing risks in
a structured and systematic way.

RZZZRMF  AKEEABEZEFTEINSG
BEER BREIRRIUEEAUFEEAR
NEIEA - BPES E 2R AR - #
VAR = RE TR U NOR DB R B - (R BRF B4R (28
(Green Pledge)# ] HHE W= - MRAMNEESR
JERETEEREE o LA - BPIINS| A RIER B A
BEREEANSE  UWHH AV BERENES
B o ZETERIERE e REAZEMA
BMEHEERRRRIE - MERMBAIRER
REMFERRORMEE - ARBEHRELMNY
HEIR - dboh - BRMIMRMSIETS) - RISHE
MR RETENBERERS - WEBUTRE
SREAIEETIERINEED -

ESEBERRBEETEHRESENREE T2
MR - BEESESMEREAEE  BPIKZ

BERERGLEMENNBEERZES &
FREERERSKXEE(ITHEEKE IR
NRFERBR) - ZESEFFRAA—KgE
ER - BERARERURRERE  T2RER
ARFTEANREERMERERKEE - A&H
TMESISO 9001 : 2015 E BIE RATRE » Wil
SFISO 31000 : 2018 B ERIZAE - ZE R
NRMBEEER  WEUNEBLERESRENA
AEBRBNERE - ARFPREMEMEREHR
Iy o

FEHRE 2024/25



Management Discussion and Analysis
ERE RN

OUTLOOK
Cautiously optimistic outlook amid market challenges

The global economic environment continues to face uncertainty, marked
by persistent geopolitical tensions and trade policy disruptions that
are creating sustained headwinds. These challenges are particularly
acute in Hong Kong, where weak capital and property markets have
significantly eroded consumer confidence and discretionary spending
power. Compounding these pressures, the growing trend of Hong Kong
residents traveling to mainland cities — especially Shenzhen — for more
affordable leisure and shopping options has intensified competition
across local retail and service sectors. Given the structural market shifts
in Hong Kong, the Group expects the current subdued conditions to
persist in the near term.

Despite the challenging local and global economic landscape, we
maintain a cautiously optimistic outlook. We are confident that our
strategic focus on: (1) business development, (2) operational excellence,
and (3) digital transformation will enable us to navigate these challenges
effectively. This confidence is based on our status as a market leader
in the industry and the strongly positive reputation that the Group
has established over many years as an innovative, reliable and highly
professional one-stop platform service provider in Hong Kong. Our
diversified healthcare revenue streams and strategic initiatives position us
to maintain stability and capitalize on recovery trends as they emerge.

Business development

In terms of business development, the Group will utilize its platform
approach, supported by IT capabilities, to create relevant product
offerings aimed at maximizing our share of customer spending. This
strategy includes targeting more scalable customer segments such
as the B2B corporate medical market, the B2l insurance sector, and
government initiatives through various Public-Private Partnerships (PPP).
Capturing these growth segments will drive sustainable and profitable
expansion with a compressed payback period, facilitating effective
market consolidation. Additionally, we will implement careful revenue
management across different customer segments to safeguard our
margins.
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Our Hong Kong network has grown significantly through strategic
partnerships and new service points, enhancing accessibility for patients,
corporates, and insurers. We are building up a dedicated medical
business development team in driving innovative initiatives, supported
by digital solutions that streamline claims processing and improve
operational efficiency. These advancements enable us to deliver tailored
healthcare plans that balance cost-effectiveness with comprehensive
coverage, strengthening our partnerships with insurers and corporate
clients.

The HKSAR government’s focus on primary healthcare development —
including the District Health Centre (DHC) Scheme and expanded public-
private partnerships (PPP) opportunities — aligns with our expertise
in accessible and quality care. Our selection as a civil servant dental
program provider demonstrates this alignment. Moving forward, we
remain committed to supporting public healthcare objectives through our
extensive network and operational capabilities, delivering coordinated,
patient-centered services to promote community health and wellness.

Operational excellence

In an era of evolving patient expectations and intensifying market
competition, the Group distinguishes itself through an uncompromising
commitment to operational excellence that creates tangible value for
our stakeholders. While competitors struggle with fragmented systems
and reactive management, the Group is driving operational excellence
through focused initiatives to enhance workforce productivity, optimize
asset utilization, improve process efficiency, and maintain rigorous cost
control.

The Group will continue to strengthen integration and consolidate
across our centers of excellence and business units, we are creating
synergistic value that elevates customer experience while improving
operational effectiveness. Our approach combines talent development
programs, data-driven asset management, lean process improvements,
and disciplined financial oversight to establish a culture of continuous
optimization across all service lines, ensuring we deliver both operational
efficiency and superior healthcare services. As market dynamics shift
toward value-based care, our continuous improvement culture and
technology-driven operations position us to set — rather than follow —
industry standards.
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Digital transformation

The Group is accelerating its digital transformation to enhance service
scalability, optimize costs, and elevate customer experiences. We are
implementing secure data management systems to automate operations
and streamline procurement and inventory management, while expanding
customer access through 24/7 online booking platforms. Through
strategic collaboration with our “TTIPP” ecosystem partners (Technology,
Telecommunications, Insurance, Real Estate, and Pharmaceuticals),
we are co-developing innovative healthcare solutions supported by
standardized operational governance.

On 16 May 2025, the Group established the “RIMAG-EC Health Tech
Alliance” through a joint venture with Jiangxi RIMAG Group (HKEX: 2522),
combining their medical imaging expertise and supply chain capabilities
with our established healthcare platform across Hong Kong, Macau and
international markets. This strategic collaboration enables centralized
procurement of premium imaging equipment and consumables,
optimizing costs while enhancing service agility, and positions us
to deliver cutting-edge diagnostic technologies to patients through
integrated operational synergies. The alliance strengthens Hong Kong’s
medical sector by connecting global resources with local healthcare
needs, reinforcing our commitment to technology-driven, high-quality
service delivery.

The Group is also currently evaluating the integration of Al technologies
across our advanced imaging centers to enhance diagnostic capabilities
and operational efficiency. We are carefully assessing various Al solutions
that could potentially improve radiologists’ diagnostic accuracy and
workflow productivity while enabling faster, more detailed reporting for
patients. This exploration focuses on identifying optimal applications
for different imaging modalities, developing implementation frameworks
that complement clinical workflows, and ensuring seamless integration
with existing systems. As we methodically test and validate these
technologies, we aim to establish scalable Al solutions that maintain
our high standards of care, with plans to gradually expand successful
applications to other service lines. This initiative underscores our
commitment to adopting innovative, evidence-based technologies that
deliver measurable value to both healthcare providers and patients.
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Disciplined capital recycling with enhanced TTIPP
partnerships

During the reporting period, the Group successfully completed the
strategic disposal of its entire equity interests in New Medical Centre
Holding Limited (NMC) and Hong Kong Medical Advanced Imaging (TST)
Limited to AIA Group Limited. This transaction represents a deliberate
portfolio optimization action, realizing value from mature assets while
reinforcing our partnership with a leading insurance provider. This
disposal also demonstrates our disciplined approach to capital allocation
and ability to create value through active asset management.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to cultivate strategic partnerships
with key players in the TTIPP sector to reinforce our leadership in
establishing an integrated one-stop healthcare service provider in
Hong Kong. As part of our TTIPP strategy, we will fully leverage EC
Healthcare’s one-stop healthcare service platform to unlock the value
of our mature assets in collaboration with our strategic partners. While
some assets are not yet fully integrated, we will ensure that their potential
value is maximized. Additionally, we will optimize our asset portfolio by
divesting non-core and underperforming assets and reallocating capital
to new investments with stronger growth prospects. This approach will
lay a solid foundation for profitable growth in the medium term, ensuring
the long-term development and sustainable growth of the Group while
maximizing returns for shareholders.

Prudent capital management and M&A strategy
driving external growth

Amid persistent structural challenges in Hong Kong’s healthcare market,
this environment may lead to industry consolidation as some market
participants exit, presenting strategic opportunities for the Group to
strengthen its market leadership position through selective acquisitions
and partnerships. Our strong balance sheet and operational resilience
position us well to capitalize on these consolidation prospects while
continuing to deliver value to customers and shareholders amid
challenging conditions.
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The Group is pursuing disciplined external growth through selective M&A
opportunities that enhance our healthcare ecosystem’s vertical integration
while maintaining financial prudence amid elevated interest rates,
focusing on value-accretive acquisitions with straightforward integration
paths and strong EBITDA margin potential. We are prioritizing upstream
and midstream investments that offer synergistic alignment with our
existing operations and drive overall profitability. This balanced approach
ensures we consolidate fragmented markets and professionalize acquired
assets while maintaining sustainable growth and long-term shareholder
value creation.

Strategic positioning in Hong Kong’s four key prime
districts

The Group remains committed to delivering accessible, preventive, and
precision medicine through our one-stop service model, supported
by our TTIPP (Technology, Telecommunications, Insurance, Property,
Pharmaceuticals) strategy. This vision is taking physical form through our
strategic property investments, beginning with the rebranding of Fung
House to EC Healthcare Tower (Central) on 1 June 2024 — establishing
our flagship presence in Hong Kong'’s prime Central district.

Further expanding our footprint, the EC Healthcare Tower (Tsim Sha
Tsui) at Cameron Road is set for completion in FY26, with phased
operations commencing thereafter. This new medical hub, comprising
of approximately 100,300 sq ft in 20 floors is a unique human-centric
medical facility overlooking Victoria Harbour. Within walking distance
from 2 major MTR stations and 2 arteries in Kowloon, Nathan Road
and Chatham Road, the building boasts exceptional connectivity and
accessibility and is set to attract an influx of affluent consumers, creating
significant opportunities for the Tower’s diverse medical businesses.
More importantly, this tower will centralize our premium medical services,
enhancing corporate branding, patient convenience, and operational
efficiency. By consolidating services under one roof, we will unlock
synergies across our organic and acquired medical assets, driving asset
value appreciation and delivering stronger returns for shareholders.

Together, these developments reinforce our leadership as Hong Kong’s
most comprehensive healthcare provider, blending strategic location
advantage, operational excellence, and patient-centered innovation to
shape the future of integrated medical services.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has drawn down HK$542.1 million of
bank borrowings and undrawn bank facilities available was HK$600.0
million. Together with cash and deposits of HK$1,054.9 million, the
Group has sufficient liquid assets to satisfy its working capital and
operating requirements.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

No material subsequent events occurred between the end of the
Reporting Period and the date of this report.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND COMMITMENTS
Capital Expenditure

Capital expenditure was mainly spent on purchases of operation
equipment and expenditure in leasehold improvements. The capital
expenditure was financed by cash flows generated from operating
activities.

Capital Commitment

As at 31 March 2025, there was no capital commitment to acquire
certain property, plant and equipment for the abovementioned new
service points.

In addition, the Group has committed on 31 March 2025 to enter into
certain new leases that have not yet commenced, the aggregate lease
payments, without taking into account the extension options, amounted
to approximately HK$380 million.
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INDEBTEDNESS i
Debt Maturity Profile EREHIR

Debt Maturity Profile &5 8 [R

As at 31 March 2025 A—ZE-—HF=H=+—H

507

in HK$ million
BEBTT

FY26 Fy27
—EREMF —EAMF
. Bank Borrowings (unsecured) . Convertible Bond
RITIER(RER) AR &S
Note: Figures may not sum due to rounding MisE: ANERRE ST T REE
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Interest-bearing Liabilities

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had outstanding interest-bearing
unsecured bank borrowings in the amount of HK$542.1 million and
convertible bonds of HK$254.3 million.

Contingent Liabilities and Guarantees

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities
and guarantees.

CHARGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, there was no charge over investment properties,
ownership interests in land and building held for own use.

GEARING RATIO

Gearing ratio equals total debt (total debt refers to the aggregate sum of
bank borrowings and convertible bonds excluding lease liabilities relating
to properties leased for own use) divided by total equity. As at 31 March
2025, the Group had interest-bearing liabilities, except for the properties
leased for own use, of HK$796.5 million and the gearing ratio is 36.1%.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group carries out certain operating transactions in foreign currencies,
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk, mainly pertaining to
the risk of fluctuations in the Hong Kong dollar and U.S. dollar against
Renminbi.

The Group has not used any derivative contracts to hedge against its
exposure to currency risk. The management manages the currency risk
by closely monitoring the fluctuation of the foreign currency rates and
will consider hedging measures against significant foreign exchange
exposure should such need arise.

INTEREST RATE RISK

As at 31 March 2025, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease
of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables remaining
constant, would have decreased/increased the Group’s profit after
taxation and retained profits by approximately HK$5.5 million.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

During the Reporting Period, the Group has entered into the following
significant investments and acquisitions.

Notifiable Transactions

(1

Very substantial disposal and connected transaction
disposal of 51% of issued share capital in New Medical
Centre Holding Limited

On 6 November 2024, the Company, Jade Master International
Limited (“First Seller”), Dr. Ma Chi Min Effinie (“Second Seller”),
Wu Yun Chai (“Third Seller”) and AIA Hong Kong Medical Services
Limited (“AlA”) entered into the share purchase agreement (“Share
Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which AIA has conditionally
agreed to purchase, and each of the First Seller, the Second
Seller and the Third Seller has conditionally agreed to sell 51%,
48% and 1% of the issued share capital in New Medical Centre
Holding Limited (“NMC”) at a consideration of HK$437,580,000,
HK$411,840,000 and HK$8,580,000 respectively (‘Disposal”).

NMC is principally engaged in investment holding. Its subsidiaries,
The New Medical Centre Limited and New Medical Centre Imaging
Limited are principally engaged in the provision of medical services
and medical diagnostic services, respectively. Hong Kong Medical
Advanced Imaging (TST) Limited ("HKMAI TST”) is principally
engaged in the provision of medical advanced imaging services.
Hong Kong Medical Advanced Imaging Limited (“HKMAI”) is
principally engaged in the provision of medical imaging services,
including MRI, CT scan, PET scan, EOS imaging, 3D mammogram,
ultrasound scan, transient elastography, X-ray examination, and
bone densitometry, and is operating one imaging centre in Mong
Kok, Hong Kong.
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The Company will procure Union Advanced Imaging Holding
Limited (“UAIHL”) and the other two shareholders of HKMAI TST
(namely, Dr. Hui and Dr. Shum) to transfer an aggregate of 49%
issued shares of HKMAI TST to NMC (“HKMAI TST Transfer”).
The consideration payable by NMC to each of UAIHL, Dr. Hui and
Dr. Shum for the HKMAI TST Transfer shall be HK$3,814,000,
HK$8,471,000 and HK$8,471,000, respectively; and the First
Seller, the Second Seller and the Third Seller collectively shall
procure NMC to transfer 5.1% and 4.9% issued shares of HKMAI
to UAIHL and the Second Seller, respectively (“‘HKMAI Transfer”).
The consideration payable to NMC by each of UAIHL and the
Second Seller for the HKMAI Transfer shall be nil as it only
constitutes an internal reorganisation within the Company.

Upon completion of the Disposal, NMC included 100% of the issued
shares in HKMAI TST and excluded any interests in HKMAI, and
ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company and their financial results
will no longer be consolidated into the financial statements of the
Company.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio (as defined in Rule 14.07
of the Listing Rules) in respect of the Disposal exceeds 75%, the
Disposal constituted a very substantial disposal of the Company
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and was therefore subject
to notification, announcement and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

As the Second Seller holds 48% equity interest in NMC, and the
Third Seller is a director of the Target Company, both Second
Seller and Third Seller are considered as connected persons of
the Company at subsidiary level. Pursuant to Rule 14A.101 of the
Listing Rules, since (i) each of the Second Seller and the Third Seller
is a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level; (ii)
the transactions contemplated under the Disposal were entered
into on normal commercial terms; and (jii) the Board (including the
independent non-executive Directors) has approved the Disposal
and the transactions contemplated thereunder, and confirmed that
such transactions were entered into on normal commercial terms,
are fair and reasonable and were in the interest of the Company
and Shareholders as a whole, the transactions contemplated under
the Disposal were subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but are exempt from the circular, independent
financial advice and Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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On 6 November 2024, the Company has also entered into a
services agreement with NMC, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to provide certain operational management services to
HKMAI TST for a period of three years after the completion in
accordance with the terms and conditions thereto. It is expected
that the Company will provide the services with regard to six core
functional areas of HKMAI TST, including (a) radiologist services,
(b) customer services, (c) human resources services, (d) marketing
and referral services, (e) IT and imaging equipment and (f) finance,
operational and procurement services during the Service Period,
subject to the termination provisions under the Services Agreement.

Discloseable and connected transaction acquisition of
40% of issued share capital in HKMAI TST

On 6 November 2024, Dr. Hui, Dr. Shum and NMC entered into the
acquisition agreement, pursuant to which NMC has conditionally
agreed to purchase, and each of Dr. Hui and Dr. Shum has
conditionally agreed to sell 20% and 20% of the issued share
capital in HKMAI TST, respectively (“Acquisition”). The consideration
payable by NMC to Dr. Hui and Dr. Shum is HK$16,942,000 in
aggregate. Upon the completion of the Acquisition and the HKMAI
TST Transfer, HKMAI TST will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of
NMC.

Upon the completion of the Acquisition and HKMAI TST Transfer,
HKMAI TST will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of NMC.

While the highest applicable percentage ratio pursuant to
Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules in respect of the Acquisition
exceeds 5% but is less than 25%, the Acquisition is part and parcel
of the Disposal, the highest applicable percentage ratio of which
(as defined in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) exceeds 75%. As
such, pursuant to Rule 14.24 of the Listing Rules, the Acquisition
will be classified by reference to the larger of the two elements,
i.e. the Disposal, which constituted a very substantial disposal
of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. The
Acquisition was therefore subject to notification, announcement
and shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules.
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As each of Dr. Hui and Dr. Shum holds 20% equity interest in
HKMAI TST, being an indirect subsidiary of the Company, each
of Dr. Hui and Dr. Shum is considered a connected person of the
Company at the subsidiary level by virtue of being a substantial
shareholder of HKMAI TST. Therefore, the Acquisition constitutes
a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule 14A.101 of the Listing
Rules, since (i) each of the Dr. Hui and Dr. Shum is a connected
person of the Company at the subsidiary level; (i) the transactions
contemplated under the Acquisition were entered into on normal
commercial terms; and (i) the Board (including the independent
non-executive Directors) has approved the Acquisition and the
transactions contemplated thereunder, and confirmed that such
transactions were entered into on normal commercial terms, are
fair and reasonable and are in the interests of the Company and
Shareholders as a whole, the transactions contemplated under
the Acquisition were subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but were exempt from the circular, independent
financial advice and independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Reasons for and benefits of the Disposal and the Acquisition

The Disposal and the Acquisition are in line with the Company’s
strategy to make good use of and manage its resources to better
develop its assets portfolio. The Disposal and the Acquisition allow
the Company to re-allocate the proceeds for other investment
opportunities when they arise and adjust, if needed, the overall
strategy on its investment portfolio when the market conditions
warrant.

The Company recorded an expense of approximately HK$1.5
million from the Disposal in total comprehensive income,
representing a net gain of approximately HK$272 million recognised
in profit or loss. The Company intends to apply the entire net
proceeds of the Disposal of approximately HK$436 million towards
the general working capital requirements of the Company.

The Completion of the Disposal and the Acquisition took place on

28 February 2025 and 5 February 2025.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 6 November 2024.
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Acquisition of 90% Interest in Rising Gold Phoenix
Limited

On 10 December 2024, BMF Worldwide Limited (the “Purchaser”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into an agreement to acquire a 90% equity interest in Rising Gold
Phoenix Limited (the “Target Company”) from The Cosmetic Care
Group Limited (the “Seller”). The consideration for the acquisition
is HK$52,500,000, subject to adjustments. The acquisition
constituted a discloseable transaction under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules, as one or more of the applicable percentage ratios
exceeded 5% but all were less than 25%.

The Target Company, through its subsidiaries, provides tailored
skincare solutions, expert hair care solutions, and comprehensive
cosmetic care solutions in Hong Kong and Macau under various
brand names, including BMF, Marie France, Svenson, and Harvard
Addhair Technologies. The acquisition is strategically aligned with
the Company’s objective to enhance its market share, broaden
its customer network, and improve operational efficiencies by
leveraging the Target Group’s expertise and established network.
Additionally, the acquisition includes intellectual property rights
for brand names in key markets such as China, Japan, Korea,
the United Arab Emirates, the United Kingdom, and Switzerland,
positioning the Company for global expansion.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 10 December 2024.
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Save as disclosed in this report, there were no significant investments
held by the Company during the Reporting Period, nor were there any
material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures during the Reporting Period and there is no plan authorised by
the Board for other material investments or additions of capital assets as
at the date of this report.

References are made to (i) the announcement of the Company dated 7
February 2023 regarding the acquisition of shares in Excellent Connect
Limited; (ii) the announcement of the Company dated 30 September
2022 regarding the acquisition of shares in Pioneer Evolution Limited;
(iii) the announcement of the Company dated 29 November 2021
regarding the acquisition of shares in Bayley & Jackson Dental Surgeons
Limited; (iv) the announcement of the Company dated 8 November
2021 regarding the acquisition of shares in Premier Medical Group (BVI)
Limited; (v) the announcement of the Company dated 15 June 2021
regarding the acquisition of veterinary business (including the target
companies (the “Target Companies (Veterinary Business)”) named King
Equity Investments Limited (“King Equity”), Eternal Harvest International
Limited (“Eternal Harvest”), Hong Kong Veterinary Imaging Centre Limited
(“HKVIC”) and Crown Leader Limited (“Crown Leader”)) (the “Acquisition
of Veterinary Business”); (vi) the announcement of the Company dated
8 March 2021 regarding the acquisition of shares in Young Aesthetics
Medical Limited; (vii) the announcement of the Company dated 20
July 2020 regarding the acquisition of shares in Hong Kong Pain and
Wellness Solutions Limited; (viii) the announcement of the Company
dated 2 November 2016 regarding the acquisition of shares in Good
Union Corporation Limited and Good Union Medical Limited; and (ix) the
announcement of the Company dated 30 November 2023.

Save and except the Target Companies (Veterinary Business), all relevant
profit guarantees/revenue guarantees (as the case may be) given by
the relevant parties up to the year ended 31 March 2025, which were
calculated based on the agreed formula, have been met provided that
the profit guarantee regarding Young Aesthetics Medical Limited and
Hong Kong Pain and Wellness Solutions Limited were not yet due for
determination as at the date of this annual report. There have been no
change in the terms of the profit guarantees or revenue guarantees since
the respective dates of the agreements.
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For the Acquisitions of Veterinary Business, (i) each of Dr. Tiong Hai Hean
and Dr. Tan Shyue Wei (together the “Veterinary Sellers”) guarantees
that the aggregate audited net profit of King Equity for the year ended 31
March 2022, 2023 and 2024 shall be no less than HK$47.0 million and (i)
Dr. Tiong (“Dr. Tiong”) guarantees that the aggregate audited net profit of
Eternal Harvest, HKVIC and Crown Leader for the year ended 31 March
2022, 2023 and 2024 shall be no less than HK$26.9 million. According
to the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022,
2023 and 2024, the aggregate net profit of King Equity was HK$32.5
million and the aggregate net profit of Eternal Harvest, HKVIC and Crown
Leader was HK$15.6 million respectively. According to the sales and
purchase agreements, there was shortfall of approximately HK$14.5
million (for King Equity) and approximately HK$11.4 million (for Eternal
Harvest, HKVIC and Crown Leader) for satisfying the profit guarantees. As
the Target Companies (Veterinary Business) failed to meet the guaranteed
profit, the Veterinary Sellers should compensate the Group the amount
of approximately HK$5.9 million and Dr. Tiong should compensate
approximately HK$5.8 million according to the shortfall formula. As
at 31 March 2025, the Veterinary Sellers have not yet fulfilled their
compensation obligation. The Group has been demanding the Veterinary
Sellers for the fulfilment of their obligation to settle the compensation. The
Group will consider to take necessary and appropriate actions for the
profit guarantee shortfall if the Veterinary Sellers continue to fail to meet
their obligations. In the meantime, the Company are also reviewing the
veterinary business and operation plans together with the improvement
measures taken by the management of the Veterinary business.

Considering the Veterinary Sellers are managing the business and the
business is profitable; and the Group is reviewing the business and
operation plans with the Veterinary Sellers, the Directors consider that
it is fair and reasonable and are in the interests of the Company and its
Shareholders as a whole to continue to operate the veterinary business.
The Group will constantly review the operations of the Veterinary
Business and take appropriate actions accordingly.
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Sustainability Approach
AR ER &

OVERVIEW OF OUR SUSTAINABILITY GOALS

The Group endeavours to incorporate sustainability as a key element of
its future growth strategy. In 2022, the Group signed its inaugural dual-
tranche sustainability-linked facility, the first-of-its-kind for a healthcare
services provider in Hong Kong. This transaction reinforces our status
as a leading industry pioneer and our commitment to sustainability in the
long-term.

As a next step, we have identified 11 focus areas that will form the pillars
of our ESG strategy and outline our approach to promote a culture of
sustainability across the Group. These priorities have been mapped
against eight of the United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals
(SDGs) that we believe are most relevant to our business:

IHERREGHE

AR B I 45 E % RAE R B HOR K RBURS
Eﬁ%ﬁz.%@Z"°1ﬁE.BA_§§:::ﬂ3ﬁ¢%§

BEEFERFRHEBTEETLAIFERR
%ﬁmﬁﬁéﬁ A RE - RRRHERE TR
FIRITEABNREMAIT RN T RPN R
AR R A AEGE

Hig » #fIme T EZREE - ZFRIEH
BAAKERE - e REABIRASIE - Wil
A A B T T AR RS VT8 © S
BARFRCEBSFEAFEERBBEPHRMABR
B IR SRR &S VS EEETRRST -

Res ective SDGs Focus Area 2030 Target

EEES EEER BREH “E-2EAR
Environment Energy Formalize the adoption of energy-efficient .
5 E lighting and IoT to optimize energy consumption

INDUSTRY, INNOVATION B B across our service network

AND INFRASTRUCTURE

RBRAELRALNHE - NBCRERE

2025 Ugdate
“ECHEEH

Phasing roll-out of energy-efficient lighting
and loT devices, including new service
points, and 75% of our faciltties has
completed the installation of LED lights

12 RESPONSIBLE BEERE
CONSUMPTION HEE
AND PRODUCTION

RARREOKRE - WO RANTE

BRMALRAR DB AR R B G - 0
MRTEE - P RM75% MRHEE T
RELEDE
Water Standardize the installation of equipment with o Implementing a water-efficient design for
K water-efficient features to reduce the impact of our upcoming medical building, leveraging
water consumphon advanced loT systems for real-time

leakage detection and smart devices to
optimize water consumption.
REFARERNERARE IR
it FIREENREZGETERLR

1

A YMRESRERLAKE -

Waste
BEW

CLIMATE
ACTION

PARTNERSHIPS 1 (& BRI
FOR THE GOALS IRpERAGR

Compared to base year 2022
NZZEZZFREELR

Implement the best practices of waste
management procedures across business units
to monitor and minimize waste generation
EREBENERERNEREFNRER
8 DERRRSHIEEEEY

41

Implementation of onling platform
for expense reimbursement to all
departments

RAANFEES LRET S

Partnership with Kerry Logistics on phase
2 of centralised warehouse, inventory and
logistics management

HEBIRARE  #IEPEE  ERR
ﬂf%/llb B g%—ﬁk&
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Respective SDGs
RS ERREE

Social Training and
e development
SRR

Focus Area
EXaN

GOOD HEALTH

AND WELL-BEING

GENDER
EQUALITY

2030 Target

2025 Update
FEH

—E-TERE ol

—<==

Annual increase in the average training hours of e
employees

aI?ﬁiNﬁﬁﬁiﬁm

Create a tailored training and development plan
for the main business units o

QE%%%%&MEE%H%W%W&%E%

Average Employee training hours
increased by 23% compared to FY23
BT =HEAN - BT TIIREE

IN—R——

E1123%

Incorporated occupational health
and safety training into the employee
onboardmg program

FEFREAZ 2EIRAR T ABEE

We have engaged an external consultant
to provide training on operation and risk
management; the consultant has also
reviewed our current practice and policy
AMEER M PERRE S ERERER
il BRRE R AR TR R

'I 7 PARTNERSHIPS

2N
17 ﬁgaﬁﬁﬁm ZE
FOR THE GOALS

&

&

Maintain workplace safety performance .

BRTIFSMOREEN

Obtained IS0 9001:2015 to implement
quality management system that covers
all aspect for our operations

JB(31S0 9001:2015 * EHERMEH 1E
EERERENESEREZ

The Medical Advisory Board was
established to ensure compliance,
proactively assess and manage risks,
and drive continuous improvement in
medical quality assurance. Its purpose
is to strengthen corporate governance,
enhance medical service standards, and
uphold patient safety through expert
quidance
RUBREHZEE EEERAM
i THFELERER - WEHBRER
BREMBENE - BNRIALE
B RABRRHRE  WARERES

ESELS

Stakeholder
en?a ement

s

Continuous involvement of our stakeholders to .

steer our ESG strategy

H ERE2E BRMNERE  HERER
RIS

Incorporated the insights from stakeholder
engagement exercise into the ESG
targets of the sustainability-linked loans
R E2EEHN A ERATHERR
HAERORE  HERERER

Community
investment

HERE

Increase total volunteer service hours and .
provide healthcare services the underprivileged
through community outreach program
ELRBERILNRBRLRINE SRS
PRRREERRS

Organized over 100 community outreach
sessions, providing care and education to
more than 3,300 individuals
BiHE10055 1 RINEES) - £3,300%
BALIRERERHE

QOutreach program coverage to 45 nursing

homes
SR EIRZ45ETER

Diversity and
inclusion
St eAt

EC Healthcare

Promote gender equality via education and .
sharing

%ﬂﬁﬁ&“°ﬁﬁﬁﬂ¥ﬁ

42

Females currently hold 56% of senior
management and department head roles
ﬁ&ﬁm?ﬁ%%mn@aﬁﬁu&iﬁ
IE
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Respective SDGs Focus Area 2030 Target 2025 Update
HETSARRAE BREH “B=BERE “BCNEFH
Govermance Board Increase the Board'’s participation in o Quarterly meeting held by the
=) Exe sustainabilty issues Sustainabiity Working Group, reported
16 oo ENEZeHTFERRSENZE ESG progress to the Board at each
regular board megting

INSTITUTIONS
W

TRERRTIEVASSERNEE &
BREZEflg LRESERERE ¢
eRERERRERANBHER

‘I PARTNERSHIPS
FOR THE GOALS

‘I {RiE BRER
IRpERAR

Anti-corruption Implement anti-corruption policy to strengthen o Amanged seminars by ICAC to enhance
@ @ RE3 internal control the knowledge of our employees
Bt REABRAMB RSB CHREAERENERE TS

o Reviewed AML policy in accordance
with our strategies and development on
governance issues

BEAMAEASENER RERRIR

RRERR
Risk management ~ Develop risk management policy to ensure o Adhered to the ISO 31000:2018 Risk
RRER consistent delivery of services across our Management standards
brands HB57/S0 31000:2018 BB ERITE
HERREERFARRE mige) RSB/ —
H o Regular dialogue with Chief Advisor (Data
Privacy)

THRBRER (BELR) 4

o Quarterly meeting by the medical advisory
board, structured around 9 pillars with
144 protocols to ensure clinical safety,
environmental sustainability and regulatory
compliance
EREMZEEEZRT-REE
BARTIEHIE 1448872 - BRERT
2 REURERERARNL
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CO-OWNERSHIP PLAN 2

The Company adopted the Co-Ownership Plan 1 on 16 April 2020 to
incentivise skilled and experienced eligible participants to remain with
the Group and to motivate them to strive for the future development and
expansion of the Group in order to create value for the Shareholders, by
providing eligible participants with a co-investment opportunity to acquire
equity interests in the Company. It was expected that the grant conditions
of the Co-Ownership Plan 1 would not be met under the foreseeable
circumstances. As such, the Co-ownership Plan 1 was terminated on
29 May 2023, and all awards have lapsed. The Board has adopted the
Co-Ownership Plan 2 in May 2023, continuing to incentivize our skilled
and experienced Eligible Participants (as defined below) to strive for
nothing short of excellence in driving the Group’s performance to new
heights. By aligning efforts and goals, we aim to conquer the challenges
ahead and achieve a rewarding revenue target for the Group over the
next three years, concluding in the financial year ending 31 March 2026.
On 29 May 2023, the ordinary resolutions approving the adoption of
Co-Ownership Plan 2 were duly passed by the Shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 29 May 2023.
For details of the Co-Ownership Plan 2, please refer to the Company’s
circular dated 12 May 2023.

Purpose of Co-Ownership Plan 2

The reasons, purposes and objectives of the Co-Ownership Plan 2 are
to incentivise skilled and experienced Eligible Participants to remain with
the Group and to motivate them to strive for the future development and
expansion of the Group in order to create value for the Shareholders,
by providing Eligible Participants with a co-investment opportunity to
acquire equity interests in the Company according to the Co-Ownership
Plan 2, and further aligning their interests with those of the long-term
Shareholders.

With the unprecedented triumph of the Co-Ownership Plan 2 since its
adoption on 29 May 2023, the highly motivated Eligible Participants have
played an instrumental role in propelling the Group’s remarkable growth
and expansion.
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Co-Owners
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Life of Co-Ownership Plan 2

The Co-Ownership Plan 2 shall be valid and effective for the period
commencing from 9 June 2023, and shall expire on the earliest of (i)
the date on which all award shares have been settled; (i) 31 December
2029; and (jii) the date on which the Co-Ownership Plan 2 is terminated
in accordance with the terms of Co-Ownership Plan 2.

Eligible Participants of the Co-Ownership Plan 2

The eligible participants of the Co-Ownership Plan 2 comprise a director,
employee or service provider of any group company of the Group as at or
after the adoption of the Co-Ownership Plan 2 (the “Eligible Participants”),
provided that neither Mr. Tang Chi Fai Eddy (the Chairman of the Board
and an executive Director) nor any non-executive Director shall be eligible
participants.

Total Number Available for Issue under the
Co-Ownership Plan 2

The maximum number of award shares that may be granted to all
participants shall be 29,630,281 Shares. If the number of award shares
to be granted to all participants is greater than the said limit, then the
award shares shall be allocated among the participants on a pro rata
basis.

The maximum number of new shares that may be allotted and issued
by the Company under the Co-Ownership Plan 2 and other share
schemes of the Company shall be 10% of the issued shares on the date
of approval of the Co-Ownership Plan 2, i.e. 118,521,126 Shares, unless
otherwise approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting.

The maximum number of new Shares that may be granted to all service
providers under the Co-Ownership Plan 2 and other share schemes
of the Company shall be 4% of the Shares in issue as at the date of
approval of the Co-Ownership Plan 2, i.e. 47,408,450 Shares.
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Maximum Number of Each Participant

The maximum number of new Shares that may be allotted and issued
by the Company pursuant to the Co-Ownership Plan 2 to a participant
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of relevant invitation
shall be 1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of the relevant invitation
or grant, except for a participant that is a Director, a chief executive of
the Company or an associate of the aforesaid, who shall be subject to
the limit of 0.1% of the Shares in issue, unless otherwise approved by the
Shareholders in a general meeting.

Arrangement under the Co-Ownership Plan 2

In accepting the invitation to participate in the Co-Ownership Plan 2, the
Eligible Participant shall contribute an investment amount (in cash and/or
contribution shares) for the investment shares.

Award shares will only be granted to Eligible Participants who have
contributed investment amounts (in cash and/or contribution shares) for
the investment shares in accordance with the Co-Ownership Plan 2.

The total investment amount to be contributed by a participant (in cash
and/or contribution shares) must be within the following range: an
amount () equal to or greater than 16.67% of his annual remuneration
package and (i) less than or equal to 100% of his annual remuneration
package.

The remuneration committee will utilize the cash investment amounts
contributed by the participants to (through the plan trustee) endeavour to
purchase existing Shares on-market over a reasonable period of time as
is feasible to purchase the requisite number of Shares at the prevailing
market prices of the Shares, provided that such prices must be less than
or equal to the higher of (i) the five-trading-day volume-weighted average
closing price of a Share on the Stock Exchange where such five trading-
day period is ended on the business day immediately prior to the date
of issuance of the invitation letter to the participant; and (i) the closing
price of a Share on the Stock Exchange on the business day immediately
prior to the date of issuance of the invitation letter (the “Investment Share
VWAP”). The Company may direct the trustee to allot and issue new
Shares at a price per Share equal to the Investment Share VWAP if there
remains any unutilized investment amount.
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Other than the investment amount and/or the contribution shares, no
separate amount shall be payable on acceptance of the awards by the
participants. The number of awards available for grant under the Co-
Ownership Plan 2 as at 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 was 29,630,281
and 29,630,281 respectively.

The aggregate number of new awards/options available for grant under
the Co-ownership Plan 2, the New Share Option Scheme and other
share schemes of the Company under (i) the existing scheme mandate as
at 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 was 118,521,126 and 118,521,126
respectively, representing 10% and 10% of the entire issued share
capital of the Company; and (ii) the service provider sublimit granted as
at 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 was 47,408,450 and 47,408,450
respectively, representing 4% and 4% of the entire issued share capital of
the Company.
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The grant of award shares to Eligible Participants is conditional upon
satisfaction of the grant conditions, including (i) the total aggregate
EBITDA margin of the Group for the financial years ended 31 March
2024, 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2026 (being the EBITDA of the
Group for the said 3 financial years divided by the revenue of the Group
for the said 3 financial years multiplied by 100) being greater than or
equal to 18%, (i) the revenue of the Group for the financial year ending
31 March 2026 being greater than or equal to HK$7,713 million, and (iii)
the closing price of the Share on the Stock Exchange on the business
day immediately prior to the proposed grant date being greater than or
equal to HK$3.961. If all the grant conditions are satisfied, an eligible
participant shall be entitled to a grant of the award shares as follows:

For every whole multiple of 10 investment shares beneficially held by
an Eligible Participant on the grant date, the participant shall receive a
number of award shares equal to Y where, if the revenue of the Group
for the financial year ending 31 March 2026 is greater than or equal
to (i) HK$7,713 million and less than HK$8,013 million, then Y is one;
(i) HK$8,013 million and less than HK$8,313 million, then Y is two;
(i) HK$8,313 million and less than HK$8,613 million, then Y is three;
(iv) HK$8,613 million and less than HK$8,914 million, then Y is four;
(v) HK$8,914 million and less than HK$9,214 million, then Y is five; (vi)
HK$9,214 million and less than HK$9,514 million, then Y is six; (vii)
HK$9,514 million and less than HK$9,814 million, then Y is seven; (viii)
HK$9,814 million and less than HK$10,114 million, then Y is eight; (ix)
HK$10,114 million and less than HK$10,414 million, then Y is nine; and
(x) HK$10,414 million, then Y is ten. A participant’s maximum entitlement
is 10 award shares for every whole multiple of 10 investment shares
beneficially held by such participant through the plan trustee.

For participants who are not Doctor Group Participants (as defined
below), there are no additional individual performance target.
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For Doctor Group Participant (i.e. becomes service providers on or after
1 March 2023, provide services to the Group in a speciality practice area
and have equal to or greater than 10 years of experience practicing as
qualified medical doctors), they are subject to additional performance
targets (the “Doctor Group Grant Conditions”) that, the person’s
annual billing figure for the financial year ending 31 March 2028 being
greater than or equal to the person’s annual billing figure for the 12
months period immediately preceding the date falling such person was
employed as a qualified medical doctor (the “Doctor Group Participant
Start Date”) compounded at a rate of 5% per annum for the period
from the Doctor Group Participant Start Date until 31 March 2028, as
determined by the remuneration committee in their sole discretion. In
the case of each Doctor Group Participant if, on the relevant grant date,
the grant conditions have been satisfied but one or more of the Doctor
Group Grant Conditions for each Doctor Group Participant have not
been satisfied, then the number of award shares such Doctor Group
Participant shall be entitled to shall be between zero and their maximum
entitlement as utilized in the Co-Ownership Plan 2, to be determined by
the remuneration committee of the Company in their sole discretion.

The date of grants are (i) in case of a participant who is not Doctor Group
Participants, the date falling 10 business days after the publication of the
Company’s annual results announcement for the financial year ending
31 March 2026; and (i) in case of Doctor Group Participants, the date
falling 10 business days after 31 March 2028. Once the number of award
shares could be determined, those award shares will be vested in the
relevant participants.

The vesting period was from the date on which the participants
contributed their respective investment amount or contribution shares,
o (i) (for participants who are not Doctor Group Participants) the date
of publication of the annual results of the Company for the year ending
31 March 2026; and (i) (for Doctor Group Participant) the date on which
the Doctor Group Grant Conditions are satisfied. The minimum vesting
period shall be 12 months.

The average purchase price of investment shares in respect of those
investment shares purchased by the trustee on-market under the

Co-ownership Plan 2 during the Reporting Period was HK$4.346.

No new share has been issued under the Co-ownership Plan 2 during
the Reporting Period.
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The following table discloses movements in the Company’s awards FRIFEBNREHMABREEREREAGE2
granted under the Co-Ownership Plan 2 during the Reporting Period: BTHA NG EEEE

Director EE
LEE Heung Wing FmE - - - - 380,500 - 380500 -
LEUNG YANG, ShnTi 5t (f:H1)

Marianne (Note 1) - - - - 2,183,000 - 2,183,000 -
Employee (Note 2) R - 4342707 - - (2,195,586) - 2,147 121 -
Others (Note 3) Ht (ki) - 5,621,786 - - (31,940) - 5,580,846 -
Total 25 - 9964493 - - 335,974 - 10300467 -

EC Healthcare 50 Annual Report 2024/25



Co-Owners
FREIEA

Notes:

1. Leung Yang, Shih Ti Marianne was appointed as a non-executive Director on 27
December 2024.

2. Employees do not include any Director or Doctor.

3. Others comprised Doctors.

4. Lee Heung Wing contributed his investment shares during the Reporting Period.

Some other Eligible Participants have ceased to be eligible to the awards due to
resignation or otherwise. Leung Yang, Shih Ti Marianne became Director during
the Reporting Period and her investment shares originally under the “Employee”
category were moved to “Director” category.

5. For every whole multiple of 10 investment shares beneficially held by an Eligible
Participant on the grant date, the participant may receive up to a maximum of
10 award shares, depending on the financial performance of the Group. These
awards are not yet formally granted. Among those 10,300,467 investment
shares, 9,395,467 shares were contributed by the Eligible Participants in kind,
while 905,000 shares were acquired by the trustee of the Co-ownership Plan 2
(using the cash contributed by the Eligible Participants) within the price range of
HK$3.9805 and HK$4.7647.

The Group has not recognised any share-based payment expenses in
connection with the Co-Ownership Plan 2.

During the meeting of the remuneration committee of the Company held
on 19 June 2025, the committee has reviewed the Co-ownership Plan 2,
and considered that there is no specific matter that need to be adjusted,
amended or abolished.
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Investor Relations Report

LRERBIRRE

INVESTOR CALENDAR

28 November 2024
—EMFE+—AZTN\H

24 January 2025

—E-_RF—-AZ+WH

19 June 2025

—“E-RFNATNE

19 to 22 August 2025 (Both days inclusive)

“E-RFNATNABE-F+—HEEEERKX)
22 August 2025
—E-RFNAZ+=AH

22 August 2025
—ZE-_RFENAZ+ZH

EC Healthcare
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REEB

2024/25 interim results announcement

TN/ RFFHEERE

Payment of interim dividend

AT EARR B

2024/25 annual results announcement

TN CRFEEEAE

Closure of Register of Members (for
determination of shareholders who are
entitled to attend and vote at annual general
meeting)

TEnERmBFPEFLFEAETEERLRE
BRERBFEREWNE FIREZBRRAH

Record date for determining the entitlement
to attend and vote at the annual general
meeting

ETHEREBFRGUNE CIREZENZ
a8k B 8

Annual General Meeting

BRBFERE
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

We increased our investor relations activities following the re-opening of
the cross border and normalization of post-pandemic by ensuring the
best deliverance of two-way communication between the Company,
shareholders and the whole investment community. We held several
post-result roadshows successfully at our Shenzhen headquarters and
attended various investment conferences hosted by investment banks to
provide the most up-to date information to mainland investors. Through
various channels, including domestic and international roadshows,
investor meetings, annual general meetings, company meetings,
teleconferences and emails, we have made transparent, efficient and
timely communication with our shareholders, analysts, fund managers
and potential investors.

Apart from proactively engaging with the investment communities, we
also treasure the two-way communication with investors through our
feedback mechanism. We noticed there were raising interests regarding
the additional disclosure of ESG issues, consolidation strategies and
corporate governance practices. In particular, several concerns were
brought-up including (1) adopting international frameworks such as GRl,
UNSDG, CDP and TCFD to strengthen the ESG context; (2) continuing
to improve board independence and board diversity, and establishing
anti-corruption policy; (3) shedding more light on our long-term M&A
strategy; and (4) disclosing long-term operational targets and aligning
management’'s compensation with performance. We discussed the
matter with the Board and agreed to work with the concerned investors
in providing supplementary disclosure to the public without compromising
our internal protocol. Ultimately, the investor relations team is made of the
people and for the people, and hence we continue to welcome valuable
feedback from investors at all levels.

During the Reporting Period, our management team and IR team
attended over 100 one-on-one and Group meetings and actively
participated in investor conferences and non-deal roadshows in Hong
Kong, Shenzhen, Shanghai and overseas meetings with over 500
investors.
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SHARE INFORMATION

Company Name
NSIEA
Listing

il

Stock Code

RAD 55

Listing Date

T HH

Board lot

BFEESN

Issued share capital as at 31 March 2025
AT RF= A=+ —HHEEITRA

INVESTOR RELATIONS DEPARTMENT

EC Healthcare — Corporate Communications and Investor Relations
Department

Tel: (852) 3975 4798

Email: ir@echealthcare.com

SHAREHOLDERS SERVICE AND ENQUIRIES

For enquiries about your shareholding including change of name or
address of shareholders, transfer of shares, loss of share certificates
or dividend cheques, registrations and requests for copies of annual or
interim report, please contact the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office:

(With effect from 14 July 2025)
Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

During the period between 1 April 2024 and 13 July 2025, the Company’s
branch share registrar was MUFG Corporate Markets Pty Limited (formerly
known as Link Market Services (Hong Kong) Pty Ltd), at Suite 1601, 16/F,
Central Tower, 28 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.

EC Healthcare 54

RODEHR

EC Healthcare

BRERE

The Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited

BEBARXSMARARER

2138

2138

11 March 2016
—FE—-XF=ZA+—H

1,000 shares
1,0008% %17
1,185,211,265 shares
1,185,211,265 A% 15

BREEBERI
BREE - CEENRRAEBERE

TaE ¢ (852) 3975 4798
FEL : ir@echealthcare.com
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Corporate Markets Pty Limited (%8 Link Market
Services (Hong Kong) Pty Ltd) « it AR EL2/F
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board acknowledges the vital importance of good governance to
the Group’s success and sustainability by providing a framework for
the Company to formulate its business strategies and policies, and to
enhance its transparency, accountability and shareholder value.

The Board is committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory standards
and adhering to the principles of corporate governance emphasising on
transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility and fairness.

The Company has adopted the principles as set out in the CG Code
contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with all code provisions set out in the CG Code during the
Reporting Period.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. Specific enquiries have been made to all the Directors,
and the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the Reporting Period.

Co-owners, senior management, executives and staff who, because of
their offices in the Company, are likely to possess inside information,
have also been requested to comply with the Model Code. No incident
of non-compliance with the Model Code by such co-owners, employees
was noted by the Company during the Reporting Period.
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THE BOARD AND THE DIRECTORS
Board Composition
During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the

composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Tang Chi Fai Eddy (Chairman)
Lu Lyn Wade Leslie (Chief Executive Officer)
Lee Heung Wing Levin (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-Executive Directors

Luk Kun Shing Ben (Chief Information Officer)
Leung Yang, Shih Ti Marianne (appointed on 27 December 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(“INEDs, each an “INED”)

Ma Ching Nam
Look Andrew
Au Tsun

Leung Yang, Shih Ti Marianne has obtained the legal advice as required
under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 27 December 2024 and
confirmed that she understood her obligations as a director of a listed
issuer.
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Throughout the Reporting Period, the Board has complied with the
requirements of the Listing Rules to have three independent non-
executive Directors who represent one-third of the Board and with one of
whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Board has received from each INED a written annual confirmation
that he satisfied the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, and the nomination committee of the Board (the
“Nomination Committee”) has assessed the independence of each
INED and the Company considers that each of their independence is in
compliance with the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period and as
at the date of this annual report. Each INED will inform the Company in
writing as soon as practicable if there is any change of circumstances
with may affect his independence.

To the best knowledge of the Company, the Directors do not have
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships with
each other.

The Company has also appointed a director of different gender on 27
December 2024, achieving gender diversity.

After annual assessment by the Nomination Committee, the Board
considers the current structure, size and composition of the Board
is able to perform a balanced and independent monitoring function
on management practices to complement the Company’s corporate
strategies. The Directors and their biographical details as at the date of
this annual report are set out on pages 11 to 18 of this annual report.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.

Throughout the Reporting Period, Mr. Tang acted as chairman of the
Board and Mr. Lu Lyn Wade Leslie acted as CEO. The respective roles
and responsibilities of the Chairman and the CEO are being divided in
writing and carried out as below:

The role of the Chairman focuses on the formulation and determination
of the overall strategies, direction and goal of the Group. The Chairman
is also responsible for leading the Board to effective management of
the Company by, among others, ensuring good corporate governance
practices and procedures, encouraging the Directors to make full and
active contribution to the affairs of the Board, developing a culture of
openness and active discussion among the Directors so that Board
decisions could fairly reflect consensus.

The CEO, within the powers delegated by the Board from time to time,
are responsible for day-to-day management of the Company and to
implement strategies and major policies decided by the Board with the
support of other executive Directors and the Management.

Board Diversity

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy to comply with the
code provision on board diversity. Under such policy, the Nomination
Committee is delegated with the responsibility to review, assess and
recommend any appointment, re-election or any succession plan
of any directors to the Board from time to time after considering a
number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, or professional experience, to accommodate
the Company’s business model and specific needs.

During the Reporting Period, a female director was appointed on 27
December 2024. The Board had 7 male and 1 female Directors. As of
31 March 2025, the Group employed approximately 2,997 employees
(excluding Registered Practitioners), 29% of which were male and 71%
were female.
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Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

The executive Directors are responsible for formulating the Company’s
corporate strategies, monitoring its implementation and reviewing
operational and financial performance of the Group.

The non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors
have diversified industry expertise and professional knowledge, and
provides advisory, adequate check and balances for effective and
constructive contribution to the executive Directors to safeguard the
interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

The Board makes decisions on major aspects of the Company’s
business operations and other matters, including but not limited to
approving and monitoring key policies, material transactions, business
plans, annual budgets, risk management and internal control systems,
annual and interim results, major capital expenditure and appointment of
Directors.

Delegation to Management

The day-to-day operational management and administration functions of
the Group and implementation of the corporate strategies of the Group
are delegated to the Management led by the executive Directors.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for the performance of functions of corporate
governance. During the Reporting Period, the Board has performed the
functions as set out in code provision A.2 of the CG Code.
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Appointment, Re-election, Rotation and Removal of
Directors

The Company has established formal, considered and transparent
procedures for the appointment, re-election, rotation, and removal
of the Directors. The Nomination Committee is responsible for
considering the suitability of an individual to act as a Director and
making recommendations to the Board on appointment or re-election
of Directors, succession planning of Directors and assessing the
independence of the INEDs as set out below under sub-section headed
“NOMINATION COMMITTEE”.

All other Directors entered into a service contract or letter of appointment
with our Company, which shall be renewed as determined by the Board
or the shareholders. Their term of office each is the period up to his
retirement by rotation or retirement, but they are eligible for re-election at
annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with the Articles
of Association.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the Company may by
ordinary resolution at general meetings of the Company elect any person
to be a Director. The Directors shall have power from time to time and at
any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office
only until the first annual general meeting after his appointment, and shall
then be eligible for re-election at such general meeting.

At each annual general meeting of the Company, not less than one-third
of the Directors (including those appointed for a specific term) shall retire
from office by rotation provided that each Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting at least once every
three years.
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Induction and Continuing Professional Development EEMNABZIIRBFESERE

of Directors

The Company encourages all Directors to participate in continuous AAFSEIIEE ERMSETEREIAE—
professional development to further enhance and refresh their knowledge FIREREFHE 2 MA LR - BRESHE
and skills to ensure their contribution to the Board remains informed and E#2HEA M ABR THEESELE
relevant. The Directors have attended the following trainings during the Bt - ESE R RS ML E T ABESEEE

Reporting Period on various regulatory topics: HIEHEII
Nature of Trainings
EIIME
Type 1 Type 2
ERich A2
Executive Directors HITES
Tang Chi Fai Eddy iy v v
Lu Lyn Wade Leslie = E v/ v/
Lee Heung Wing Levin EJEES v/ v
Non-Executive Directors FEHTES
Luk Kun Shing Ben BEFR 4 v
Leung Yang, Shih Ti Marianne 2t (R _ZEZMF v v
(appointed on 27 December 2024) TZAZTEREZE)

INEDs BYFHTES
Ma Ching Nam 558 v v/
Look Andrew BEER v v
Au Tsun (=5 v v
Type of trainings: HIIEs
1. Reading materials. 1. BIEME} o
2. Attending training sessions/conference/forum/workshops/seminars. 2. HEEHIRE &3 i TS g o
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Supply of and Access to Information

Notices of regular Board meetings and draft agendas thereof are made
available to the Directors with sufficient times and at least 14 or 3
days respectively in advance to encourage the Directors’ involvement.
All Directors have full and timely access to the Management for any
information to enable them to make informed decisions at the Board
meetings. The Company Secretary of the Company ensures that the
applicable Board procedures are followed.

Relevant members of the Management are usually invited to attend the
Board meetings to promote an effective communication within the Group.
Each Director may hire external consultants or experts for independent
professional advice at the Company’s expenses to discharge the
Director’s responsibilities.

Attendance Records of Directors and Committee
Members

BRI R RN

REBMEE2E EEQTHMERASLEE
BEREG D BN EHEEARRD1483KA
RHTES - 2REFHAGCEFSEEZNE
BEEmI R EBSHERSFELABRERS
ZEMER - KRB ARMERRERNE
SEERFEERE -

Syt J/‘/\

HAEEEREARERHEFEEESH
REARREAZBBUE - BREFAEAI

EBEEXERSKELEXER - EABAR
BIAESE - WBITESEREA -

EERZEEHENHERLE

The Directors actively participated in meetings and a summary of the RIREEIHE @ EEEHBLHEEE  MIEEN
attendance records of each Director during the Reporting Period are as  {HfECEREZ 0T -
follows:
Meeting attendance/eligible to attend
BRLEER CERER
Audit Nomination = Remuneration General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Ezg ERZEE REZE® FMzEe YN
Executive Directors BTES
Tang Chi Fai Eddy HEE 5/5 N/ATE 2/2 N/ATE A 2/2
Lu Lyn Wade Leslie akE 5/5 N/ATEF N/ATEF N/ATEA 2/2
Lee Heung Wing Levin FRE 4/5 N/ATEF N/ATER N/ATER 2/2
Non-executive Directors ~ Fk#{TEE
Luk Kun Shing Ben B 4/5 N/ANEF N/ATEF N/ANEF 2/2
Leung Yang, Shih Ti Marianne 215t (Fi3E)
(Note) 0/0 N/AT3E N/ATE A N/ATE N/ATEF
INEDs UFHTES
Ma Ching Nam 551 5/5 2/2 N/ATE 2/2 2/2
Look Andrew R 5/5 2/2 2/2 2/2 2/2
AuTsun BE 5/5 2/2 2/2 2/2 2/2

Note: Leung Yang, Shih Ti Marianne was appointed on 27 December 2024. No
meeting of the Board has been held since the appointment of Mrs. Leung and up
to 31 March 2025.
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The Board has established three Board committees on 19 February
2016, namely the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the
Nomination Committee. Each of the aforesaid committees reports to
the Board on their decisions or recommendations. Each committee or
committee member is authorized to hire outside consultants or experts
for independent professional advice at the Company’s expenses to
discharge their responsibilities.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established by the Board with its written terms
of reference in compliance with code provision D.3.3 of the CG Code.
The primary duties of the Audit Committee are set out in the written
terms of reference which include reviewing and supervising the Group’s
financial reporting process, risk management and internal control
systems, and providing advices and comments to the Board. During
the Reporting Period and as at the date of this annual report, the Audit
Committee consists of Mr. Look Andrew as its chairman, and Mr. Ma
Ching Nam and Mr. Au Tsun as its members, all of whom are INEDs. The
Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2025. The Audit Committee has also reviewed
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company and
discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held two meetings with
the Management, the external auditor of the Company and an external
professional engaged by the Company to review the interim results and
report for 2024/2025 and annual results and reports for the year ended
31 March 2024 and the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and to consider significant issues on the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, internal control and risk management systems,
effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit functions, the scope of
work and appointment of external auditor, connected transactions and
arrangements of the Company for employees to raise concerns about
possible improprieties.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established by the Board with its
written terms of reference in compliance with code provision E.1.2
of the CG Code adopting a model of making recommendation to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior
management. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are set
out in the written terms of reference which include regular monitoring of
the remuneration of all the Directors and senior management to ensure
that the levels of their remuneration and compensation are appropriate
and review of matters relating to share schemes of the Company.

During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this annual report, the
Remuneration Committee consists of Mr. Au Tsun as its chairman, and
Mr. Ma Ching Nam and Mr. Look Andrew as its members, all of whom
are INEDs.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held
two meetings for considering and recommending to the Board the
remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company to the Directors
and senior management and review the share schemes of the Company.
The Remuneration Committee also considered the remuneration of new
non-executive Director.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established by the Board with its written
terms of reference in compliance with code provision B.3.1 of the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are set out in the
written terms of reference which include selecting and recommending
candidates for directorship, review of the structure, size and composition
of the Board and assessment of the independence of INEDs.

During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this annual report, the
Nomination Committee consists of Mr. Tang as its chairman, executive
Director, and Mr. Au Tsun and Mr. Look Andrew as its members, both of
whom are INEDs.
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Directors’ nomination policy

The Nomination Committee may invite nominations of candidates from
Board members for its consideration. The Nomination Committee may
also put forward candidates who are not nominated by Board members.
The factors in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate
for director include, inter alia, reputation for integrity, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy, willingness to devote
adequate time to discharge duties as Board member, diversity of the
Board, and such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business. The Nomination Committee shall make recommendations for
the Board’s consideration and approval.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held two
meetings and reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board
and made recommendation to the Board on the re-election of Directors
with reference to the board diversity policy adopted by the Company and
assessed the independence of INEDs. The Nomination Committee also
considered the appointment of new non-executive Director.

Workforce Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a workforce diversity policy. The Company
considers workforce diversity as an important element in maintaining
sustainable growth and operational success and driving high performance
across the Group.

The Company is committed to fostering an inclusive, diverse, and
supportive workplace where all employees, regardless of gender, age,
family status, race ethnicity, religion, sexual orientation, disability or other
characteristics protected by applicable laws, are valued, respected,
and treated fairly with equal opportunities. The Company does not
tolerate any form of bias, discrimination, harassment and violence in the
workplace and in any work-related circumstances.

As at 31 March 2025, the gender ratio (male:female) of:

(i) senior management was 69%:31%; and

(i)  workforce (excluding senior management was 29%:71%.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Siu Chun Pong Raymond fulfills the
requirement under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules and is responsible for,
inter alia, provision of advice to the Board on corporate governance
matters and regulatory compliance during the Reporting Period. Mr.
Siu had taken no less than 15 hours of professional training during the
Reporting Period.

REMUNERATION OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the remuneration paid to Ernst
& Young in respect of the annual audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 and audit-
related services as reporting accountants and agreed upon procedure
on the Company’s preliminary results announcement amounted to
approximately HK$2,300,000 and HK$1,883,000, respectively. In
addition, HK$3,380,000 was charged by other auditors for statutory
audit of financial statements for certain subsidiaries of the Group. Save
as disclosed above, there was no remuneration paid or payable to the
external auditors of the Company for other non-audit services during the
year ended 31 March 2025.

The Board and the Audit Committee were satisfied with Emnst & Young,
Certified Public Accountants, of their findings, independence, objectivity
and effectiveness in the annual audit and their audit fees. Ernst & Young,
Certified Public Accountants, are proposed for re-appointment as the
Company’s external auditor at the forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2025 to give
a true and fair presentation of the financial position of the Company in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and for timely financial disclosures under the Listing Rules and any other
regulatory requirements.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement as to the auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the

financial statements is set out in the independent auditor’s report on
pages 101 to 104 of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group and reviewing their
effectiveness. The risk management and internal control systems are
designed and being implemented to manage, rather than eliminate, the
risk of failure to achieve the business objectives of the Group, and can
only provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Directors and the management would identify any risks associated
with the businesses of the Group by considering both internal and
external factors and events from time to time which include but not
limit to political, economic, technology, environmental, social and
human resources. Two approaches are used for risk identification and
evaluation, which are (1) to identify the root causes of risks, that is,
identify the undesirable events or things that could go wrong and then
identify the potential impacts of each factor and event on the businesses
of the Group; and (2) to identify all the essential functions that the Group
are performing or businesses objectives that the Group are achieving and
then identify all the possible modes by which such functions might fail to
perform. Five strategies are adopted by the Company to manage risks,
including (1) to accept the risk, (2) to avoid the risk, (3) to transfer the risk,
(4) to mitigate the risk, or (5) to exploit the risk.

The Company has adhered to the ISO 31000:2018 Risk Management
standard, showcasing a structured and systematic approach to risk
management. Additionally, the Company has engaged an external
professional firm to further its internal audit function and to conduct an
annual review on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company in respect of the Group’s financial,
operational, compliance controls and risk management for the Reporting
Period and discussed its findings with the Audit Committee and then
reported to the Board. The Board is not aware of any areas of concern
that would have a material impact on the financial position or businesses
of the Group and considers that the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company are generally adequate and effective
and that the Company could maintain the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of the
Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions
during the Reporting Period.
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The Company has been implementing a policy within the Group to
ensure that all unpublished inside information of the Group shall be
kept confidential until such information is published on the websites of
the Company at www.echealthcare.com and Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited at www.hkexnews.hk in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules or other applicable laws and regulations.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
shareholders holding not less than 10% of the paid up capital of the
Company may deposit at the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong as set out below a written requisition which specifies
the transaction of any business at such meeting and is signed by
the requisitionists to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
convened by the Board. However, there are no provision merely allowing
shareholders to put forward new resolution at a general meeting under
the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands or the Articles of Association.
Shareholders who wish to propose a resolution may request the
Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting following the
aforesaid procedures.

Pursuant to Article 85 of the Articles of Association, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended by the
Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director at any general
meeting unless a notice signed by a member (other than the person to be
proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such
notice is given of his intention to propose such person for election and
also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness to
be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the registered
office of the Company provided that the minimum length of the period,
during which such notice(s) are given, shall be at least fourteen (14) days
and that (if the notices are submitted after the dispatch of the notice of
the general meeting appointed for such election) the period for lodgment
of such notice(s) shall commence on the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no
later than fourteen (14) days prior to the date of such general meeting.

Procedures for shareholders to require an extraordinary general meeting
or propose a person for election as a Director are detailed in the
Memorandum and Articles of Association published on the websites of
the Company at www.echealthcare.com and Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited at www.hkexnews.hk.
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The Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar serves the
shareholders with respect to all share registration matters. Specific
enquiries of shareholders and other stakeholders to the Board could be
sent in writing to the Company Secretary of the Company by mail to the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong set out below:

EC Healthcare

20/F, Devon House
Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

Shareholders’ rights are further protected when separate resolutions are
proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each substantially separate issue,
including but not limited to election or re-election of individual director
at annual general meeting. All resolutions proposed at shareholders’
meetings are put to vote by poll in accordance with the Listing Rules and
the Articles of Association.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY

In February 2016, the Company adopted a shareholders’ communication
policy. Under the policy, the Company communicates with its
shareholders and investors through various means. Timely publication
of interim and annual results announcements on the latest development
of the Company and press release on the Company’s website at
www.echealthcare.com and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited’s website at www.hkexnews.hk could keep the shareholders
updated of the Company’s financial position and latest development.
Shareholders are highly recommended to pay attention to these public
information. Annual general meetings could provide an effective forum for
the shareholders to share their views with the Board. Shareholders are
welcome to attend the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Directors
and the external auditor of the Company would be available at the
forthcoming annual general meeting to answer shareholders’ questions
about the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024
and the business and prospects of the Group. The Company considers
that, in light of the above measures, its shareholders communication
policy is effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no amendments in the Memorandum and Articles of
Association during the Reporting Period.
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The Board is pleased to present their report and audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activities of the Company is the provision of medical and
healthcare services in Hong Kong, Macau and the Mainland China. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period are set
out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 March
2025 by businesses including geographical segment information is set
out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. The geographical
location of customers is determined based on the location where our
services or goods are provided or delivered.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business and an indication of the likely future
development in the Group’s business are set out in the sections headed
“CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT” and “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS” on pages 9 to 10 and 19 to 40 of this annual report
respectively. Certain financial key performance indicators which
complement and supplement our financial disclosures are set out on
page 2 of this annual report.

Key Risks and Uncertainties

The following highlights some of the key risks that affect our business:

Reputation Risk

We rely significantly on our brand image and reputation. Any failure to
maintain and enhance, or any damage to, our brand image or reputation
could materially and adversely affect the level of market recognition of,
and confidence on our services, and in turn our business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects.
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Talent Risk

If we are unable to attract and retain skilled Registered Practitioners
and other competent staff, our business, results of operations, financial
condition and prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

Customer Risk

QOur service focuses on improving our customers’ health condition and
physical appearance, and customers have varying expectations of the
magnitude of improvement that may result from our services. If we fail
to properly manage a customer’s expectations of the results from our
services, a customer may in turn be dissatisfied with the results of our
service, and a disappointed customer may, among others, request
refunds, complain to the media and/or the Hong Kong Consumer Council
and file legal claims against us. Such actions from a customer may have
a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, and results of
operations, financial condition and prospects.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group considers the importance of environmental affairs and believes
that business development and environment affairs are highly related.
The Group has implemented certain environmental protection measures
to save energy and reduce the consumption of resources. These policies
were supported by our staff and were implemented effectively.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As a listed company mainly engaging business in Hong Kong, the
Group is subject to various laws and regulations, including, among
others, Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Business Registration Ordinance (Chapter 310 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Inland Revenue Ordinance (Chapter 112 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws of
Hong Kong). The Listing Rules is also applicable to the Company. Being
an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability, it is also subject to the Companies Act, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.
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Our Group has put in place internal controls to ensure compliance of the
same. In addition, as the Group also engages business in more than one
jurisdictions, compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations in those jurisdictions. Any changes
in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention
of relevant employees and relevant operation units in the Company and
its subsidiaries from time to time.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief on the
date of this annual report, the Company has complied in all material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Company.

Relationship with Key Stakeholders

The Group fully understands that co-owners, talents, customers and
suppliers are the key to our sustainable and stable development. We are
committed to establishing a close relationship with our staff, enhancing
cooperation with our suppliers and providing high-quality services to our
customers so as to ensure the Group’s sustainable development.

Staff

Our staff members are regarded as one of the most important assets of
the Group. The Group has been endeavouring to provide our staff with
a fair and harmonious workplace. We offer competitive remuneration
packages and great opportunities for career advancement based on
employees’ performance. The Group intends to grant share options
to outstanding employees to recognise and reward the employees
who have contributed to the Group’s development. The Group also
provides our staff with regular trainings to keep them abreast of the latest
development of the Company and our industry, and medical related
knowledge and skill sets.

Customers

Professionalism and safety have always been our core values. We are
committed to providing the best customer experience to our customers.
Meanwhile, we have a customer phone survey system in order to further
our active solicitation of customer feedback.
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Suppliers

Reliable and quality suppliers are of equal importance in facilitating us to
provide services with high standards of safety and professionalism. When
selecting suppliers, we consider, among other factors, the suppliers’
reputation, safety record, track record of performance, quality of goods
supplied, price competitiveness, punctuality of delivery, relationship
with our Group, completeness of certification and credentials provided,
service quality and product offerings. We regularly review and assess our
suppliers’ performance and their qualifications to ensure the quality of our
suppliers and that such suppliers have obtained the applicable licenses (if
any), and update our approved supplier list accordingly.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 105 to 286 of this annual
report.

Operating Segment Information

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of medical and
healthcare services in Hong Kong, Macau and the Mainland China.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 2 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the declaration of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2025. Details of the dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”). The
Board would consider, inter alia, the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividend to the shareholders:

1. financial results of the Company;
2. shareholders’ interests;

3. general business conditions, strategies and future expansion needs
of the Company;

4, the Company’s capital requirements;

5. the payment of cash dividends to the Company from its
subsidiaries;

6. possible effects on liquidity and financial position of the Company;
and

7. the amount of profit that can be distributed under applicable
accounting standards and other factors that the Board may deem
relevant and appropriate.

Any dividend shall be declared by the Company in accordance with
the Cayman Islands Companies Act, the Articles of Association of the
Company and other applicable laws and regulations, and shall not affect
the normal operation of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy, as appropriate, which will
include an assessment of the effectiveness of the Dividend Policy and
approve any amendments thereto if necessary.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital and reserves
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the reserves of the Company available for
distribution to shareholders under the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands amounted to HK$1,136,706,000 (2024: HK$1,177,839,000).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group made charitable
donations amounting to HK$138,000 (2024: HK$159,000).

INDEBTEDNESS

The Group’s indebtedness as at 31 March 2025 is set out on notes 25,
28 and 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE SCHEMES

During the Reporting Period, the Company operated a share option
scheme, a share award scheme and the Co-Ownership Plan 2 for the
purposes of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group.
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Share Option Scheme

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 19 February 2016 by way of a
written resolution of the then sole shareholder of the Company and the
Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for 10 years from the Listing
Date (both dates inclusive). The Share Option Scheme was terminated on
29 May 2023.

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share
options, which were granted under the Share Option Scheme, during the
Reporting Period:

BRETE

AR EREE ARRRE—AF=
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FERN EmBERTFFERN(BEEEMA)E
MEEBN - BREAENR_ZE=_=FAHA
Z+NB&LE-

TREENREPRARRBREERE S
ER MBS

Closing price
Granted Exercised Expired Cancelled Lapsed Forfeited Date of of share Exercise
duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  during the Asat grant of immediately price of
Name or category ~ As at 1 April Reporting Reporting Reporting Reporting Reporting Reporting 31 March share before the Exercised period share
of participant 2024 Period Period Period Period Period Period 2025 options date of grant  of share option options
REHE
BHAH RIB-ME RESHER REEEEA RAREHER RESHER RESEER REEEEA R-2-HF BRE i B HA BN
BERER mA-A R B B H# ES: Bl ZA=t-B BEAH BROKHE BRESTES @
HK$ per HKS per
shares share
BT BRET
Directors
£
LU Lyn Wade Leslie 10,000,000 - - - B B - 10,000,000 24/09/21 10.80 26/09/22-23/09/31 11.60
BiE (Note 1)(Fit3E1)
LEE Heung Wing 100,000 - - = . - - 100,000 02/10/18 471 02/01/19-01/10/28 6.00
TR (Note 2)(FffzE2)
1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000 - - 12/07/19 7.08 02/01/20-11/07/24 7.08
(Note 3)(FfizE3)
1,000,000 - - - - - - 1,000,000 16/10/19 578 11/10/19-10/10/29 7.00
(Note 4)(Ffizt4)
2,500,000 - - - = - - 2,500,000 15/03/21 6.55 15/03/22-14/03/31 6.55
(Note 5)(Ffi5)
2,500,000 - - - - - - 2,500,000 01/12/21 12.00 01/12/22-30/11/31 13.30
(Note 6)(Ffizi6)
Employees (Note 14)
Ea(HE14)
In aggregate 100,000 - - = . 100,000 - - 10/07/18 522 02/01/19-31/12/23 6.60
it (Note 7)(Ffi3£7)
50,000 - - - - - - 50,000 07/09/18 5.07 02/01/19-06/09/28 6.00
(Note 8)(Ffiz8)
267,500 - - - - - - 267,500 02/10/18 471 02/01/19-01/10/28 6.00
(Note 2)(Fffz£2)
95,000 - - - = - - 95,000 28/11/18 528 02/01/19-27/11/28 6.00
(Note 9)(Ffi3£9)
100,000 - - - - - - 100,000 05/03/20 4,99 05/03/20-07/11/29 6.00
(Note 10)(F5£10)
250,000 - - - - - - 250,000 29/07/21 12.32  29/07/21-28/07/31 12.46
(Note 11)(Fif&E11)
300,000 - - - = - - 300,000 01/08/22 6.74 31/07/23-31/07/32 9.15
(Note 12)(FfE12)
2,200,000 - - - - - - 2,200,000 01/08/22 6.74 31/07/23-31/07/32 8.04
(Note 12)(Fifit12)
900,000 - - - - - - 900,000 05/01/23 438 05/01/24-04/01/33 9.00
(Note 13)(F13)
900,000 - - - = - - 900,000 05/01/23 438 05/01/24-04/01/33 10.00
(Note 13)(F£13)
22,262,500 - - - - 1,100,000 - 21,162,500
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Notes:

1.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

The total of 10,000,000 share options shall be exercisable in ten tranches from
26 September 2022 to 23 September 2031.

The original total of 840,000 share options shall be exercisable in four equal

tranches from 2 January 2019 to 1 October 2028.

The total of 1,000,000 share options shall be exercisable in four equal tranches
from 2 January 2020 to 11 July 2024.

The total of 1,000,000 share options shall be exercisable in five tranches from
16 October 2019 to 10 October 2029.

The total of 2,500,000 share options shall be exercisable in eight tranches from
15 March 2022 to 14 March 2031.

The total of 2,500,000 share options shall be exercisable in four tranches from
1 December 2022 to 30 November 2031.

The total of 100,000 share options, shall be exercisable in five equal tranches

from 2 January 2019 to 31 December 2023.

The original total of 100,000 share options shall be exercisable in four equal
tranches from 2 January 2019 to 6 September 2028.

The original total of 1,620,000 share options, shall be exercisable in seven

tranches from 2 January 2019 to 27 November 2028.

The original total of 150,000 share options shall be exercisable in one tranche
from 5 March 2020 to 7 November 2029.

The original total of 380,000 share options shall be exercisable in four tranches

from 29 July 2021 to 28 July 2031.

The original total of 3,500,000 share options shall be exercisable in five tranches
from 31 July 2023 to 31 July 2032.

The total of 1,800,000 share options shall be exercisable in three tranches from
5 January 2024 to 4 January 2033.

All grantees in this category are employees or staff of the Group.
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Purpose

The Share Option Scheme is to provide an incentive or reward for the
Grantees (as defined below) for their contribution or potential contribution
to the Group.

Eligible Persons

Under the Share Option Scheme, eligible persons include any full-time or
part-time employees, potential employees, executives or officers (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-executive Directors)
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and any suppliers, clients,
consultants, agents and advisers who, in the sole opinion of the Board,
has contributed or will contribute to the development, growth or benefit
of the Group (collectively, the “Eligible Participants” or “Grantees”) and
whom the Board may in its absolute discretion select.

Maximum Number of Shares

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the Listing Date, which is
98,000,000 shares, being 8.27% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report. The limit may be refreshed
at any time provided that the new limit must not exceed 10% of the total
number of shares in issue as at the date of the shareholders’ approval.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Share Option Scheme,
the maximum limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of our Company must
not in aggregate exceed such number of shares which represent 30% of
the shares in issue from time to time.

As at 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025, the number of options available
for grant under the Share Option Scheme were nil.
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Maximum Entitlement of Each Eligible Participant

Subject to the requirements under the Listing Rules relating to the
grant of share options to the Directors, chief executive or substantial
shareholders, unless approved by the shareholders at general meeting
in the manner prescribed in the Listing Rules, the maximum entitlement
of each Eligible Participant is that the total number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the outstanding options granted and
to be granted to such Grantee (including both exercised, cancelled
and outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme and other
scheme(s) of the Group in any 12-month period must not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of grant (the
“Maximum Entitlements”).

Option Period

An option may be exercised in whole or in part in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme during a period notified or to be
notified by the Board, provided no option period shall exceed 10 years.

Minimum Period for which an Option must be held
before it is Exercised

There is no requirement of minimum period for which an Option must be
held before exercise under the Share Option Scheme. The period within
which an option may be exercised under the Share Option Scheme is
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, provided that such
period is consistent with any other terms and condition of the Share
Option Scheme.

Payment on Acceptance of the Option

A consideration of HK$1 is payable on or before the last day for
acceptance of the option granted under the Share Option Scheme set
out in the offer document from time to time.
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Basis of Determining the Subscription Price

The subscription price for shares under the Share Option Scheme
shall be at the absolute discretion of the Board, provided that it must
be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of offer; (ii)
the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the five Business Days immediately
preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of a share (the
“Benchmark Price”).

The Remaining Life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme remained in force from the Listing Date to
29 May 2023, the same of which was terminated by way of ordinary
resolutions of the Shareholders. No more option was available for grant
under the Share Option Scheme as at 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of options granted
under the Share Option Scheme during the Reporting Period divided by
the weighted average number of Shares in issue for the Reporting Period
was nil.

During the meeting of the remuneration committee of the Company
held on 19 June 2025, the committee has reviewed the Share Option
Scheme, and considered that there is no specific matter that need to be
adjusted or amended.

New Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “New Share
Option Scheme”) on 29 May 2023 by way of ordinary resolutions passed
at the extraordinary general meeting. The New Share Option Scheme is
valid and effective for 10 years from 29 May 2023 (both dates inclusive).

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to provide an incentive
or reward for the grantees for their contribution or potential contribution
to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries. Under the New Share
Option Scheme, eligible participants include (i) any director and/or
employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, (i) any director and/
or employee of the holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated
companies of the Company; and (i) service providers, which mainly
comprise individual medical professionals who provide services to, or on
behalf of, the Group.
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The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the New Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at 29 May 2023, which is
59,260,563 shares and the maximum number which may be granted
to the service providers shall not exceed 2% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at 29 May 2023, which is 23,704,225 shares. The
aforesaid limits may be refreshed at any time provided that the new limits
must not exceed 5%/2% of the total number of shares in issue as at 29
May 2023. The maximum entitlement of each eligible participant shall
be the Maximum Entitlement. During the Reporting Period, no option
has been granted, exercised, expired, cancelled, lapsed, forfeited nor
outstanding under the New Share Option Scheme.

An option may be exercised in whole or in part in accordance with
the terms of the New Share Option Scheme during a period notified
or to be notified by the Board, provided no option period shall exceed
10 years. The vesting period in respect of any option granted to any
eligible participant shall not be shorter than 12 months from the date
of acceptance of the offer, provided that where the eligible participant
is (i) an employee participant who is a Director or a senior manager,
the remuneration committee of the Board shall; or (i) an employee
participant who is not a Director nor a senior manager, the Directors shall
have the authority to determine a shorter vesting period under specific
circumstances.

A consideration of HK$1 is payable on or before the last day for
acceptance of the option granted under the New Share Option Scheme
set out in the offer document from time to time. The subscription price
for shares under the New Share Option Scheme shall be at the absolute
discretion of the Board, provided that it must be at least the Benchmark
Price.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of options granted
under the New Share Option Scheme during the Reporting Period divided
by the weighted average number of Shares in issue for the Reporting
Period was nil.

During the meeting of the remuneration committee of the Company held
on 19 June 2025, the committee has reviewed the New Share Option
Scheme, and considered that there is no specific matter that need to be
adjusted, amended or abolished.
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SHARE OPTIONS GRANTED OTHER THAN
THOSE UNDER SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement in connection with
the acquisition of additional 24% equity interest in Hong Kong Pain
and Wellness Solution Limited, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, during the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group issued
warrants which allow the sellers to subscribe an aggregate number of
10,000,000 shares of the Company within 1-5 years at an exercise price
of HK$4.20. The warrants would vest in stages in 5 years following the
completion of the acquisition, 2,000,000 shares were allotted and issued
upon exercise of the relevant warrants during the year ended 31 March
2023.

As at 31 March 2025, the warrants granted to the sellers had a remaining
contractual life of 0.4 year.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company also adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) on 27 June 2016 with a summary of the Share Award Scheme
rules published in the announcement dated 29 June 2016. On 30
September 2016, the Company entered into a deed of variation to the
trust deed of the Share Award Scheme (the “Deed of Variation”) to make
certain changes to the said trust deed, to the effect that as from 30
September 2016, all core connected persons (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company be excluded from participating in the Share Award
Scheme. Under the Share Award Scheme, the Group’s employees,
selected by the Board are entitled to participate.

The objectives of the Share Award Scheme are (i) to recognize the
contributions by certain employees and to provide them with incentives in
order to retain them for the continual operation and development of the
Group; and (i) to attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group.
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The Share Award Scheme is subject to the administration of the Board
and the independent trustee in accordance with the Share Award
Scheme rules and the trust deed of the Share Award Scheme. The
Share Award Scheme is valid and effective from the date of adoption for
10 years or such date of early termination as determined by the Board,
provided that such termination shall not affect any subsisting right of any
eligible persons selected for participation in the Share Award Scheme. All
award shares were funded by existing shares of the Company.

The Board shall not make any further award of awarded shares which
will result in the nominal value of the shares awarded by the Board under
the Share Award Scheme exceeding 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company from time to time. The maximum number of shares
which may be awarded to a selected employee under the Share Award
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. As at 31 March 2020, all awarded shares granted
were forfeited. During the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2025, no
awarded shares were granted and no share has been issued under the
Share Award Scheme.

During the meeting of the remuneration committee of the Company held
on 19 June 2025, the committee has reviewed the Share Award Scheme,
and considered that there is no specific matter that need to be adjusted
or amended.

CO-OWNERSHIP PLAN 2

The Company has terminated the Co-Ownership Plan 1 and adopted the
Co-Ownership Plan 2 on 29 May 2023. For details of the Co-ownership
Plan 2, please refer to the section headed “Co-Owners” of this annual
report.

The aggregate number of Shares that may be issued in respect of
options and awards granted under the Share Option Scheme, the New
Share Option Scheme, the Share Award Scheme and the Co-Ownership
Plan 2 during the Reporting Period represented nil of the weighted
average number of Shares in issue during the Reporting Period.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors

TANG Chi Fai Eddy (Chairman)
LU Lyn Wade Leslie (Chief Executive Officer)
LEE Heung Wing Levin (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-Executive Directors

LUK Kun Shing Ben (Chief Information Officer)
LEUNG YANG, Shih Ti Marianne (appointed on 27 December 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

MA Ching Nam
LOOK Andrew
AU Tsun

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they or any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of
any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty, or supposed duty in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate liabilities insurance to indemnify
the Directors against any liabilities and costs arising from the business of
the Group.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out in the section headed “BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT” on pages 11 to 18 of this annual report.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed below or in this annual report, there has been
no change in information required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Look Andrew retired as an independent non-executive director of Ka
Shui International Holdings Limited with effect from 31 May 2024.

Ms. Leung Yang, Shih Ti Marianne was appointed as a non-executive
director with effect from 27 December 2024 and was appointed as a
member of the Nomination Committee with effect from 23 June 2025.

Mr. Ma Ching Nam, an independent non-executive Director, was
appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee with effect from 23
June 2025.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non- executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. After review by the Nomination Committee,
the Company considered all of the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent during the Reporting Period and as at the date of this
annual report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The remuneration paid to and/or entitled by each of the Directors and the
five highest paid individuals for the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out
in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

No Director has waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments and no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS OR
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract or a letter of appointment with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment other than statutory compensation.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the Company’s business was entered into or existed during the Reporting
Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Lee Heung Wing, an executive Director, and Leung Yang Shih Ti
Marianne, a non-executive Director, have contributed certain Shares as
investment shares in the Co-ownership Plan 2. For details, please refer to
the section headed “Co-Owners” of this annual report. Save as disclosed
above and in this annual report, no Director or his connected entity
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contract of significance to the business of the Group
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the
Reporting Period and required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ Interests in
Transactions, Arrangements or Contracts” above and elsewhere in this
annual report, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the Group’s business in which the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries or a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of the
controlling shareholder’s subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the Reporting Period or at any time during the Reporting Period.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING EERBEREBER
BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, save for the competing businesses as  RREHE A - B T XIWER R ZE - #
disclosed below, none of the Directors had any interest in a business 42 25/ B 45 ok 5 82 7N £2 B 3£ 75 Ak 2 AT A
other than the Group, which competes or is likely to compete, either R FH XS (R AEEIN) th A (£ 1
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, and required to be 5+ WW/BRE F TR BIE8.101E8VRE T AR
disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules. °

¥ Bk

wai
it

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Tang was interested in a R AFEFHREH - BEERTTFAREEBHRD
company which is not included in the Group (the “Relevant Company”). RI([ABEAR AR -

Name of the

Relevant Company Nature of business Board of Directors Size of business
HEAR AR EBME Exg E S
Healthy Concept (HK) Limited Supply of skincare and beauty Mr. Tang Revenue in 2024: less than
(“Healthy Concept”) (note 1) products/Operation of call HK$5.1 million
centre (note 2) Net profit in 2024: less than
HK$2.6 million (note 3)
Healthy Concept (HK) Limited /B S#ELERER,  Bi4E ZEZIOERA
([Healthy Concept)) (FifzE1)  BEEZRRHA O (KIzE2) LREAE BT

ST EFFER -
D268 EETT(HES)

Notes: MI3E
1. Healthy Concept is a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong with 1. Healthy Concept2 —RXRZZZT R FHAZ+X
limited liability on 26 May 2006, and is wholly-owned by Mr. Tang. BREE S AGREMRI AR AT KB LA
2EHE -

2. Healthy Concept operates its business in Hong Kong. Its target customers in 2. Healthy ConceptE BB & E ¥ 75 - HERME

respect of the supply of skincare and beauty products are primarily aesthetic
medical or traditional beauty service providers. Separately, it also operates a
call centre which targets individual customers. The personnel of the call centre
contact individual customers and refer them to the providers of body screening
services, beauty products and beauty services, respectively, for referral income.
However, Healthy Concept does not provide any aesthetic medical or traditional
beauty services, nor body screening services.

The figures are determined by reference to the audited financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2024 of the Relevant Company.

EERERNERNBERFIEAXERBENE
HREARISHEER o S - HIpae & —EIEERE
BIBFHRRP L - BRFOABHBEERR S
WHEEEDAEN TRERE - EREREER
PRAGEFERS - AEEE N U A » AT » Healthy
Conceptil iR (T a] =B B o F R ED R
B F RIS o
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The Group offers a broad range of services and products, including
medical services, aesthetic medical services, beauty and wellness
services, skincare, healthcare and beauty products, primarily of private-
label brands, PRODERMA LAB, Swissline, Suissebeaute and re:HEALTH.
The Group does not focus on mass market retailing of products and
substantially all skincare, healthcare and beauty products are sold to the
customers of the Group’s services.

The Directors are of the view that the Group’s business activities are
clearly delineated from that of the Relevant Company, since the Group
does not focus on the supply and distribution of medical consumables,
devices and equipment, or skincare, healthcare and beauty products.
Instead, the Group only focuses on (i) applying medical consumables,
devices and equipment during the course of provision of services; and
(i) selling skincare, healthcare and beauty products to the customers
of the Group’s services. In contrast, the Relevant Company focuses
on the supply and distribution of such goods to aesthetic medical
service providers and traditional beauty service providers in Hong Kong.
Furthermore, the Relevant Company does not supply and distribute any
skincare, healthcare and beauty products of the Group’s private-label
brands, PRODERMA LAB, Swissline, Suissebeaute and re:HEALTH.

In light of the above, the Directors are of the view that the businesses
conducted by the Relevant Company do not form part of, and are not in
line with, the core business of the Group, and as such, do not compete
and are unlikely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s
business.
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Deed of Non-competition

As disclosed in the Prospectus, pursuant to the non-competition
undertakings set out in the deed of non-competition dated 19 February
2016, each of Mr. Tang and Union Medical Care Holding Limited (“Union
Medical Care”), our controlling shareholders, have undertaken to the
Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) that, amongst other
things, each of them is not or will not, and will procure each of their
respective close associates not to, to be interested, involved or engaged
in or concerned with, directly or indirectly, any business which is in any
respect in competition with or similar to or is likely to be in competition
with the business of the Group during the period commencing from the
Listing Date and ending on the occurrence of the earliest of (i) the day
on which its shares cease to be listed on the Stock Exchange or other
recognised stock exchange; (i) the day on which Mr. Tang and/or Union
Medical Care cease to be controlling shareholder(s) of the Company; and
(iii) the day on which Mr. Tang and/or Union Medical Care beneficially
own or are interested in all the issued ordinary shares of the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
implementation of the deed of non-competition and are of the view that
the controlling shareholders have complied with its undertakings given
under the deed of non-competition for the year ended 31 March 2025. As
at 31 March 2025, no new business opportunity has been notified by the
controlling shareholders.

Independence from the Controlling Shareholders

The Board believes that the Group is capable of carrying on its business
independent of, and does not place undue reliance on, Mr. Tang and/
or Union Medical Care or their respective close associates, taking
into consideration the factors of financial independence, operational
independence and management independence when the facts and
reasons as disclosed in the Prospectus applied to the Group during the
Reporting Period.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong, the “SFQ”)), which (a) were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
(b) as recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section
352 of the SFO or (c) otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers were as follows:

Interests in shares and underlying shares of the
Company

EERERITRAESRKRA - 156
R REEIFNERR AR

RIZ-HAF=ZRA=+—H EERIBTH
ABRARRBRETARBEIE(ERLER
EPIFESTIBFF MHIE GRPI([# 5 R A8 &
{5 1) EXVER) B tn - FERERK (D K E#E R T
B @IRIEE = LB IRPIEXVEEET X B8 &
AMEARNR LBz ERORR (BIER
BESMERN 2B BIEGRE (FR A
BZREERRR)H OB LNARRIRIEES
B GG FI2GA T HFENELMAR(C)
EHETABRTETESFRSNREETRIZAS
TTHEARA MR ORBIT

RAERXBRG K ABER G ER

Approximate

Number of percentage of
underlying the total issued
Number of shares held share capital of
Name of Director/ shares under equity the Company
Chief Executive Capacity interested derivatives (Note 1)
RBRAESTE R QBRE T
BEE TE BEEEZ IATEEZ IR A< 48 FERE A
THRABKSA 514 G EE HERGHE Ao (ME)
Tang Chi Fai Beneficial owner, interest of spouse 722,204,610 (L) - 60.93%
5 and interest in a controlled (Note 2)
corporation (FF5E2)
EREAA - BRSNS
EEEER
Lu Lyn Wade Leslie Beneficial owner - 10,000,000 0.84%
= B A& BEnfEEA (Note 3)
(M$5E3)
Lee Heung Wing Beneficial owner 680,500 (L) 6,100,000 (L) 0.57%
EJEES ERERA (Note 4)
(KizE4)
Luk Kun Shing Ben Beneficial owner 2,822,992 (L) - 0.24%
BEd R EmEAA
Leung Yang, Beneficial owner 7,683,000 - 0.61%
Shih Ti Marianne EnlEA (Note 5)
st i (K5x5)
Ma Ching Nam Beneficial owner 300,000 (L) - 0.03%
555 EmEA A
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denotes long position.

Total number of issued shares as at 31 March 2025 was 1,185,211,265.

Mr. Tang and Union Medical Care Holding Limited (“Union Medical Care”) are the
controlling shareholders of the Company. Union Medical Care is entirely owned
by Mr. Tang. Out of 722,204,610 shares that Mr. Tang was interested in, (i)
5,403,000 shares were held by Mr. Tang personally, (i) 4,181,000 shares were
held by Ms. Yau Ming Li, the spouse of Mr. Tang, and (i) 712,620,610 shares
were held by Union Medical Care and Mr. Tang was therefore deemed to be
interested in such 4,181,000 shares and 712,620,610 shares under Part XV of
SFO.

10,000,000 share options (with their exercise period) include (i) 1,500,000
share options (26 September 2022 to 23 September 2031); (ii) 1,500,000
share options (25 September 2023 to 23 September 2031); (i) 1,500,000

share options (24 September 2024 to 23 September 2031); (iv) 1,500,000
share options (24 September 2025 to 23 September 2031); (v) 1,500,000
share options (24 September 2026 to 23 September 2031); (vi) 500,000 share
options (24 September 2027 to 23 September 2031); (vi) 500,000 share options
(25 September 2028 to 23 September 2031); (viii) 500,000 share options
(24 September 2029 to 23 September 2031); (ix) 500,000 share options (24
September 2030 to 23 September 2031); (x) 500,000 share options exercisable
on 23 September 2031.
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7,100,000 share options (with their exercise period) include (i) 25,000 share
options (2 January 2019 to 1 October 2028); (i) 25,000 share options (2 January
2020 to 1 October 2028); (i) 25,000 share options (4 January 2021 to 1 October
2028); (iv) 25,000 share options (3 January 2022 to 1 October 2028); (v) 250,000
share options (2 January 2020 to 11 July 2024); (vi) 250,000 share options (3
January 2022 to 11 July 2024); (vii) 250,000 share options (2 January 2023 to 11
July 2024); (viii) 200,000 share options (11 October 2019 to 15 October 2029);
(ix) 50,000 share options (4 January 2021 to 15 October 2029); (x) 100,000
share options (3 January 2022 to 15 October 2029); (xi) 150,000 share options
(2 January 2023 to 15 October 2029); (xii) 500,000 share options (2 January
2024 to 15 October 2029); (xii) 312,500 share options (15 March 2022 to 14
March 2031); (xiv) 312,500 share options (15 March 2023 to 14 March 2031);
(xv) 312,500 share options (15 March 2024 to 14 March 2031); (xvi) 312,500
share options (15 March 2025 to 14 March 2031); (xvii) 312,500 share options
(15 March 2026 to 14 March 2031); (xviii) 312,500 share options (15 March 2027
to 14 March 2031); (xix) 312,500 share options (15 March 2028 to 14 March
2031); (xx) 312,500 share options (15 March 2029 to 14 March 2031); (xxi)
625,000 share options (1 December 2022 to 30 November 2031); (xxii) 625,000
share options (1 December 2023 to 30 November 2031); (xxiii) 625,000 share
options (1 December 2024 to 30 November 2031); (xxiv) 625,000 share options (1
December 2025 to 30 November 2031).

Mrs. Leung owns, through Sunny Sea Global Limited (a company beneficially
owned by herself and her spouse as to 50% and 50% respectively), 5,500,000
shares of the Company. Mrs. Leung also personally owns 2,183,000 shares of
the Company, which are used as investment shares in the Co-ownership Plan 2
of the Company.
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Interest in shares and underlying shares of associated

AR B AR B % B Y AR 49 T2 AR A AR A

corporation(s) of the Company RS
Approximate
percentage of
Number of Number of the total issued
shares underlying share capital
Name of Name of interested in shares held of the
Director/Chief associated the associated under equity associated
Executive corporation Capacity corporation derivatives corporation
DRASTETR (REBEEZH
X /TETHR R B RS FENHEE BRTRAH
IN-L:E BB a4 BEEHRAEE RAEE L FOER
Tang Chi Fai Union Medical Care Holding Beneficial owner 2 - 100%
HEe Limited EREAA (Note 1)(FffzE1)
Note: FsE -
(L)  denotes long position. L EFE-
1. The 2 shares in which Mr. Tang was interested in were ordinary shares of Union 1. B %t A4 PR B T % 1) % 2 AR R 9 /% Union Medical

Medical Care.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, so far as is known to
any Directors or chief executives of the Company, none of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
(a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO) or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or (c) were
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, other than interests disclosed above in respect of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company, the following persons
had or were deemed or taken to have interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as
recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO or who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the
issued share capital of the Company.
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Interests in shares and underlying shares of the
Company

RA AR KB RAD B

Approximate
percentage of the
total issued share

capital of the

Number of Company

Name of shareholders Capacity shares interested (Note 1)

EARAF]

ERITRAEEN

BEEEEN BHABEDL

BRRERB, A 14 RHOEE (Pif=E1)

Union Medical Care (Note 2) Beneficial owner 722,204,610 (L) 60.93%

Union Medical Care(Fffz¥2) EnEA

Yau Ming Li (Note 3) Beneficial owner and interest of spouse 722,204,610 (L) 60.93%

EREAN (P 5E3) BamEE AR BER
Notes: MI3E

L Denotes as long position.

1. Total number of issued shares as at 31 March 2025 was 1,185,211,265.

2. Mr. Tang and Union Medical Care are the controlling shareholders of the
Company. Union Medical Care is wholly-owned by Mr. Tang.

3. Out of the 722,204,610 shares, (i) 4,181,000 shares were held by Ms. Yau and
(i) 718,023,610 shares were held/deemed to be held by Mr. Tang, the spouse
of Ms. Yau, and Ms. Yau was therefore deemed to be interested in the shares of
the Company in which Mr. Tang was interested under Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors have not
been notified by any person (other than the Directors or chief executives
of the Company) who had interests or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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Report of the Directors
EERWE

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save and except the Share Option Scheme, the Share Award Scheme,
the Co-Ownership Plan 1 (which has been terminated) and the
Co-Ownership Plan 2, at no time during or at the end of the Reporting
Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed approximately 2,977 (31
March 2024: 2,611) employees (excluding Registered Practitioners) in
Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC.

The Group is aware of the importance of human resources and is
dedicated to retaining competent and talented directors and employees
by offering them competitive remuneration packages. Their salaries and
bonuses were determined with reference to their duties, work experience,
performance and prevailing market practices. The Group also participates
in the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) scheme in Hong Kong, and
provides employees with medical insurance coverage. No forfeited
contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in the future
years. The MPF contributions charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss represent the contributions payable to the funds by the
Group. The Share Option Scheme, the Co-Ownership Plan 2 and the
Share Award Scheme are in place to reward individual employees for
their outstanding performance and contribution to the success of the
Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions of the Group undertaken
in the normal course of business during the Reporting Period are set
out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. None of these
transactions is required to be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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Report of the Directors
EERWE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
to the best knowledge of the Directors, during the Reporting Period and
up to the date of this annual report, there is sufficient public float of the
Company’s securities as required under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of revenue
or sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers represented
less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue. The aggregate amount of
purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers represented
less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their
respective close associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge
of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any direct/indirect interest in these major suppliers or
customers during the year ended 31 March 2025.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the shares of
the Company.
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Report of the Directors
EERWE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The corporate governance report is set out on pages 55 to 69 of this
annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2025 is published on the Stock Exchange’s
website and the Company’s website.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2024 and
31 March 2025 have been audited by Ernst & Young, who will retire
and, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as
the auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

The financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023
have been audited by KPMG, Certified Public Accountants. Further
details of the change of auditors are disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 19 March 2024.

On behalf of the Board

Tang Chi Fai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 19 June 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
T8\ 12 B MR

Ernst & Young

e
EYzx

To the shareholders of EC Healthcare
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of EC Healthcare
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 105
to 292, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the

BIEREIT T AREEHEI T 52
HWEALHE B BANEL - BREEAGL
FEMANEE - BB - RAOINBSTIER
EITREHEERA M B RRERNFERRAR LR
HEHEMERETARF - BRIRFHERBIE
BT ERRAMITORE - R RE R
BHMRH B BRI T ERE -

basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial

statements.

Revenue recognition from prepaid packages

Revenue mainly comprises income from the provision
of medical, aesthetic medical and beauty and wellness
services. Revenue is recognised when the related services
are provided to customers.
WAFTEBERERER 28K XA REBRRBEHK
A o WMARERRERRBEH T EFRER °

Certain services provided by the Group are sold on a prepaid
basis. Payments received for prepaid packages are initially
recorded as deferred revenue in the consolidated statement
of financial position at the time of receipt. The service period
for a prepaid package is generally one year.

ERERMUNE TRBORANEELE - BERNVENER
FIERUEF N F AR A SRR R ABRMERIEWA © FE{S
EENRGE—MRA—F -

Prepaid packages are non-refundable and customers may
not exercise all of their contractual rights of the prepaid
packages before expiry of the service period, and such
unexercised rights are referred to as breakage. An expected
amount of breakage is estimated by management based
on historical experience and is recognised as revenue in
proportion to the pattern of services provided to customers.
Any residual deferred revenue at the end of the contractual
service period is fully recognised in profit or loss.
BNERFAAREREFRREHERMAARBITERENESR
R EAAEN - MAAEREARITERENRE R AREHRE
A 1o FREAARGE RN ©RE R E IR B IR BBELRMAET &
RREETEPORBEXNN AR BBA  NE KR E
REVEAIFIEREE WA R B2 WRBER -

The recognition of revenue from the prepaid packages
involves significant management’s judgement to determine
the appropriate amount and timing of revenue recognition,
and involves significant estimation of the utilisation pattern of
services and the expected breakage amount.
BERARBENERNBRAS R EBENERALE - UETEE
BRI AR SRR - 108 R8RS RAED RFEER
RN & RV EAMERT

The related disclosures are included in notes 3.1 and 3.2 to
the consolidated financial statements.
B RSN R E M BIRENFES.1K%3.2
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REENFBEZNRAER
Our audit procedures included:

B E R 21

obtaining an understanding of the Group’s revenue
recognition policy in relation to prepaid packages;
T BERBEHEENEZABENKRARERBOR

inspecting, on a sampling basis, sales contracts and
evaluating management’s accounting treatment for
the recognition of revenue with reference to the terms
set out in the sales contracts and the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

2 EZHE A KIHNERERITEAERNRTE
MESRHESNRTHEREEHWAERNES
BIE

assessing the estimates used in the determination
of the expected breakage amount such as historical
experience on the utilisation of prepaid packages by
examining the related usage records and comparing
to the actual usage records on a sampling basis; and
FHEREE TR RN S AT - AE(E
RAENEZNBELR  BRAMET N REHEH
{0 FA RS8R0 B B RR P FARCEET TLL R © %

testing the internal controls and checking the
calculation of the amount of revenue recognised
during the reporting period and the amount of
deferred revenue as at the end of the reporting period
by examining the underlying sales contracts and
related records on a sampling basis.
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Impairment assessment of non-current assets in
cash-generating units of the acquired businesses

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying values of the Group’s
goodwill, intangible assets and other property, plant
and equipment of the acquired businesses amounted to
HK$754.5 million, HK$506.3 million and HK$244.0 million,
respectively, which in total represented 30% of the Group’s
total assets.

RZZEZRF=A=+—0H  EB£ENEZE BFEE
AR EEGOEMYE  BERXENREES A
7B45A BT - 506.3BE&EB T N244.0B & BT 5T
& EREEEHAERZ0% -

Management performs impairment assessments annually for
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) of the acquired businesses
to which goodwill has been allocated. In addition, impairment
assessments are performed for CGUs of the acquired
businesses to which intangible assets with finite useful
lives and other property, plant and equipment have been
allocated if there is any indication of impairment.
EREGFHEENKAENHKKBRSReELSM([]R
BEABEM)ETRERNE o N - INFEREDR -
EESEEEAREAFRNBLEEREMPYE - BE R
RBORWEEBR @ EF BN - FEETRIERE

In performing impairment assessments, management
determines the recoverable amounts of the smallest CGUs
of the acquired businesses to which the goodwill, intangible
assets and other property, plant and equipment have been
allocated; and compares the carrying amount of each of the
identifiable CGUs with its value in use based on discounted
cash flow forecasts to determine if any impairment loss
should be recognised.

RETRERER - BREETCHENE  BREENUR
Hib ¥z - BERERENRKEES R NRSEEBELAA]
WEleFE  ARASEIER #53H € EE B REESEER
MRS RN EREEETLR  UETEREEERE
fAREEE °

The impairment assessment is significant to our audit due
to (i) the magnitude of the carrying amounts involved; and (i)
significant estimates involved in the estimation of the value in
use of the CGUs, including, amongst others, expected future
cash flows and discount rates.

BN PTSEREERARD ; () HErReEESEALNEREE
P RHEXGE - BRE(EPEFE) ERAKRRERE ML
BE - OREMEERMANEAMSEEZEKN -

The related disclosures are included in notes 3.1, 3.2 and 14
to the consolidated financial statements.

FERBHR BE B MR A BT TS R FRES.1 ~ 3.2/ 14 -
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RUBEBREELEMNFERDEENRERTE

Our audit procedures included:

BB IRF 21

evaluating management’s assessment of impairment
indicators, identification of CGUs of the acquired
businesses and the allocation of goodwill, intangible
assets and other property, plant and equipment to
each CGU;

HEERENFARETR  BEERHKBERBERS
EEBUNARIEEE BREENEMYE K
EREEHEERREELEN

involving our valuation experts to assist us in
evaluating the discount rate adopted in the value in
use calculation; and
BN EEZER2ERGHRMTGEERERSEF
FRERMNEIATIR X & [

assessing the key assumptions used in
management’s cash flow projections including,
amongst others, budgeted revenue, growth rate and
discount rate, taking into consideration the historical
results, market conditions and trends and reliability of
previous projections.
MAEREEELCReRERAMAETERE - B
FEREE)BERA  BERERFREX - WER
BIEEE TR BEBERAZAIERE -
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
PRV Y GRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
PRV Y GRS

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed
for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
PRV Y GRS

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Wu Ka Lai, Cary (practising certificate number:
P05532).

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

19 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

,Aﬂ/\ = N/
FAREm

W N

For the year ended 31 March 2025 EHZE—ZF

“HE=ZA=T—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  (LET3R)

2025 2024
—E-RE T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FBT
REVENUE WA 4,140,212 4,211,034
Other net income and gains E A A R F 5 61,294 7,662
Cost of inventories and consumables ﬁ S N FEM AR (797,951) (666,132)
Registered practitioner expenses g £ (1,075,846) (1,171,274)
Employee benefit expenses ﬁg\ﬁﬂ Fisz (1,016,496) (1,043,342)
Marketing and advertising expenses MiGHERESERAS (177,469) (207,222)
Rental and related expenses e MBS (91,633) (92,338)
Depreciation — right-of-use assets TE—FTREEE (294,033) (339,551)
Depreciation — owned property, plantand ~ ITE -8G5 - BMER
equipment B (218,762) (177,073)
Amortisation of intangible assets A AR (118,182) (108,921)
Charitable donations peE =k (138) (159)
Finance costs BARSA AR (89,442) (100,837)
Credit card expenses EAFEX (72,363) (81,248)
Administrative and other expenses TTH R HALF (254,900) (219,151)
Share of profits less losses of joint ventures G & &b 2 RH FRE 18 1,284 2,686
Share of (losses)/profits of associates D AR (EE) w5 (96,715) 2,740
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBLAT (B518) R F (101,140) 16,874
Income tax FriSi (10,778) (1,179)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FR(EE) EF (111,918) 15,695
Attributable to: AT IAREG -
Equity shareholders of the Company NARERRR (167,186) (18,947)
Non-controlling interests e 55,268 34,642
(111,918) 15,695
HK cents HK cents
gl gl
LOSS PER SHARE BRER
Attributable to equity shareholders of the R B ARRE(S
Company
Basic and diluted EARR#E (14.1) (1.6)

The notes on pages 113 to 286 form part of these financial statements.  Z5113E 5286 8 MM SR I Z B 53R ) —
Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company are  #35 o ER FAR IR R 7 IR EFFE &N
set out in note 29(b). MzE29(b) °
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

reEHEWER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z=ZT-_AF=A=+—HIEFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  (LET3R)

2025 2024
—ECRE — T e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT THT
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FR(EHR) ER (111,918) 15,695
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSSFOR &SR HEMW2EER
THE YEAR
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently ~ E & A EFHHEEIEZEH
to profit or loss: HH :
Exchange differences on translation of BMEBBIRINIE AT
financial statements of subsidiaries W TSR e H =58
outside Hong Kong, net of tax HERFIR (1,314) (804)
ltem that will not be reclassified to profitor ¥ AEFEI D ABHIER -
loss:
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair BAFETAEMEE
value through other comprehensive Wamm e EER R
income, net of tax BEI5E - MBRHIE (6,000) (782)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ FRZE(BE) WEEHE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR (119,232) 14,109
Attributable to: AT & IEFELS -
Equity shareholders of the Company KARERRR (174,500) (20,533)
Non-controlling interests SRR A 55,268 34,642
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ FR2EER) WREH
INCOME FOR THE YEAR (119,232) 14,109

FE113EF286 AHMI EBA UL FMEIHRERN —

B o

The notes on pages 113 to 286 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

sre AR

At 31 March 2025

R-ZZE_RF=A=+—H

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  (LET3R)

2025 2024
—E-RF — T e
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BaE FExT FBT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE KR 13 1,059,432 1,388,023
Investment properties HEME 13 104,230 172,922
Goodwill [EES 14 754,546 947,176
Intangible assets BILEE 15 543,834 613,749
Interests in joint ventures REeetENER 16 31,473 40,081
Interests in associates REE A RRER 17 201,838 382,947
Rental and other deposits HekAMZe 20 102,052 113,636
Prepayments and other receivables TE AR IE R EoAth e s 5k E 20 132,255 195,317
Financial assets at fair value through other  IZAF(EFF AE M2 EU
comprehensive income e RVEE 21(a) 3,637 9,637
Financial assets at fair value through profit ~ EAFEF ABREN SR
or loss BE 21(b) 102,143 104,527
Deferred tax assets RETIEE &= 27(b) 110,527 86,389
Total non-current assets IEmBEERE 3,145,967 4,054,404
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories "7E 18 152,545 107,087
Trade receivables B ZrERIE 19 323,708 263,016
Prepayments, deposits and other FERFIE -~ R REAmEY
receivables B 20 226,108 225,629
Deferred costs IRIERK AN 5 90,034 102,866
Financial assets at fair value through profit ~ ZAFEFT ABZEN SR
or loss BE 21(b) 17,158 13,179
Tax recoverable BIEEERE 27(a) 16,475 13,737
Time deposits with original maturity over JREIER A AR = 18 A &9 E 5
3 months EE N 22 50,980 39,511
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBeEEY 22 1,003,913 553,625
Total current assets MBEERE 1,880,921 1,318,650
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade payables B FENFRIE 23 106,032 81,094
Other payables and accruals EM A R R E B 24 431,368 370,331
Bank borrowings RITIERK 25 252,955 136,912
Lease liabilities HEBE 28 232,644 255,461
Convertible bonds AR E S 32 254,325 -
Deferred revenue PEIEUT A 26 570,210 540,148
Tax payable FEHHiTE 27(a) 38,483 47,170
Total current liabilities mB B EERE 1,886,017 1,431,116
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REEETFE (5,096) (112,466)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEELERRBEE
LIABILITIES 3,140,871 3,941,938
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e IR

At 31 March2025 R-ZE-_hF=A=+—H

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  (LET3R)

2025 2024
—E_RF —Z_Pu4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt FEx FA&T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities REFIAEE 27(p) 77,044 93,807
Lease liabilities HERE 28 314,027 427,566
Other payables E At FRIE 24 229,233 213,032
Bank borrowings RITHER 25 289,179 541,990
Provision for reinstatement costs BERAEE 24 26,392 21,005
Convertible bonds AR ES 32 - 241,767
Total non-current liabilities IEmBEERTE 935,875 1,539,167
NET ASSETS EERE 2,204,996 2,402,771
CAPITAL AND RESERVES RA R 5
Share capital %N 29(c) 12 12
Reserves G 1,793,365 1,961,333
Total equity attributable to equity AATERBRELELS
shareholders of the Company g 1,793,377 1,961,345
Non-controlling interests IR 411,619 441,426
TOTAL EQUITY BT 2,204,996 2,402,771

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 19 June RZ-ZE-FRFENA TN AR EE S E RIEE
2025. &

Lu Lyn Wade Leslie Lee Heung Wing

B ZmEE
Director Director
EZE EE
The notes on pages 113 to 286 form part of these financial statements. F113EF 286 B MM B L ZEM B HmE N —
#a o
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ConsoIidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FORREBE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE—_ZT-_HR&=-A=+—HItFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  (LET3R)

Attibutable to equity shareholders of the Company
KOTRERRER
Fair value
Share-based reserve (Accumulated Non-
Share  compensation Merger Exchange Capital (non- Other losses)/ confroliing Total
Share premium reserve resenve reserve reserve recycling) reserve retained Total interests equity
capital— (note20c)  (rote () (note 28efil) (note 2(did)  (note 28c) (note 2(dvi)  (ote 28l profis
PLUEGL ATERE

BEEE  MME  AMER  ENER  BARE (REARE)  SHEE  (RiER)/ S FERRE  REAE

BE (W) (hedv) (B2 (W2 (Meoe) (Seodei) (HEoesi) k&R
Note HK$000 HK§000 HKS000 HK$000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HK$000 HK§ 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HK§ 000
it TEL ThR TEL TEL ThL TEL TR TEL ThL TEL TEL ThL

AT Aprl 2023 H-BZZERA-R 12 2017702 105217 2 (289 66,322 (7801 423908) 97,208 1,854,484 516,461 2310945
Changes in equity for 2024; ZECMERESY:

Proft for the year Ema - - - - - - - - (18.947) (18947) 34,642 15,69
Other comprehensiie s Eh2EER - - - - 804 - 18 - - [1.586) - [1586)
Totel comprehensive income/foss) ks (BE)4E - - (804) - 18 - (18947 (2053 34642 14109
Acquiston of subsidries KENBLA - - - - - - - 5,004 - 5504 13604 3648
Disposal of a subsidary tht resuted i 0ss ofcontol DERkARE - - - - - - - - - - 7215 7215

Recogniion of equty-seted share-besed compenseton SENRHEENES - BRE
Share options - - 4690 - - - - - - 4690 - 4690
Recogniton of share-based payment for shares of subsidares IR :

granted to non-controling interests 3962 - - - - - - 3962 329 1261
Aoquiston ofpartel nterests n subsdlares 7400 - - - - 200670 (73865 120405 (50722) 78683
Change in consideration payable arising flom the put options

granted tonon-controling interests - - - - - - 9,999 - (999 - (99%8)

Dhvidends paic to non-controling nterests - - - - - - - - - - 83093 (83,093
Dividend declred 5 MSE 20 - - - - - - - - (35,689) (55,689) - (35,089)

At 31 March 2024 and 1 Aprl 2024 RE-ME=A=T-AR

ZToRERA-B 1 2017702 106469 2 (1,089) 66,322 (8589 (168.212) (51,299 196134 441426 2400,
Changes in equty for 2025: & ﬁ‘f-ﬁﬁ!ﬂ
Loss for the year - - - - - - (167,186) (167,186) 55,268 (111,918)
Other comprehensive loss - - (1314 - (6,000) - - (7314 - (1314
Total comprehensive income/oss) - - (1314) - (6,000) - (167,186) (174,500) 55,268 (119,232)
Accuistion of subsicaries - - - - - 31,042 - 31,042 115442 146484
Accuistion of partalinterests in subsidieres i - - - - - - 28 2 (19,806) (19,568)
Disposal o subsicaries that resued inlss of control WEZ\ - - - - - - - - (62774 (62774
Recagnifon of equity-setted share-bsed compensation: RS

Share options 13,009 - - - - - - 13,009 - 13,009
Recognition of shere-besed payment for shares of subsicaries

granted to non-controling interests 3962 - - - - - - 3962 3299 7,261
Change in consideraton payable arising from the put options

granted toon-controling interests = = = - - 27,890) - (27,8%) - 27,890)
Chenges n actueril assumptions of fong service payment - - - - - (1911 - (197) - {197

Dedluction of share capial i non-controllng nferests - - - - - - - - (31,134) (31,134
Dividends paid tonon-contoling merests ETHERERRS - - - - - - - - - - (90,102 90,102)
Diidend declered BERRS 2 = - - - - - - - (11,852) 11,852) - (11,852

At31 March 2025 et duk 4 o 12 207,702 123,440 20 (2,400) 66,322 (14,589) (167,037) (230,093 1,793,317 441619 2,049%
The notes on pages 113 to 286 form part of these financial statements. F113EF 286 B MM Bt FEM B HmE A —
o e
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

reERETRER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z=ZT-_AF=A=+—HIEFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  (LET3R)

2025 2024
—E_RF —E N4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BitEE FTHET FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KEEE
(Loss)/profit before tax BREEAT(E1E),m (101,140) 16,874
Adjustments for: PR
Bank interest income RITHBUA 6 (15,842) (13,669)
Other interest income HAbFLEHA 6 (1,558) (1,908)
Impairment loss on goodwil EEREEE 6 115,599 -
Impairment loss on interest in a joint B ERNERREEE
venture 6 9,892 -
Unrealised losses on financial assets at BEATEGFABEHNSRE
fair value through profit or loss, net BEMNREREBEEFE 6 10,939 24,582
Fair value loss on investment properties EMERN N ERBE 6 68,692 26,378
Fair value loss on other receivables HAb EGRIER A A
B8 6 36,039 1,254
Remeasurement loss on previously-held SRR EHE AR RN
interest in an associate ENFTEEE 6 5,921 -
(Gain)/loss on disposals of subsidiaries, HERBRARM ),
net E1EFER 6 (268,214) 84
Gain on early termination of leases, net TRANAR  F LMW 55 6 (298) (1,828)
Loss on disposals and write-off of HERMEME - BE R
property, plant and equipment HBEMEE 6 1,298 1,751
Interest on bank borrowings RITRERFE 7 47,167 58,339
Interest on convertible bonds AR ESFE 7 19,189 18,265
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEFB 7 24,339 24,233
Reversal of imputed interest expenses on JERREZEERNE
consideration payable 7Sz 7 (1,253) -
Depreciation e 8 512,795 516,624
Amortisation of intangible assets B A EHY 8 118,182 108,921
Share of profits less losses of joint DhEECERTRER
ventures (1,284) (2,686)
Equity-settled share-based payment LARESS A H AR (D B ETE
expenses pASEi 3 8 20,270 11,951
Share of losses/(profits) of associates DEEE N REE,
G A 96,715 (2,740)
Foreign exchange differences HNEZFE (993) 1,472
696,455 787,901
Increase in inventories FE®M (9,919) (14,309)
Increase in trade receivables B 5 FEUGRIRIE N (9,573) (46,039)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and FERFIE -« HE REAER
other receivables IR 202,444 103,552
Decrease in deferred costs PRI AR A 18,834 21,886
Decrease in trade payables B RENFIER L (11,336) (11,530)
Decrease in other payables and accruals EAb B RIB R EET &R
Ve (33,411) (46,265)
Decrease in deferred revenue PEIEUT AR (37,626) (56,140)
Cash generated from operations REELNRE 815,868 739,056
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEEMEH (67,256) (49,955)
Tax paid outside Hong Kong B BEEEINGIR (5,371) -
Net cash generated from operating KEEBFBR S TR
activities 743,241 689,101

EC Healthcare
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
TERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z=ZT-_AF=A=+—HIEFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  (LET3R)

2025 2024
—E_RF —E N4
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BitEE FEx FAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BETE
Bank interest received BUERITHIE 15,842 13,665
Payments for purchases of unlisted note BESBEREATETA
investments classified as financial assets EaemEENI LT
at fair value through profit or loss FREENNR (8,476) -
Contribution to unlisted equity and unlisted — ED %8 AIE A FET AEBZE
fund investments classified as financial K& @A ERIE LM
assets at fair value through profit or loss FIEEmESKRETE (4,058) (2,112)
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant  H&EY % « FE L HED
and equipment [ 23,217 41,290
Other interest received BHE TS 1,558 1,908
Dividend received from joint ventures BREEPENRE - 8,591
Disposals of subsidiaries, net HEMBARFESR 440,335 323
Acquisitions of businesses, net IR B 7% 558 33 (24,319) (96,013)
Acquisitions of partial interests in subsidiaries BB B~ T2 o ks (19,568) -
Investment in an associate R—EEE A FINIEE - (115,000)
Loan to an associate m—EEE A ARER (14,610) (11,273)
Placement of time deposits with original FRIREISHEBR=AMN
maturity over 3 months EHER (11,469) (38,511)
Payments for purchases of property, plant  BEB Y% - R L RE
and equipment SOVREN (57,172) (161,223)
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing & ;&8T5 (FTR)
activities REFEE 341,280 (358,355)
BRER 111 FERSE 2024/25



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
TERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z=ZT-_AF=A=+—HIEFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  (LET3R)

2025 2024
—E_RF —E N4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHET FAT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES METE
Interest paid on bank borrowings ERHRTTIERF S 22(b) (48,579) (52,967)
Interest paid on convertible bonds BB ESF A 22(p) (5,850) (14,410)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENEEHSNERLD 22(b) (286,590) (323,112
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENAERESHNF BB 22(b) (24,339) (24,233)
New bank borrowings I ERITIE K 22(b) 112,500 686,641
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITIER 22(b) (247,841) (500,014)
Dividend paid ERE 29(a) (11,852) (55,689
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 2 1t F IEIZAS HEZS HORS B (90,102) (83,093)
Deduction of share capital to non-controling  $ABR A& AS 2= JEIE S A 25
interests (31,134) -
Loan from an associate RE—HEE R RIRER - 10,000
Acquisitions of partial interests in subsidiaries U BT E A 72D S - (129,587)
Net cash used in financing activities BB ERBATRARE FEE (633,787) (486,464)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) INCASH R&RRE&ZEYEM
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS OR2 ) E8E 450,734 (155,718)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April MA—BEMEBEENReSE
BY) 553,625 709,859
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates YN RE SR & Sh g/ 2 (446) (516)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ZA=ZtT-HHWRER
31 MARCH REZEY 22(a) 1,003,913 553,625

The notes on pages 113 to 286 form part of these financial statements. FA13E F286 B M it S Bz —
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RISk Mot

2.1

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company with limited liability
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered office address
of the Company is at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business of the Company is located at 20/F, Devon House,
Taikoo Place, 979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the provision of medical and healthcare
services.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties, certain other receivables, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and financial assets designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Notwithstanding the net current liabilities of HK$5,096,000 as at 31
March 2025, the Group’s consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis because the directors
are of the opinion that the Group would have adequate funds to
meet its obligations, as and when they fall due, having regard
to the following: (a) the Group is expected to generate positive
operating cash flows in connection with its principal activities; and (b)
deferred revenue of approximately HK$570 million as at 31 March
2025 mainly relates to non-refundable prepaid packages for which
settlement (i.e. recognised as revenue) is expected within one year
without material cash outflow.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 21 REEE )

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2025. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 21 REEEm)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange reserve; and recognises the fair value of
any investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKFRS 7

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards are described below:

(@ Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates
to the right of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and
leaseback transactions with variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate occurring from the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability
is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise
its right to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify
that a liability can be settled in its own equity instruments,
and that only if a conversion option in a convertible liability
is itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022
Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which
an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect
the classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities
that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of
its liabilities as at 1 April 2024 and 2025 and concluded
that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-
current remained unchanged upon initial application of the
amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require
additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist users
of financial statements in understanding the effects of supplier
finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows
and exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not have
supplier finance arrangements, the amendments did not have
any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply
these new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, if applicable,
when they become effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?®
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures®
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification
and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-
and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS Accounting HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
Standards — Volume 11 HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7?2

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
8 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS 2.3 EEMEREMNERBYBER

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting Standards that
are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward from HKAS
1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements
for presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including
specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify all
income and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into
one of the five categories: operating, investing, financing, income
taxes and discontinued operations and to present two new defined
subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces enhanced
requirements on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation) and
the location of information in both the primary financial statements
and the notes. Some requirements previously included in HKAS 1
are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of
Preparation of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the
issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments
are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33
Earnings per Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.
In addition, there are minor consequential amendments to other
HKFRS Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and the consequential
amendments to other HKFRS Accounting Standards are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier
application permitted. Retrospective application is required. The
Group is currently analysing the new requirements and assessing
the impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS 2.3 EEMEREMNERBYBER

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other HKFRS
Accounting Standards. To be eligible, at the end of the reporting
period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS
10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have public
accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate)
that prepares consolidated financial statements available for public
use which comply with HKFRS Accounting Standards. Earlier
application is permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it is
not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19. Some of the Company’s
subsidiaries are considering the application of HKFRS 19 in their
specified financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments clarify the
date on which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised
and introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial
liability that is settled through an electronic payment system before
the settlement date if specified criteria are met. The amendments
clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of
financial assets with environmental, social and governance and
other similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments clarify
the requirements for classifying financial assets with non-recourse
features and contractually linked instruments. The amendments
also include additional disclosures for investments in equity
instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial instruments with contingent features. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with an adjustment
to opening retained profits (or other component of equity) at the
initial application date. Prior periods are not required to be restated
and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier
application of either all the amendments at the same time or only
the amendments related to the classification of financial assets
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS 2.3 EEMEREMNERBYBER

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity clarify the application of the “own-use”
requirement for in-scope contracts and amend the designation
requirements for a hedged item in a cash flow hedging relationship
for in-scope contracts. The amendments also include additional
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to understand
the effects thoses contracts have on an entity’s financial
performance and future cash flows. The amendments relating
to the own-use exception shall be applied retrospectively. Prior
periods are not required to be restated and can only be restated
without the use of hindsight. The amendments relating to the
hedge accounting shall be applied prospectively to new hedging
relationships designated on or after the date of initial application.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7 shall be applied at the same time. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in
dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS 2.3 EEMEREMNERBYBER

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how
it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of
information that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot
restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the
accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS
9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are
expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

o HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph
B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs IG1, IG14 and IG20B of
the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 for the purpose
of simplification or achieving consistency with other
paragraphs in the standard and/or with the concepts
and terminology used in other standards. In addition, the
amendments clarify that the Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate all the requirements
in the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does it create
additional requirements. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify
that when a lessee has determined that a lease liability has
been extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, the lessee is
required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise
any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph
5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove
potential confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example of various
relationships that might exist between the investor and other
parties acting as de facto agents of the investor, which
removes the inconsistency with the requirement in paragraph
B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace
the term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of
HKAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition of “cost
method”. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXREEE

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated profit or loss and consolidated other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or
joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of the
Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether
to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other components of non-controlling interests are measured at
fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) EpN-S0iE 1 )
Fair value measurement NEEFTE

The Group measures its investment properties, certain other
receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income at fair value at the end of each reporting
period and certain other payables. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Fair value measurement (Continued) N EFTEE)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed R BREANTEXEELATFENTE

in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value BEEMBE HARBYQTETEEE

hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that mEBEXNNEE R ASURE T

is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: NHEZLETHEE

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets F—EH —ERBEREEXEBEEE
for identical assets or liabilities BTS EaWmE(REH

)

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the FEH —ERHATEFEMEE
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value BANAER(BEELHE
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly B)REELRBASENG

BEE

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the FoEBH —EREQATEFEMNEB
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value EANTABEEHEER
measurement is unobservable 9 A BB R E T

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial MIREEMEERY BRRERNEE

statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether RBEMNE  AEERSHREHERE

transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by BEFFHEIB(EREQAFET2ERE
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is MEBEANREERBASIER) - RE
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of EREEBEREERETEHER -

each reporting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment properties), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g. a headquarters building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;
or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(viy  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of the lease term and
their estimated useful lives
Over the shorter of the lease terms

Buildings

Leasehold improvements

and 25%
Furniture and fixtures 10% to 25%
Operation equipment 10% to 20%
Office equipment 15% to 20%
Computers 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated
at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year
in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed
at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life
of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Licence

Licence is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of
5 years.

Trademarks

Trademarks are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are
amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives
of 10 to 20 years.

Club memberships and school debentures

Club memberships and school debentures are regarded to have
indefinite useful life as there is no foreseeable limit to the period
over which it is expected to generate cash flows for the Group.

Customer lists and relationships

Customer lists and relationships are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of 2 to 10 years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
IT applications platform

IT applications platform is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful
life of 7 years.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 8 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(@) Right-of-use assets (Properties leased for own use)

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The
cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Leasehold properties are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the
lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g. a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.

135

3.1 EXRSTHE®
HE®m)
AEBELKEA(E)

(b)

HEERE

HEAENHEERKARZHEEN
WASEL R ENFERERER - B
ENRERERNK(ZEEER
FOR) BEREKREEESR - BUR
A8 8RS M R iy ] A B A BRUA
RIEHBRERSGEERRINOE
B HEMNRTERASESEE
ERTITENRBEREENTTERE
REMERRRAEEITER LR
ERERSEERLEEENTIR -
WIBURR I B F R r] 2 E
N RAE 3R 48 3 5 R0 S SR
HHR AR R

RETBERENRHBRER - B
EMBREHNMNETRESERE -
BAGKERHEERGAHERE
HEBRMERGFTHE - RFAKAH
% HERBESBENEINRREE
HIE R - HOR A R BR AT 9 R
B soh - fhREk  ME
s HENFEH(MEEHR
M R B B 5] BOUR KA &
8)) sk iE BB & E R EEARE
2 MENTEHEAENERAE
(8 o

AEENHEEREF AR BRITR
HABETR ©

FEHRE 2024/25



Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) BEASBER®)
Leases (Continued) HE®)
Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBEREBAE)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases
of low-value assets to leases of office equipment and laptop
computers that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over
the lease term and is included in revenue in the statement of profit
or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition
of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and
are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment
has been established, except when the Group benefits from such
proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset,
in which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment assessment.

BEREE 139

RERHMTHMEE @)
mrE )

HHEK L FIEGARMEEHR s AT 5
BE(RAKE)

RO HERR  HEARENAELS
AHERIERRZ M T A - 2J/ATH
BAESR H BUFFHEREE - AKEA
EENAREMEERARED BRI
ERAFE AR 2 ER SRR
B o DRRTYIRMER T AEEMETE -

B

Jilo

ZETREEN G RERKTERE
m& o WERENFED Y - AIlRES
REBRRERR/EMUEA - RN EE
RERZEMBHRREERKE D B
BEKANERNR - EUHBERT - B
W ARSEMEPEKLS - HERA
FEFFAEMEEBEARARERE
EITRIERHA

FEHRE 2024/25



Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify
at fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on
the equity investments are also recognised as other income in the
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability
or non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for
as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks
are not closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the
same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition
of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. Reassessment occurs if there is a change in the terms of
the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to
be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e. removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
lease receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and lease receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or when the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

EC Healthcare

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EXEF B R &)
Financial liabilities ETREE
Initial recognition and measurement NSHEARE
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial TREBERYFHER i’\iﬁﬁ’ﬁ_ﬂ?@“
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, UERBMAFEz2MEBE  EXRE

payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables
and accruals, lease liabilities, convertible bonds, and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon
initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into
by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in
hedge relationships as defined by HKFRS 9. Separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement
of profit or loss does not include any interest charged on these
financial liabilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of
recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains
or losses on liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss, except for the
gains or losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are
presented in other comprehensive income with no subsequent
reclassification to the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value
gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Convertible bonds

The component of convertible bonds that exhibits characteristics
of a liability is recognised as a liability in the statement of financial
position, net of transaction costs. On issuance of convertible bonds,
the fair value of the liability component is determined using a market
rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond; and this amount is
carried as a long term liability on the amortised cost basis until
extinguished on conversion or redemption. The remainder of the
proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that is recognised
and included in shareholders’ equity, net of transaction costs. The
carrying amount of the conversion option is not remeasured in
subsequent years. Transaction costs are apportioned between the
liability and equity components of the convertible bonds based on
the allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components
when the instruments are first recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and, in the case of
finished goods. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the
higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance
with the general policy for provisions above and (i) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the amount of income
recognised in accordance with the policy for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised
deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) BERETHE®
Revenue recognition WA TR
Revenue from contracts with customers EESHEA

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised
under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

@

EC Healthcare

Provision of services

Certain of the Group’s services are sold on a prepaid basis.
The service period of a prepaid package is generally one year.
Generally, there are multiple components within the package,
the deferred revenue of each component is an appropriate
proportion of the total transaction price under the contract,
allocated between all the goods and services promised under
the contract on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

Deferred revenue is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue, such deferred revenue is regarded as a contract
liability in accordance with HKFRS 15.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised when
the services have been rendered to customers.

The Group’s customers may not utilise all of their contracted
rights within the service period. Such unutilised services are
referred to as breakage. An expected breakage amount is
determined by historical experience and is recognised as
revenue in proportion to the pattern of services utilised by the
customers. Any residual deferred revenue at the end of the
service period is fully recognised in profit or loss.

Services which are not sold on a prepaid basis is recognised
in full when the services have been rendered to customers.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(b)  Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
customer takes possession of and accepts the products.

(c)  Commission income and provision of marketing services

Commission income and marketing service income are
recognised when the relevant services are rendered.

(d)  Provision of management services

Revenue from the provision of management services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line
basis because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period
in which they are incurred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

EC Healthcare

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)
Share-based payments DR AER 2R
Share option scheme I REST B

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”). The
cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 31 to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Share-based payments (Continued)
Share option scheme (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee as measured at the date of modification. Where
an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested
on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for
the award is recognised immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

BEREE 155

IR HER 2R
B AR AR B ()

sh A ARER FET IS RN SRS 14
MERAREENERMNS - AT EHER
Fis - W EZEBE—AM ISR B K
o REMRAEMRIR R SR G
BENK - AIRXRZWERCHE - M
A RIEFBIRITRTEN

MR EE RO RIEENR - BFA
BEWREGT  AELERBRENR
B IE N HERFA ST o thsh - R
OB B D ST B R B E S IRIERT A
HFtEHRE BN - RIEMZFERE
R - WMEREERBPGEE - AIE
WRSHEMEREHAREE - MEM
fe) AR FE R O B2 BN B ST & BB RERR)

RTEBRENEEZECNFTEER
BN R SRRIME D #E

FEHRE 2024/25



Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) BEASBER®)
Share-based payments (Continued) DR pAER 2SR @)
Share award scheme A7 28 BT 2l

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation
plan (the “Share Award Scheme”), under which the Group receives
services from employees as consideration for equity instruments
(shares) of the Group. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the shares is recognised as
an expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the shares granted:

- including any market performance conditions;

- excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions; and

- excluding the impact of any non-vesting conditions.

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about
the number of shares that are expected to vest. The total expense is
recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which
all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of shares that are expected to vest based on
the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of
the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Share-based payments (Continued)
Share awards given by the Group’s subsidiaries

Shares in subsidiaries of the Group are awarded to certain
registered practitioners in respect of their future services for the
Group. The fair value of such shares is recognised as registered
practitioner expenses with a corresponding increase in either the
share-based compensation reserve or non-controlling interests
within equity, depending on whether such shares awarded are
attributable to the Group or the non-controlling shareholders of the
subsidiaries.

The fair value of such share awards is spread over the expected
vesting period, which is consistent with the expected service period
of these registered practitioners. The expected service period is
reviewed annually and the expense charged to profit or loss is
adjusted prospectively from the date of change of the expected
service period.

Co-ownership scheme

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation
plan under which the invited employees who accepted the scheme
offer are required to purchase shares through an independent
trust or transfer the shares previously owned by the employees
to the trust (“Co-ownership scheme”), and such purchased and
transferred shares would be kept in the independent trust until the
end of the vesting period. Upon the end of the vesting period, the
Group would grant shares to the invited employees based on the
rules as stated in the Co-ownership scheme.

The fair value of shares granted to employees (“Award Shares”) is
recognised as employee expenses with a corresponding increase
in share-based compensation reserve within equity. The fair value
is measured at the grant date using the Black-Scholes Option
Pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the Award Shares were granted. Where the employees have
to meet the vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to the Award Shares, the total estimated fair value of the
Award Shares is spread over the vesting period, taking into account
the probability that the Award Shares will vest.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China and Macau are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
This subsidiary is required to contribute 5% of its payroll costs to
the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Interim
dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when
they are proposed and declared.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.1 EAXEEHE @)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit
or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange reserve,
except to the extent that the differences are attributable to non-
controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3.2 EAEFHE R

AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue recognition from prepaid packages

Revenue recognition on the provision of certain services is
dependent on the estimation of the utilisation pattern of each
type of services. Based on the Group’s historical experience, the
Group makes estimates of an expected amount of breakage.
The recognition of revenue from the prepaid packages involves
significant management’s judgement to determine the appropriate
amount and timing based on the Group’s accounting policy for
revenue recognition in note 3.1 to the financial statements.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3.2 EAEFHE R @

AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwiill
at 31 March 2025 was HK$754,546,000 (2024: HK$947,176,000).
Further details are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use
assets) at the end of each reporting period. Indefinite life intangible
assets are tested for impairment annually and at other times when
such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of
disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions
in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.
When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3.2 EAEFHE R @

AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geography). The provision matrix is initially based
on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate
over the next year which can lead to an increased number of
defaults in the electrothermic household appliance manufacturing
sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes
in the forward-looking estimates are analysed. The assessment of
the correlation among historical observed default rates, forecast
economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The
amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is
disclosed in note 19 to the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to
recognised tax losses at 31 March 2025 was HK$103,941,000
(2024: HK$88,592,000). The amount of unrecognised tax losses at
31 March 2025 was HK$18,788,000 (2024: HK$28,091,000).

Further details are set out in note 27 to the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purpose, the Group is organised into business
units based on their services and products. Accordingly, the Group
has three reporting segments as follows:

(@ Medical,
(b)  Aesthetic medical and beauty and wellness; and
(c)  Veterinary and other.

Segment results, assets and liabilities

Medical segment represents all medical services (excluding
aesthetic medical services) and dental services. Aesthetic medical
and beauty and wellness segment represents aesthetic medical,
traditional beauty, haircare and ancillary wellness services and
sale of skincare, healthcare and beauty equipment and products.
The veterinary and the other segment mainly represents veterinary
services and multi-channel networking and related services.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Group’s management monitors
the results attributable to each reportable segment on the following
bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and current
assets with the exception of investment properties, interests in
associates and joint ventures, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Segment liabilities include trade payables,
other payables and accruals, provision for reinstatement costs,
lease liabilities, deferred revenue, current tax payable and deferred
tax liabilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

The segment revenue of the Group is based on the type of services
provided to the customers. Revenue and expenses are allocated to
the reportable segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation of assets
attributable to those segments.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss,
which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The adjusted
profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s
profit/loss before tax except that bank interest income, other
interest income, dividend income from unlisted investment funds,
impairment loss on goodwill, impairment loss on interest in a joint
venture, unrealised losses on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, net, fair value loss on other receivables, fair value loss
on investment properties, remeasurement loss on previously-held
interest in an associate, rental income from investment properties,
gain/loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net, share of profits/losses of
joint ventures and associates and head office and other corporate
expenses are excluded from such measurement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B ERR M 5

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

4, RBESTEE @)

(Continued)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) DEBELE  BEERAEEMH)
Aesthetic medical and
Medical beauty and wellness Veterinary and other Total
E3 TPV EINT
BRRE EERE BERH @t
2025 2024 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
ZE2CRE e ZEIME ek T kol — T UE
LI HK$'000 FCHON  HKS'000 BRETCHVOM HKS$'000 WEu0]
Fisn T T FiEn Fhr FiEn AL
Reportable segment revenue THEIHRA 2,561,617 2,637,966 1,309,401 343,341 286,500 4,201,085 4,233,867
Less: Inter-segment revenue B DEREMA (54,351) (6,019 - (6522  (16814)  (60,873) (22,833
Revenue from external customers ~ SMFE U 2,507,266 2,631,947 1,300,401 336,819 269686 4,140,212 4211034
Segment results THEE (43,088) 6,779 6235 11,566 6,071 17,118 76,109
Bank interest income BFIEHA 15842 14,965
Other interest income EfFSMA 1,558 1,908
Dividend income from unlisted FLmREESH
investment funds REBA 225 1,648
Impairment loss on goodwil HEREER (115,599) -
Impaiment loss on interestinajont  —EASMEHER
venture HEEE (9,892) -
Unrealised losses on financial assets  RATFE:F AEEH)
atfairvalue through profitorloss, S EEENALZE
net BEFE (10,939)  (24,582)
Fair value loss on other receivables ~ EftEAFUEAT(E
ElE (36,039)  (1,254)
Fair value loss on investment RENELTERE
properties (68,692  (26,378)
Remeasurement loss on previously- %A A B E A E]
held interest in an associate EafENTEEE (6,921) -
Rental income from investment SEYIESiET N
properties 3,849 3,779
Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries, HEMBR AN/
net (BR)FE 268,214 84)
Share of profits less losses of joint ~~ HEAELEREF
ventures REE 1,284 2,686
Share of (losses)/profts of associates  HEEE AR (EE)/
iyl (96,715) 2,740
Others =t} (66,028) (34,663)
Consolidated (oss)/profit before tax ~ &FABHEI(EE) /
sl (101,140) 16,874
Depreciation and amortisation for the  SEATE K2
year 308,437 413,937 164,263 47,317 47,345 630,977 625,545
BRER 165 FE®RSE 2024/25



Notes to the Financial Statements

+ N
IR M RT
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, RESHTEER @)
(Continued)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) DEBELE  BEERAEMH)
Aesthetic medical and
Medical beauty and wellness Veterinary and other Total
ELL T DYEIN
BRRE ELRE BERH &t
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
-7 el —EonE Rk —EonE e CE T ek
HK$'000 BRGIEYOOM HK$'000 BGICTUOM HK$000 BRGTCIVOM HK$'000 MRG0
TAn TAL TAR b FiEn b T AT
Reportable segment assets THRENHEE 2,391,793 2848264 1,709,479 1338100 465437 463388 4,566,409 4,649,761
Investment properties RENE 104230 172,922
Interests in joint ventures NN e 31473 40,081
Interests in associates REERRNER 201,838 382,947
Financial assets at fair value through A TFEGF ALt 2
other comprehensive income YEmsREE 3,637 9,637
Financial assets at fair value through ~ RA T ABZH)
profit or loss SHEE 119,301 117,706
Consolidated total assets GAEEER 5,026,888 5373054
Additions to non-current segment  FRREFRENH
assets during the year [excluding ~ AE (A BEEK
business acquisttions) i) 95262 155244 103679 128064 13,750 86464 212691 369,772
Reportable segment liabilities HEIHEE 1,096,553 1,230,016 833,997 711,737 94,883 107,861 2,025,433 2,049,614
Bank borrowings HITRR 542,134 678,902
Convertible bonds ERESR 254,325 241,767
Consolidated total iabilties LrafRs 2,821,892 2,970,283
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers and (ii)
the Group’s investment properties, property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, goodwill and interests in joint ventures and
associates and the non-current portion of prepayments (“specified
non-current assets”). The geographical location of customers
is based on the location at which the services were provided or
the goods delivered. The geographical location of the specified
non-current assets is based on (i) the physical location of the
asset, in the case of investment properties and property, plant
and equipment, (i) the location of operations to which they are
allocated, in the case of intangible assets and goodwill, and (jii) the
location of operations, in the case of interests in joint ventures and
associates and the non-current portion of prepayments.

4.

PHEE  BEEREE®

TERHINEBEUATSENBBUENE
B ()RR EIRESNEEE P B K (i) A
SENREYME  DE -  BEERE -
BVEE BMEBERRALELERBZER
AL RIENRIBENIERB A D
(IFEHRRBEE]) - TEMMWENE
ERMIRHREIARNEROLE -
FFEIEMBI A E MM IEM BERN() EED
ERUE(GUREMEUEDE - BER
RiEME) (i) RO EAENEENE
(BB EERBENE) &) ELUE
(BN EELE N E QB MR IANTE
NHRBENIFERBEIME) °

Information about geographical areas ERMENER
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
REIBEFEHBA BEFRRBEE
2025 2024 2025 2024
kR T U EEebomkpal T U
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FTHET FHETT
Hong Kong BA 3,853,839 3,961,934 2,612,757 3,539,017
Macau SEPS 108,048 125,652 12,326 12,118
Mainland China R A 99,984 123,448 29,510 72,887
Taiwan =N 78,341 - 98,192 -
Total A% 4,140,212 4,211,034 2,752,785 3,624,022
Information about major customers EBREXERXFNER

Since no revenue derived from sales to a single customer of the
Group has individually accounted for over 10% of the Group’s
total revenue during each of the reporting periods presented, no
information about major customers in accordance with HKFRS 8
Operating Segments is presented.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B ERR M 5

5. REVENUE 5. WA
Revenue represents the value of services rendered and the net WABRHBRENEEREELERD
invoiced value of goods sold, excluding value added tax or other BEFECI T RIGER S H A EED
sales taxes and is after deduction of trade discounts. An analysis of WAEHBRERZ SHH) o WA KIBLEL
revenue and the deferred balances is as follows: RO ¢
2025 2024
—E-hF —EFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Revenue A
Medical services BERRTS 2,507,266 2,631,947
Aesthetic medical and beauty and wellness ~ FEEBE LN FER KBRS KX
services and related revenue FERI A 1,296,127 1,309,401
Veterinary and other services B %8 & HAb AR TS 336,819 269,686
Total aat 4,140,212 4,211,034
All of the above revenue is recognised in accordance with HKFRS Lt Fr A WA TR IR B B B 75 i 22 R
15. SE 155 HERR
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEFEHHBA
Disaggregated revenue information D IFBAE R
2025 2024
—E-RF —E N4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Rendering of services AR 3,762,080 3,937,058
Sales of goods HEEm 337,905 215,024
Commission income and provision of AW A RRHTTSHEERT
marketing services 40,227 58,952
Total revenue from contracts with customers KB & P& LU A B 58 4,140,212 4,211,034
Timing of revenue recognition U A FERR Y B R
Goods or services transferred at a point in -~ AR —EFSE A S & sk RIS
time 4,140,212 4,211,034
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REVENUE (continued)
Deferred balances

The following table provides information about deferred liabilities
from contracts with customers and related deferred costs.

Deferred revenue (note 26) EEWA (F3E26)
Deferred costs IRAERL AR

A ##)
B AL R

TREIEAZFRITEHNNETAERR
ERRERARER

2025 2024
—E-REF —E O
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
(570,210) (540,148)
90,034 102,866

The deferred costs primarily relate to the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer, which represent sales
commissions and bonus paid or payable to the staff and third
party agents, and are recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position. Such costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which the deferred revenue to which they relate is
recognised as revenue.

All of the capitalised deferred costs are expected to be recognised
in profit or loss within one year.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the amount of such
incremental costs charged to profit or loss was HK$295,414,000
(2024: HK$350,834,000) and there was no impairment loss in
relation to the costs capitalised.
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OTHER NET INCOME AND GAINS 6. HiWARWRFEE
2025 2024
—E_RF —E N4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Bank interest income HRITHEHA 15,842 13,665
Other interest income E At F S WA 1,558 1,908
Dividend income from unlisted investment ~ JEFTIHREE SRR EUA
funds 225 1,648
Impairment loss on goodwill B REEE (115,599) -
Impairment loss on interest in a joint venture — 1A & ¥R ERE (9,892) -
Unrealised losses on financial assets at fair 2 AF A ABENSRHEERN
value through profit or loss, net REIREEFE (10,939) (24,582)
Fair value loss on investment properties WEMFEN R THERE (68,692) (26,378)
Remeasurement loss on previously-held SRS — A A R R
interest in an associate ENETEEE (5,921) -
Rental income from investment properties ~ &9 EH S YA 3,849 3,779
Gain/(loss) on disposals of subsidiaries, net  HEWE A AIHURES,”
(B18)F8 268,214 (84)
Gain on early termination of leases, net IRATAR IER LM F R 298 1,828
Loss on disposals and write-off of property, €& RS E - BE &
plant and equipment JiEHEE (1,298) (1,751)
Government grants TR 841 538
Others (note (i)) EoAh (B E() (17,192) 37,091
Total a5t 61,294 7,662
Note: Fit 3
0) Included in “Others” is fair value loss on other receivables measured at fair [0) [EAb BB AR EF 2/ E M EKGIE
value amounting to HK$36,039,000 (2024: HK$1,254,000). #) A 1B E518.36,039,000/8 7 ( = F =Y
F 1 1,254,000/7T) °
FINANCE COSTS 7. BARERA
2025 2024
—E-RHEF —E 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FAT
Interest on bank borrowings RITERFE 47,167 58,339
Interest on convertible bonds AR ESFFE 19,189 18,265
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 24,339 24,233
Reversal of imputed interest expenses on FERRENEERN SR EE
consideration payable (1,253) -
Total N 89,442 100,837

EC Healthcare
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8. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. BR¥iAT(EE), &R

The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

AEBENBRTA (BIE) Ja A EH

(crediting): B (GEA T &IEESH -
2025 2024
—E-REF —E 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Staff costs (including directors’ BINA(BIEESH) -
emoluments)*:
Salaries, wages, allowances, bonuses, E e AR I R =—3: U {5 A
commissions and benefits in kind HeEREYN = 1,196,436 1,204,859
Equity-settled share-based payment AR SR ARG RE 2
expenses NRAX 16,308 7,989
Pension scheme contributions (defined RIRES TR (R EHRETED
contribution schemes) 60,218 62,827
1,272,962 1,275,675
Equity-settled share-based payment MRS A ST A DARE e 45 B DARR
expenses to registered practitioners D BERHN AR (GTA
(excluding those included in staff costs) B TAAEBRIN) 3,962 3,962
Auditors’ remuneration* 1% SR B & 5,954 5,674
Depreciation e
— owned property, plant and equipment —BEYE - BEREE 218,762 177,073
— right-of-use assets —FREEE 204,033 339,551
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEH 118,182 108,921
Impairment loss on goodwil AEREEE 115,599 -
Provision for loss allowance for trade B 5 WG R B R
receivables* 1,816 -
Foreign exchange differences, net* HNE ZERE FER* 2,564 2,511
Rental income from investment properties &R EWEBR LS W AR EE
less direct outgoings of HK$587,000 3 $4587,00056 7T
(2024: HK$653,000) (ZZ—PU4E : 653,000/ 7T) (3,262) (3,126)
Utilities™ IKE B 31,287 33,701
Legal and professional fees* FEREXEER 14,762 7,330
Repairs and maintenance expenses* HERREER" 33,787 27,026
IT related and office expenses* BB AR R AERT 30,148 30,816
Laundry and cleaning expenses* R BB R 9,973 10,706
Bank charges* RITER" 3,451 6,281
Insurance expenses (excluding those REBFS (MRIEER AL ATE
recognised as financial assets at fair value st ABEMSREEFS)*
through profit or loss)* 12,314 10,335
Supplies and consumables* M AR REFED 8,368 9,052
Delivery and travelling* 18 R ZE IR 25,443 22,010
# Included in staff costs are employee benefit expenses of # 8 TR ABTEEB8EFIF1,016,496,000

HK$1,016,496,000 (2024: HK$1,043,342,000) and registered practitioner
expenses of HK$247,420,000 (2024: HK$232,333,000) paid/payable to
certain registered practitioners who are also employees of the Group.

* Included in administrative and other expenses.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)(a),
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation are as follows:

EEHM

RAEEB R RIEGIZE383(1)@) ~ () * ()&
MRk AR (REEENDER) RIF2
BMAOBRBENESHMABLT

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits scheme
fees in kind contributions Total
g4 28 RK
ESHe RENFG HEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEx TAR TER
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE-E-F%=A
=t-HILEE
Executive directors HITEE
Tang Chi Fai e - 1,218 - 1,218
Lee Heung Wing ThE - 3,750 18 3,768
Lu Lyn Wade Leslie BEE = 4,800 18 4,818
Subtotal Nt - 9,768 36 9,804
Non-executive director FHITEE
Luk Kun Shing Ben BEHR - 120 - 120
Leung Yang Shih Ti Marianne 2t (RS- NF
(Appointed on 27 December 2024)  +-A-T+REZT) - 32 - 32
Subtotal g - 152 - 152
Independent-non-executive directors B/ HH7TEE
Ma Ching Nam HiE 240 - - 240
Look Andrew s 220 - - 220
AuTsun BE 120 - - 120
Subtotal Nt 580 - - 580
Total BE 580 9,920 36 10,536

In the prior years, certain directors were granted share options
in respect of their services to the Group, under the share option
scheme of the Company. Further details of the share option
scheme are set out in note 31 to the financial statements. The fair
value of such options, which has been recognised in the statement
of profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the
date of grant. During the year, the share option expenses of the
share options granted to Lee Heung Wing and Lu Lyn Wade Leslie
of HK$2,587,000 (2024: HK$4,530,000) and HK$6,764,000 (2024:
HK$10,265,000), respectively, were recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.
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BTSRRI T

9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

9. EEFHMN=

Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-Z-omE
ZR=t-HLEE

Executive directors HiTEE
Tang Chi Fai HEE - 1,218 18 1,236
Lee Heung Wing FRE - 3,750 18 3,768
Wong Chi Cheung (resigned on EEB(WZZ==F

31 December 2023) TZA=+—RE) - 3,222 14 3,236
Lu Lyn Wade Leslie 2HE - 4,800 18 4818
Wong Ka Ki Ada (resigned on FTFRAMR-T==F

1 November 2023) +—R—B#E) - 5,010 12 5,022
Subtotal it - 18,000 80 18,080
Non-executive director HHTEE
Luk Kun Shing Ben B8R - 120 6 126
Subtotal N - 120 6 126
Independent-non-executive directors BV TEE
Ma Ching Nam et 240 - - 240
Look Andrew 3 220 - - 220
Au Tsun BE 120 - - 120
Subtotal st 580 - - 580
Total At 580 18,120 86 18,786
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10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 10.

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2024: one)
of the individuals is a director for the year ended 31 March 2025
and his emoluments are disclosed in note 9. The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the other four (2024: four) individuals for
the year ended 31 March 2025, are as follows:

BEaHMAL
HE_ZT-_RAF=-A=1T—HILFE"
hEERTMALTR—R(ZZZmEF
—BIATRES - AFHHAMEOR
BEoHE-ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HLHF
B SHMOE(ZZFTMNF - mF) AL
RIFENBRE D RIS AT -

2025 2024
—E-REF —EUF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FAT
Salaries, allowances and other benefits in -~ $1 & « 28L& E M BYWHZ

kind 8,794 9,946
Performance related bonuses ERIBHIN RS 25,186 30,829

Pension scheme contributions (defined BRSEEIHR(AEEIETE))
contribution schemes) 72 69
Total a&t 34,052 40,844

The emoluments of the four (2024: four) individuals with the highest
emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2025 are within the
following bands:

iél’ﬁﬁ@'ﬂﬂ ElluTy

Eﬁﬁ:;:ﬂiiﬁ =+—HIEFE -

F&SHENA(ZZT_MF  mF)A
MRATEE

2025 2024

—E_EREF —E O

HK$4,000,001-HK$4,500,000 4,000,001/ 7T 24,500,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$5,500,001-HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 7T 26,000,000 7T = 1
HK$6,500,001-HK$7,000,000 6,500,001 7T 27,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$7,500,001-HK$8,000,000 7,500,001 7T 28,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$9,500,001-HK$10,000,000 9,500,001/ 7T 210,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$10,000,001-HK$10,500,000 10,000,001/ 7T 210,500,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$12,500,001-HK$13,000,000 12,500,001% 7T 2 13,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$17,500,001-HK$18,000,000 17,500,001% 7T 2 18,000,000/ 7T = 1
Total &t 4 4
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11. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(@)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents:

1. ZEBBZRAMWAEH

KRB B Rk AMTIRLE -

2024
—EC-RE —ZpE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Current — Hong Kong BNER— &%

Provision for the year FNEE 56,081 65,517
Over-provision in respect of prior years LA F R HRRRR (1,794) (17,157)
54,287 48,360

Current — Outside Hong Kong BBl —FABIRHN
Provision for the year FREE 7,183 4,687
Over-provision in respect of prior years LA F 2 HRRR R (2,051) (1,240)
5,132 3,447
Total current tax BEAT B 4258 59,419 51,807
Deferred tax EREF IR (48,641) (50,628)
Tax charge for the year FAFIAZ H 10,778 1,179

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject
to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and BVI.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2024: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for one
subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity under the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000
(2024: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits of this subsidiary
are taxed at 8.25% (2024: 8.25%) and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% (2024: 16.5%). Macau
complementary tax has been provided at progressive rates up
1o 12% (2024: 12%) on the estimated taxable profits arising
in Macau. Taiwan income tax has been calculated at 20% of
the estimated assessable profits for the year. Taxes on profits
assessable outside Hong Kong have been calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.
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+ an
IR M RT
1. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED . FREBBERANAEH @)
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
()  Reconciliation between tax charge and accounting (loss)/ (o) HEABRERGENRER S
profit at the applicable tax rates: (B18) a2 B ERS 5 a0
T
2025 2024
—E-RHF = Vit ==
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FBT
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELAT(E1E), w5 (101,140) 16,874
Tax on (loss)/profit before taxation, BRELAT(EE), Bz
calculated at the rates applicable to profits ~ #418 » IRAERERI TS AlA
in the tax jurisdictions concerned EEEA MR E (18,531) 951
Over-provision in respect of prior years VATE FF S B RE R (3,845) (18,397)
Tax effect of non-taxable income IEEFRBRBAZ RIBE (39,508) (6,417)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR A 2 HiIER & 72,163 22,927
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses RERRIBBE I E 6 26
Tax effect of utilisation of unused tax losses &) F i@ & i AR A&
not recognised in prior years FRIERE IS (107) (939)
Temporary differences not recognised in BTFERREREES AR
prior years but recognised during the year — FE R 5 =58 600 2,028
Tax charge for the year FRFRIBS N 10,778 1,179
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12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. ARAREERRELESREE

EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss for
the year attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
HK$167,186,000 (2024: HK$18,947,000) and the weighted
average number of 1,185,211,000 ordinary shares (2024:
1,185,211,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the year.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares as at 31 March
2025 was equal to the number of issued ordinary shares.

Diluted loss per share

The calculation of diluted loss per share is based on the
loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
HK$167,186,000 (2024: HK$18,947,000), and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 1,185,211,000 (2024:
1,185,211,000).

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amounts
presented for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 in respect
of a dilution as the impact of the share options, warrants and
convertible bonds outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the
basic loss per share amounts presented.
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BTSRRI T

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 13. Y% - BERREUREBREY
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES ¥

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) FREEHER
Ownership
interests
inland
and building Properties Furniture
held for leased for Leasehold and Operation Office Motor Investment
own use ownuse  improvements fixtures equipment equipment Computers vehicles Sub-total properties Total
BERRN
1HREFH  BEEAR
firkis BENE  ERMERE  BARKE SERE HORE L] & it REnE &t

HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§000 HK§'000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000
THL Th ThT T T TR TR ThRL THRL ThRL THL

Cost or valuation: HAME
At1 Aprl 2023 RZZZ=5MA-A 37,000 1,733,928 551,468 118,381 575,344 20,963 32,091 11,382 3,080,657 199,300 3,279,857
Addtions #E - 208,549 109327 3421 43530 1,567 2797 575 369,772 - 369,772
Business acauistions $hiE - 4216 - 2% 429 140 30 - 9,066 - 9,066
Disposals/early termination e /RA - (33,016) (40,644) (126) (615) (12) (58) (3119 (77,690) - (77,690)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHBAR - 2.191) - (847 - - - - (3,038) - (3,038
Exchange adjusiment Ef % - (6,001) (2239 (890) (411) - - - (9.541) - 9.541)
Fair value adjusiment ATESR - - - - - - - - - (26,378) (26,378)
At 31 March 2024
37,000 1,905,545 617,912 119,969 622,144 22,658 35,160 8838 3,369,226 172922 3,542,148
Representing:
Cost 37,000 1,905,545 617,912 119,969 622,144 22,658 35,160 8838 3,369,226 - 3,369,226
Valuation 2024 - - - - - - - - - 172,922 172,922
37,000 1,905,545 617912 119,969 622,144 22658 35,160 8,838 3,369,226 172,922 3,542,148
At 1 Apr 2024 RZF-MEMA-A 37,000 1,905,545 617,912 119,969 622,144 22,658 35,160 8,838 3,369,226 172,922 3,542,148
Addtions #AE = 155,519 22,98 3,430 26,807 1,903 1,131 817 212,691 - 212,691
Business acqisttions £ - 25,319 5,307 586 10,748 3,102 809 - 4587 - 45871
Disposals/carly temination HE/RAEL - (120415) (27,670) (26,528) (4,203 (1,19 (2421) o (782,356) S (782,356)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERRAT - (48,411) (27,510) (1,457) (39,857) (1,015) (2,162) (531) (120943) - (120943)
Exchange adjusiment [k = (1,284) (519) (1,455) (107) - - - (3,315) - (3,315)
Fair value adjustment AFERR - - - - - - - - - (68,692) (68,692)
At 31 March 2025 RZZZRE
Zf=t-H 37,000 1,316,323 590,508 94,545 615,622 25,529 32,52 9,124 2,721,174 104,230 2,825,404
Representing: f&:
Cost A 37,000 1,316,323 590,508 94,545 615,622 25,529 32,523 9,124 2,721,174 - 2,721,174
Valuation 2025 “TonfRE o o o o = = - - - 104,230 104,230
37,000 1,316,323 590,508 94,545 615,622 25529 32,52 9,124 2,721,174 104,230 2,825,404
Accumulated depreciation: B3t :
At 1 Aprl 2023 RoZo= 4816 949,231 264,151 2,125 220,854 11,149 17,756 6,820 1,493902 - 1,493,902
Cherge for the year Bt 1327 33051 81,108 9,63 7542 333 493 1309 516,64 - 516,624
iiten beck on disposals REESEE - (21,066) - (18) 59) - (12 (1,047) (22.589) - (22,389)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-THELR - o74) - (198) - - - - (1,172 - {1,172
Exchange adjustment EfRE - 8774 (1,039 (538 (1) - - - (5,562) - (5,562)
AL 31 March 2024 R=B-mE
Zh=t+-8 6,143 1,262,978 334220 38,009 295,607 14481 2617 7082 1,981,208 - 1,981,208
At 1 Apri 2024 RZF-REMA-A 6,143 1,262,078 334,220 38,009 295,607 14481 2,617 7,082 1,981,208 - 1,981,208
Charge for the year ERRH 1,321 294,033 123,266 8,612 5,112 4331 4,634 820 512,795 - 512,795
Written hack on disposals - (718,229) (27,402 (2,696) (3,933 (1,119) (2421) - (755,800) - (755,800)
Disposal of subsidiaries - (26,626) (22,104 (1,099) (21,227) (994) (1,308) (465) (73,823) - (73,823)
Exchange adjustment - (697) (421) (1,440) (75) - - - (2,633) - (2,633)
At 31 March 2025
=A=t-A 7470 811,459 407,559 41,386 346,144 16,705 23,582 7431 1,661,742 - 1,661,742
Net book value: BE#E:
At 31 March 2025 R-E-RE=R
=t-A 29530 504,864 182,949 53,159 269478 8,824 8,941 1,687 1,059,432 104,230 1,163,662
At 81 March 2024 R-E-mE=f
=+-A 30,857 642,567 283,692 81,960 326,537 8,171 12483 1,756 1,388,023 172922 1,560,945
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 13. 9% -  BMERRBURREY

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) EAE )
(b) Fair value measurement of investment (b) BEMENQITFEFE
properties
() Fair value hierarchy (i) AFEER
The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s TEREINAREBIZEEMER
investment properties measured at the end of the MEMARREEEREETS
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into ZAFE - WIEBEBMB
the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS WREERIE18E 4 FEG
13 Fair Value Measurement. The level into which a fair ENEESA-—BRALES
value measurement is classified is determined with B ATFEAENERTIZ
reference to the observability and significance of the RIS ERITATAEAZIED
inputs used in the valuation technique as follows: AEEMMESM SN
e Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only o  EF—EfMEE: EFEA

Level 1 inputs, i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date

° Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using °
Level 2 inputs, i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available

° Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using °
significant unobservable inputs
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment

properties (Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

13.

¥ BERZEURKREY
EAE )

(b) REMENAFEFTE®R)

() 2DFHEBRAA

Fair value measurements as at

Fair value at
31 March 31 March 2025 categorised into
2025 R-E-RF=A=+—-H
—B-RE SPERUTERN A LA E
=H=+—H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
HAYE E—ER BZER B=ER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THET FTHERT FTHET THERT
Recurring fair value EEMEATETE
measurement REME
Investment properties 104,230 - - 104,230
Fair value at Fair value measurements as at
31 March 31 March 2024 categorised into
2024 RZZTZWF=A=+—H
—Eope SEAUTERINATEHE
=A=+—H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
HWATE E—ER EER B=[ER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET
Recurring fair value REERFETE
measurement BEME
Investment properties 172,922 - - 172,922
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)

(i)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2,
or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy
is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which
they occur.

The valuations of investment properties were carried
out by an independent firm of surveyors, AP Appraisal
Limited, who have among their staff fellows of the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors with recent
experience in the location and category of property
being valued. The Group’s finance director and the chief
financial officer have discussions with the surveyors on
the valuation assumptions and valuation results when
the valuation is performed at the annual reporting date.

13. 1% - BERZBEUARREY

ESE )

(b) REMENAFEFTE®R)

(i)

B F-EREEF_ERZ
B E|ER - TREE A E
FZER - AKREZERERER
RRAFEBRZHABEES
MRS IR R ER A e -

WEMENLELRBE LAE
B 77 AP Appraisal Limited #
T -HETRERFFTAE
MmEBgga kY FiEED
TR M0 AN AR Bl B 3 B (A
K AEBEZEZENBKR
EREEVBEDERER
ST FEEREAETEE
IR FIAER -

Valuation techniques Unobservable input Range
fhER % AABERARE gE
Investment properties Market comparison approach ~ Premium (discount) on quality of  -8% to 34.6%
KEYE MGLEE the properties (2024: -10% to
MELEHREE) 10%)
-8%%34.6%
(ZF Qe
-10%E10%)
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)

(ii)

EC Healthcare

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurement

The fair value of properties is determined using the
market comparison approach by reference to recent
sales price of comparable properties on a price per
square foot basis, adjusted for a premium or a discount
specific to the quality of the Group’s properties
compared to the recent sales. Higher premium for
higher quality properties will result in a higher fair value
measurement.

The movements during the year in the balance of these

13. 1% - BERZBEUARREY

ESE )

(b) REMENAFEFTE®R)

(ii)

%

BRATERAH

MEZRFEHERTISLL
BUOAKETE - HE2E i
BMERSGF T REBEE
AEZIOHEE HERA
SEYMELEEZREEER
i (BT HIHER S LB
BELHE - MY EEER
ERETERS - HEME
EMBZATETERS -

FZEBRAFEABZEH

Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows: EFRNZ2EZHOT -
2025 2024
—E-RF —Z g
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT T

Investment properties REYE

At 1 April AU A—H 172,922 199,300
Fair value adjustment NEEFAE (68,692) (26,378)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 104,230 172,922

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised in the line item “Other net income and
gains” on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

All the gains/losses recognised in profit or loss for the

year arose from the properties held at the end of the
reporting period.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 13. 9% -  BMERRBURREY

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) EA¢ )
(c) Right-of-use assets (c) ERAEEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by RIEAEERROMNEREEE
class of underlying asset is as follows: HEREDFENT ¢
2025 2024
—E_RE —E-E
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
k=3 FExT FHET

Ownership interests in leasehold land  #{EE A EBHE
and buildings held for own use in T3 RIEFHIFT AR
Hong Kong, with remaining lease Hew - FIARAA R

terms between 10 and 50 years 10E50F (i) 29,530 30,857
Properties leased for own use HEEBANYE (i) 504,864 642,567
Total A&t 534,394 673,424
The analysis of items in relation to leases charged to profit or RESETHREHEBENER DT
loss is as follows: W

2025 2024
—E-RF —EpUF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FiBTT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 1&Z18F8& Z= 1A 51215 By A HE

by class of underlying asset: BEZIEMRX
— Ownership interests in leasehold land —HEaRAE T RETH
and buildings held for own use P B R 1,327 1,327
— Properties leased for own use —HEEE RN 294,033 339,551
295,360 340,878
Interest on lease liabilities (note 7) HEaEER(MET) 24,339 24,233
Expense relating to short-term leases EA%E BATE EAERAA 2 23,546 17,267
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(c) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
HK$180,838,000 (including HK$25,319,000 arising from
business acquisitions) (2024: HK$212,825,000 (including
HK$4,276,000 arising from business acquisitions)). This
amount primarily related to the capitalised lease payments
payable under new or renewed tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 22(c) and 28,
respectively.

(i)

(ii)

EC Healthcare

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
buildings held for own use

The Group holds a property for its medical business.
The Group is the registered owner of these property
interests. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire these property interests from their previous
registered owners, and there are no ongoing payments
to be made under the terms of the land lease, other
than payments based on rateable values set by the
relevant government authorities. These payments
vary from time to time and are payable to the relevant
government authorities.

Properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other
properties as its office, warehouses, clinics and beauty
centres through tenancy agreements. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 2 to 6 years. Lease
payments are usually increased every 2 to 3 years to
reflect market rentals.
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13. 1% - BERZBEUARREY

ESE )
(c) EREEEm@m)
ERCFBERELE A

180,838,000 7t (& & B % 7% Uk
BB A4 #25,319,0008 L) (=&
— P04 ¢ 212,825,000/ T (B4
[l 3£ 75 Uk B8 T 2 4 #9.4,276,000 7
JL)) c ZERBE BB CEE
HERHRETENENMCBERNK
B -

HEMRSRHABELHEREN
BB M5 20 BB B E22(c) M
28 °

() HEEBANEELHRET
WP E RS

AEEREBREREGRHE —
EME AERBERZEME
A EMEEA - FIBE
EMEBEANRBZED X
REREBAFEL RN
o BRBTEEGRE
ARENR - HEIZAREBRA
WRREMRRMEE
B FRIARR SN © &2 F AT
HE) - IR T EEBA
R

(i) HEEBRNYE

AEEEEBREHENG
EREMBMEER/PIE
BRE DM ERRLHE
H - HEW IR HRBE 2
E6F - HENK—KE2E
BFEEEEM - ARBRTIHHE

Gl
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(d) Assets leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out investment properties under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of 2 to 3
years, with an option to renew the leases after that date at
which time all terms are renegotiated. Lease payments are
usually increased every 2 to 3 years to reflect market rentals.
None of the leases includes variable lease payment.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in place at the reporting date will be
receivable by the Group in future periods as follows:

13. Y% - BERREURKREY
EAE )

(d) RECEHEHENEE

AEERBLEHERHZERE
ME - ZFHE RV BH2E3
FoUEHEEEE N AKMR
Bl EHER - HEMNKAER
FoEIF LFH—IR - URBRTIHHE
T ZEFHEMESREHEN

Eon
A °

7N £5 B K R 2R R ) e U s B B
TR N A EH ST E TR RRE
REEMFET

2025 2024

—EB-AF —EFE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEIT FAT

Within 1 year 1FR 3,172 2,755

1 to 2 years 1226 2,656 516

2 to 3 years 2E3F 1,771 -

Total CELl 7,599 3,271
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BA 7% R T 5

14. GOODWILL 14. B8

2025 2024

—E_RF —E N4

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

BfaE FET FATT

At the beginning of the year F4) 947,176 743,544
Business acquisitions Er g 33 111,569 203,632
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR (188,600) -
Goodwill impairment EERE (115,599) -
At the end of the year FR 754,546 947,176
2025 2024

—E_EREF —E 4

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

Cost |#N 887,251 964,282
Accumulated impairment losses ZEHREBE (132,705) (17,106)
Net carrying amount BREFE 754,546 947,176
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14. GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the cash-

14. BE @)

BB R E R

TRERREELBEM([REELE

generating units (“CGUS”) are as follows: 67 R EEREE DT
2025 2024
—E-REF —EPUF
HKs'000 [IRYIT:
FExT FAT
Spine treatment services in Hong Kong & & HEETZART 24,546 24,5646
Aesthetic dental services in Hong Kong ~ &/BZE R — Conya

— Conya - 20,885
Therapy services in Hong Kong BREEEIRT — BB

— McKenzie 18,736 18,736
Child clinic operations and medical BEBNZDIEENEERG —

services in Hong Kong - Prime Kids Prime Kids ([ Prime Kids &

(“Prime Kids CGU”) EEBM]) 35,823 35,823
Multi-channel networking and related BE R AEZ R B E) & i AR

services in Hong Kong and PRC A7 — Prime Inspire

— Prime Inspire 21,305 21,305
Provision of laboratory testing services ML RSE — B ([BRESEE

— Pathlab (“Pathlab CGU”) EAval)) 134,437 134,437
Clinic operations and medical services P P& & R B B AR 7% —New Medical

— New Medical = 127,482
Provision of obstetrics and gynaecology IRt IREERI BB RS — 2l

medical specialist services ([EBRSEEEM])

— Zenith (“Zenith CGU”) - 55,881
Provision of veterinary services IR EREARTS — SRERE 2T

- Dr. Tiong’s Clinics 33,830 39,760
Clinic operations and medical services P HTEE LB ERE —PMC

-PMC 38,465 47,764
Dental services in Hong Kong BT RIRE — e FIREE ([ EF

— Bayley & Jackson (“B&J CGU”) ERReEEEM]) 72,340 94,042
Clinic operations and medical services 2 P B I B R AR 7S — Excellent

— Excellent Power Power - 13,765
Clinic operations and medical services PHEERBERE—EE

— Surecare 21,952 21,952
Provision of comprehensive health REBREEHERESG SRS —

screening services in Hong Kong Mobile Medical

— Mobile Medical 15,312 15,312
Distribution of aesthetic devices and DIEER R R EA R BRI R

beauty related consumables and HEXARE A KBIE

leasing of aesthetic devices

— Beautisky* 192,334 192,334
Provision of veterinary services IR EREE RS — BB L

— Animal Medical Center (‘AMC CGU”)  ([E B EHR LIRS EEBNL]) 20,120 20,120
Distribution of aesthetic devices and DIHER R R EAEEEREM

beauty related consumables — BP —BP Biotech*

Biotech? 37,095 -
Distribution of laboratory equipment and D HERERELABTIREER=

reagents and provision of laboratory A% — % ga

services — Pangenia 22,396 -
Provision of aesthetic and beauty services 2t E2 & EBARKE —BMF-

— BMF- 52,078 -
Other insignificant goodwill H It N E AR R 13,777 63,032
Total &5t 754,546 947,176

BRER 187 FERSE 2024/25



Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

14. GOODWILL (Continued) 14. BE(#®)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

*

The goodwill for Beautisky CGU arose from the acquisition of Excellent
Connect.

# The goodwill for BP Biotech arose from the acquisition of EC BP Limited.

The goodwill for BMF arose from the acquisition of Rising Gold Phoenix
Limited.

The recoverable amounts of these CGUs have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations. The value-in-use calculations
use cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by
senior management covering a five-year period (2024: five years).
The discount rates applied to the cash flow projections range from
12.7% to 17% (2024: 13.9% to 17.5%) and the growth rates used
to extrapolate the cash flows of the CGUs beyond the five-year
period is 3% (2024: 3%).

Based on the assessment of the recoverable amounts of the CGUSs,
impairment loss of HK$115,599,000 (2024: HK$nil) was recognised
for the year ended 31 March 2025.

Assumptions were adopted in the value-in-use calculations of
all CGUs, which include discount rate, long term growth rate
and revenue growth rate, on which management has based its
cash flow projections to perform impairment testing of goodwill.
Management determined the cash flow projections and growth
rates based on past performance and its expectations for the
market development. The values assigned to the key assumptions
are consistent with external information sources.
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BERENR#)
* leRBEBRREEEBVNEEHREWE

Excellent Connect °

# BP Biotecht &3k B BB EMEE
RAF] o

BMF #) 75 2 Jb %k B U ¥ Rising Gold
Phoenix Limited °

ZERSEABMMHITWESEIRE
FREEEMNEE - EAEEZENER
SREEENENYBKEEMEEDN
AFHERNReRE(ZTE_0F : |
F)o o @ANRRERERENUBEN
F127%ZE17% (ZZE ZUF : 183.9% =
17.5%) MAREERSEABMN AT
HEENRERENERERIN(ZE
ZPO4F : 3%) °

BEHRcEEEMAIRESIEHF
B HE_ZE-_RAF=ZA=+— Eii
[E W R (B 518 115,599,000/8 T (=&
ZPOF BB TT) ©

RAtBMEREEABEUNERERRK
RARSK  BERBRE  REBEREXR
WagRE  EEEREHBESREH
BETHERENA EEERBEE
W%%&ﬁ%ﬁ%%?%%%%iﬁé
MR RIERE - H T EERRHE
BEINPER IR -
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14. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

The details of assumptions adopted in value-in-use calculations for
CGUs with the five largest carrying amounts of goodwill and those
CGUs with estimated recoverable amounts below their carrying
amounts following a reasonable change in key assumptions as
disclosed in the preceding paragraph are as follows:

Duration of forecast period

Discount rate

Long term growth rate beyond
the forecast period

Revenue growth rate during
forecast period

Recoverable amount

Recoverable amount in excess
of carrying amount

Beautisky
fRER
2025 2024
ZE-hE il
ERHR 5 5
FE% 15.5% 16.5%
ERSRNRBERE
3.0% 3.0%
ERERaOE R RE
3.0% 4.5%-16.5%
BRIk 331,983 347,564
BREAENTKESE
62,611 38,081

Pathlab

A
2025 2024
ZE-TF e
5 5
14.1% 14.8%
3.0% 3.0%
3.0%-6.0% 4.0%
480,966 428,717
135,254 52,976

14. BE(#®)

BERENR @)
REEESSHAMEESEE BN
EREBRBRAESEGE LA

& EENFAENRSESSM (WL

BF#E)ME - ERAEESERRA
MR FEBT -
B&J BMF PMC
ERBE BMF PMC
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
ZECAF Wil —F-TE kel —E-hF eedmlits
5 5 5 NANER 5 5
12.7% 13.9% 187%  NANEA 14.9% 15.9%
3.0% 3.0% 30% NATER 3.0% 3.0%
(50.0%)-
0.0%-1.0% 3.0%-7.0% 20%-3.0% NATER 3.0% 0.0%
122,877 242,790 182,297 NATER 136,445 210,922
- 5,161 123,007  NATNER = 86,976

During the year ended 31 March 2024, New Medical and Zenith
CGU with the goodwill of HK$127,482,000 and HK$55,881,000
were amongst the five largest carrying amounts of goodwill. Both
New Medical and Zenith CGUs were disposed of and during the
year, their respective goodwill were then derecognised. Further
details of the disposal are disclosed in note 34.
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HE-_ZE-_NF=A=+—HILFE "

New Medical & £ #37 & £ B A2
2B A127,482,0007% 7T 555,881,000
L ARAREREERANEEZ— ° New

Medical . S IR S EA B

B HE -

HEXBWBERENFARLERER - H

SR —
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14. GOODWILL (Continued) 14. BE(#®)

EC Healthcare

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group management identified certain
CGUs which continued to underperform and estimated the
corresponding carrying amounts exceeding the estimated
recoverable amounts. Based on these estimates, impairment
losses were recognised against the carrying value of goodwill of the
following CGUs.

BERENR#)

RZZE_RF=A=+—H £X&EEE
EECHMNETHERRIMENRSE
HEA - WA EAENREERHE
AR EI SR - ERZER[EF - ER
THIER S B A B RR E (B R RO
BEE -

HK$'000

FAT

Conya Group RS E 20,885
Dr. Tiong’s Clinics REREE AT 5,930
PMC PMC 9,299
B&J CGU FeFEE IR @ EE B 21,702
Excellent Power Excellent Power 13,765
Sunflower PRC Sunflower PRC 12,862
HKEVC HKEVC 11,298
Hong Kong Orthopaedic and Spine BEERIRAE 10,264
Others At 9,594
115,599

No impairment loss was recognised for the year ended 31 March
2024.

Management has assessed whether a reasonably possible change
in key assumptions, discount rate, growth rate beyond the five-
year period or revenue growth rate during the forecast period,
could cause the carrying amounts of certain CGUs to exceed the
respective recoverable amounts.
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BE_Z-_NF=A=+—HIFEY
EREDRERE ©

EEECHMERRKRR  BRX  AF
HIRIE R R HFAR AW AL RN E
BRREHEE@ERETHSELE
EEREEBER AR EIEEE -
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14. GOODWILL (Continued) 14. BE(#®)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the estimated recoverable amounts of Prime
Kids CGU, Prime Inspire, Surecare, BP Biotech and Pangenia
exceeded their carrying amounts by approximately HK$8 million,
HK$14 million, HK$3 million, HK$15 million and HK$10 million,
respectively. The growth rate would need to decrease by 1.9%,
0.5%, 1.5%, 1.6% and 1.9% during the forecast period with all
other variables remain constant, for the estimated recoverable
amounts to be equal to the carrying amounts of Prime Kids CGU,
Prime Inspire, Surecare, BP Biotech and Pangenia, respectively.

As at 31 March 2024, the estimated recoverable amounts of
Pathlab CGU, Mckenzie CGU, AMC CGU, B&J CGU and Excellent
Power CGU exceeded their carrying amounts by approximately
HK$53 million, HK$4 million, HK$8 million, HK$5 million and HK$6
million, respectively. The growth rate would need to decrease by
1.3%, 0.6%, 0.9%, 0.3% and 0.4% during the forecast period with
all other variables remained constant, for the estimated recoverable
amounts to be equal to the carrying amounts of Pathlab CGU,
Mckenzie CGU, AMC CGU, B&J CGU and Excellent Power CGU,
respectively. In addition, the discount rate would need to increase
by 0.2% or the growth rate beyond the five-year period would need
to decrease by 0.4% for the estimated recoverable amount to be
equal to the carrying amount of B&J CGU.

For all other CGUs, management believes that any reasonably
possible change in any of the key assumptions of cash flow
projections would not cause the respective carrying amounts of
these CGUs to exceed their recoverable amounts.
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BERENR @)

R-ZZE-HAF=A=+—H ' Prime Kids
WEEHENR - Prime Inspire * {28 - BP
Biotech % 3 28 #) {51 A W 2] & B8 9 B8
HEEmELNSHEEE L 148881
SEESBIT  15EEBTRI0BEET °
ETEREA - BRERHEMATEZEERTT
B REFZEDHITFE1.9% * 0.5%
1.5% ~ 1.6%%1.9% @ FEEFEEaTAl Uk
& #EHiPrime KidsIR & E £ B A7 + Prime
Inspire + {ZBE + BP Biotec & ¥7 35 fY BR &
BR% -

R-Z-ME=ZA=+—H BIRE
EEBEMN BENBECELEN - BY
BEERLRSEELSMN  RFEERRS
EA BN N Excellent PowerIR & & A BT
ST AT B € 55 BB AR ELY
53RBET - 4B&8BTL 8ABET 5
BEBTMCEEBIT EMMAHMER
RF/EAEHERT  BABRREREXS
ABEETF1.8%  0.6% * 0.9% * 0.3%
}0.4% + LAEGEI AT E S D BIiESE
REYREEELSEMN EREESEL
B HWBEERLIRESELSEMN X
AFE B IR & 2 4 B8 (7 K Excellent Powerli
SEAEMNIREE - i BIIRXRTE
ZIR®02%  KAFHEEREERFET
F%0.4% + LAEHET AT R Bl & BB S
FEEReEEEMPNRAE -

STEHRMBRESELABNME @ BEE
BE ReREETNEMRERERS
EREEAEEHIITEEHZRTRS
ELBMNREERBETKROIEE -
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B AR I 5T
15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. EFEE
Club
memberships  Customer IT
and school lists and applications
debentures  relationships Licence  Trademarks platform Others Total
EffieR EFEER -G
ERES B R #E  ERYR b Eh)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Thr T T Thr T T
Cost: A
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=£MA-A 32,268 365,561 3721 441,858 13,213 38,604 895,251
Business acquistions SRE - 33,289 - 27,428 - - 60,717
Exchange adjustment A% - - - - (681) - 681)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=F=1-H 32,268 398,870 3721 469,286 12,532 38,604 965,287
At 1 Apri 2024 R-E-NEMA-A 32,268 398,870 3,121 469,286 12,532 38,604 955,287
Business acouisitions E3li - 12618 - 99,714 = = 112,332
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAT - (60,618) - (77,858) - - (138,476)
Exchange adjustment ERfE - = = = (147) = (147)
At 31 March 2025 R-E-RE=A=1-H 32,268 350,870 3121 491,142 12,385 38,604 928,996
Accumulated amortisation: 5t
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=£MA-A - 121273 3721 76,307 3773 20,747 232,827
Charge for the year ERz - 61,139 - 41,149 1807 4826 108921
Exchange adjustment i3 - - - - (210) - (210)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=F=1-H - 182,412 3721 117,456 5,370 32,573 341,538
At 1 Apri 2024 RZE-MEMA—H - 182,412 3121 117,456 5,370 32,573 341,538
Charge for the year Eryi - 59,754 - 50,613 1,784 6,031 118,182
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAT - (52,613) - (21,368) - - (74,481)
Exchange adjustment EREE - - - - () = (77
At 31 March 2025 RZE-RE=A=1-H - 189,553 3121 146,201 7,077 38,604 385,162
Net book value: FEFE:
At 31 March 2025 R-E-R%¥=A=1-H 32,268 161,317 - 344,941 5,308 - 543,834
At 31 March 2024 R-E-NE=ZA=1-H 32,268 216,458 - 361,830 7,162 6,031 613,749
The intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are related to club ERAFGHAFHNERLEETDEBEN
memberships and school debentures in Hong Kong. No impairment EMEERERESZAM - FAYEE
loss was recognised during the year (2024: nil). RAEBE(CZZZNFE ) o
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16.

INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES

16.

REEhENER

2025 2024

—E-hEF —Z JO4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx FATT

Share of net assets DIEEEFE 31,473 40,081
(@) Details of the Group’s principal joint ventures, which are @ AEBRETBLELELEREAN

accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated HMFF AR EAR) BT ¢

financial statements, are as follows:

Name of joint venture

RELEER

Good Union Corporation
Limited ("“GUC")

EIEEARAA
([812fE])
Good Union Medical
Limited ("GUM”)
Good Union Medical
Limited (“GUM")
Hero Design Group
Limited (‘HDG")
FlEgERstERER
RR([FAED)
Tengkang Healthcare
(Hong Kong) Limited
(“Tengkang”)
BREEER(EE)
BRAR(EE])

Place of
incorporation
and business
AL R
EBReEin

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

BE

Hong Kong

U

BE

Hong Kong

Particulars of
issued and
paid-up capital
BRTR
BREARFE
HK$100

10087T
HK$100
10078 7T
HK$3,100,000
3,100,000i7C

HK$15,605,500

15,605,500/ 7T

Proportion of ownership interest

RS Ll
Group’s Held Held
effective by the by a
interest Company subsidiary
S 3L ARpR  WEAR
ERER it it
50% - 50%
50% - 50%
50% - 50%
50% - 50%
35% - 35%
35% - 35%
45% - 45%
45% - 45%

Principal activities

TEXE

Provision of repairs and
maintenance services for
beauty equipment

REARBRELER

HE IR

Sales of medication

products

HEEMER

Provision of interior design
services

}FEL == RE-I-HE%

Provision of medical
services

GUC and GUM (together referred to as “GU”), HDG and
Tengkang, the joint ventures in which the Group participates,
are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market prices

are not available.
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16. INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 16. R&

(b) Summarised financial information of the material joint
ventures, GU, adjusted for any differences in accounting
policies, and a reconciliation to the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:

g

EhENER®)

BEHBRAMERELARNE

SEPECGUI B BRI 2 Kk
AV RRREENEREEN
T

2025 2024
—E-RE —ZPU4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET

Gross amounts of GU GU#REE
Current assets mENEE 54,523 64,399
Non-current assets EMBNEE 24,382 2,036
Current liabilities mEAE (46,207) (38,682)
Equity s 32,698 27,753
Included in the above assets and STALMEENRERE

liabilities:
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 7,221 18,957
Current financial liabilities (excluding mEemAE(Es NEMmERN

trade and other payables and FRIE R FEERR AN

provisions) (21,523) (2,963)
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+ an
B AR I 5T
16. INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 16. REELENER @)
(b)  (Continued) by (&)
2024
—E_RF —E_OF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Gross amounts of GU GU#EZE
Revenue WA 75,152 84,471
Profit from continuing operations REFELEEBRRT 5,239 8,530
Total comprehensive income el ek 5,239 8,530
Dividend paid ENRE - (13,300)
Included in the above profit: FEALIUEF)
Interest expense FERE (244) (278)
Income tax expense iR (1,156) (1,913)
Reconciled to the Group’s interest BAREEFRFGUREZR ¥R
in GU:
Gross amounts of GU’s net assets GUEEFERR 32,698 27,753
Group's effective interest REEERER 50% 50%
Group’s share of GU’s net assets REERGECGUEESFE 16,349 13,877
Fair value adjustment on net assets FrsFEE 2 AT EFR
acquired 591 591
Goodwill [EES 12,383 12,383
Carrying amount in the consolidated RIF A TS mERAREE
financial statements 29,323 26,851
Summarised financial information of the Group’s shared REESEREBIFFEREGEDE
portion of joint ventures, excluding GU, that are not (PBEGU) D 2 T E R Z 45
individually material is disclosed below: BT
2025 2024
—E-REF —E 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FAT
Aggregate carrying amount of ERIZEERA SR BE
individually immaterial joint ventures 2,150 18,230
Loss from continuing operations REFELEEBREE (11,228) (1,579)
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17. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES 17. REEE DN RIRVER

2025 2024

—E_RF —E N4

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx FAT

Share of net assets DIEEEFE 2,783 120,523

Advance to an associate (note 20) ) — B A BB (EFE20) 23 21

Loan to an associate (note) | — M E AR ER(HE) 199,055 272,424

Loan from an associate KE—EBE R FHER - (10,000)

Subtotal NaEF 201,861 382,968
Less: Advance to an associate classified as & : M —RHE R RIBR(HEH
current assets under “Prepayments, [TERRIE « e RHAE

deposits and other receivables” WHIE B eREEE) (23) (21)

Total XL 201,838 382,947

Note: In accordance with the terms of the shareholders’ agreement in
connection with an associate, all the shareholders of the associate have
provided loan capital to this associate under equal terms. The loans are
unsecured, interest-free and subordinated to all external borrowings
obtained by the associate. Accordingly, this loan forms an integral part
of the Group’s equity investment in this associate and is recognised as
such. During the year, Impairment loss of HK$87,979,000 (2024: Nil) was
recognised.
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17. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

(@)

Details of the Group’s associates, which are accounted
for using the equity method in the consolidated financial
statements are as follows:

17.
(@)

REEE N B RERR ()

TXHEIIANEE B AR FIS
H5E RS ERFA M EHRERD
NN

Proportion of ownership interest

EsE 3 5]
Place of Particulars of Group’s Held Held
incorporation issued and effective by the by a
Name of associate and business  paid-up capital interest Company subsidiary Principal activities
MR LR ERITRERE AEEER N HEAR
HENRER EBgEnd  BAEE i Fits FiiF  TEEER
Kenta Clinic Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 49% - 49%  Provision of medical
services
BADEFMBRAFE BE 1,000%7C 49% - 49% REBRERE
Creative Profit Hong Kong HK$7,200 30% - 30%  Property development
Development Limited
(“Creative Profit”)
EINERBR A BE 7,200/ 30% - 30% EENE
(T8I®1)
Pangenia Inc. British Virgin HK$271,564,000 - - - Distribution of laboratory
(“Pangenia”) Islands equipments and
reagents and provision
of laboratory services
MEREWRRARRRE  EBABRES 271,564,00087T - - - DHERZRERAE
(I%3:)) DR ERERE

Kenta Clinic Limited, Creative Profit and Pangenia are unlisted
corporate entities whose quoted market prices are not
available.

On 30 November 2023, the Group acquired a 42.88% issued
share capital in Pangenia from Active Compass Limited
and Victor Mind International Limited for an aggregate
consideration of HK$115 million. On 13 June 2024, the Group
completed the acquisition of an additional 12.38% issued
share capital in Pangenia from Success Synergy Limited
and Bio-Gene Limited for an aggregate consideration of
HK$33.2 million, increasing the Group’s interest therein from
42.88% to 55.26%. Upon completion, the Group obtained
the controlling stake in Pangenia to direct its management
and business. Accordingly, Pangenia became a subsidiary
of the Group and its results have been consolidated into the
financial statements of the Group thereafter.
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KNE42.88% @ BREA11568
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7N £ [B) 52 Ak U B Success Synergy
Limited &2 {475 B BR A B3 A K37
TRRAIM2.38% M B BT AR « 48
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17. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 17. REEE QN TINRER @)

()  Summarised financial information of the material associates, (b) HEIBEREMEFEELAZRNE
Creative Profit and Pangenia, adjusted for any differences REEE N B BIF R 3 b B 75 &8 kY
in accounting policies, and a reconciliation to the carrying E R AR E MR REERN Y
amounts in the consolidated financial statements, is disclosed IREETNT
below:

Creative Profit AIF
2025 2024
HK$’°000 HK$ 000
FHET AT
Gross amounts of Creative Profit Bl R a%E
Current assets RENEE 1,889,239 1,687,672
Current liabilities mEAE (974,404) (915,473)
Non-current liabilities JEmEBE (916,438) (768,782)
(Deficit)/equity (Es4t) e (1,603) 3,417
Included in the above assets and SALMEERAERE
liabilities:
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFEEEY 35,283 35,778
Gross amounts of Creative Profit BIF4a%E
Revenue WA = -
(Loss)/profit from continuing operations 3 & 1348 4% & 2 75 1)
(&18),/ @ (911) 2,635
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2E(EER) WaiEsE (911) 2,635

Reconciled to the Group’s interest in BN EE E i Al FfE 25 R
Creative Profit
Gross amounts of Creative Profit's net  BIF|(&1&), B EFEHEEE

(liabilities)/assets (1,603) 3,417
Group’s effective interest AEEERER 30% 30%
Group's share of Creative Profit’'s net AN B fE(H AR & ZHE

assets = 1,025
Group’s share of shareholders’ loans ~ AEBE DR ER 199,055 272,424
Carrying amount in the consolidated RERE SRR REE

financial statements 199,055 273,449
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17. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

(b)

17. REEE QTR (@)

(Continued) by (&)
Pangenia o
2024
—TNF
HK$’000
FAT
Gross amounts of Pangenia o4
Non-current assets IEMENVEE 91,191
Current assets MENVE E 249,752
Current liabilities mENEE (64,919)
Non-current liabilities B AL (3,834)
Equity i a 272,190
Included in the above assets and liabilities: AL MEENREE
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEFEEY 75,174
Gross amounts of Pangenia PR CEC
Revenue WA 111,693
Profit for the year F R 4,000
Total comprehensive income FHWRERE 4,000
Reconciled to the Group’s interest in Pangenia  BiZN £ B s co i s I BR
Group’s effective interest REEERER 42,888
Group’s share of Pangenia’s net assets AEEEEFEEEFE 116,715
Group’s share of shareholders’ loan AEBMDGREER (10,000)
Carrying amount in the consolidated financial WirE B Ik A AREE
statements 106,715

Summarised financial information of the Group’s shared
portion of the remaining associates that are not individually
material is disclosed below:

REBOEH T EBIFEEREE R
AN I E R T -

2025 2024
—E_RF —E P
HK$°000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Aggregate carrying amount of Bt N R e ARTA A28
associates 2,783 2,783
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18. INVENTORIES 18. &
(@)  Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position @ HZAEMBKRARNGFERTR
comprise:
2025 2024
—ECRE — T UL
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Skincare, healthcare and beauty EE - RERERRBRESR
equipment and products 54,918 16,186
Medications, consumables and other %4 - F#T & L i fE &
supplies 97,627 90,901
Total &t 152,545 107,087
(o)  The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an b)) EREAXVITABENGTESSE
expense and included in profit or loss is as follows: DT ¢

2025 2024
—E_RF —EPOF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T

Carrying amount of inventories sold EHERERENTERmAE

and consumed 797,951 666,132
19. TRADE RECEIVABLES 19. EZEWRIE
2025 2024
—E_RF =Syt ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT THET
Trade receivables 5 eI 341,609 263,016
Less: loss allowance for trade receivables i : & 5 EW R IBEHEBRE (17,901) -
323,708 263,016
All of the trade receivables are receivables from contracts with FEE SEUFIEY BB BB REE
customers within the scope of HKFRS 15. RBIZE15EBEAMNREEFE LB
FKIE o
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 19. EZ WA E (&)

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit card settlements and other institutional customers in
respect of provision of medical, aesthetic medical and beauty and
wellness and veterinary and related services. The credit period is
generally 0 to 120 days for the credit card settlements from the
respective financial institutions and other institutional customers.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is
as follows:

AEBEEFHNEHERFETEBNER
REEUERREERER BES2XAUR
ERNEERE AN ERE M RIS &
HthEEF B SomigE R E g
REFHEMNEARLEENERE—R
BOE120K - REE HBEERRIEHEXR
WElREWIE - maEsnmesRE
BETHEN AEBTEREESRE
WO TE 45 8045 B (T 44 S s BB EL A
ERHEEN - ESREWGRIETETE °

HERGHR  REEEHELNES
FEWCRIE (BRI B BB ) MR S T a0
T

2025 2024

—ZE_RF —E g

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET T

Within 1 month 1EAR 194,013 156,754

1 to 3 months 12318 A 54,137 57,652

Over 3 months 3ME B A E 75,558 48,610

Total =X 323,708 263,016
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

19. EZEWRE®)

B2 REGRREBRERENES T

2025 2024

—E-FRFE —ZpU4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

T FAT

At beginning of year REH] = -
Provision for loss allowance of trade B SRR RBEBEEE

receivables (note 8) (MFzE8) 1,816 -

Acquisition of subsidiaries W B A A 16,085 -

At end of year RER 17,901 -

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical
region, product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by
letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are
written off if past due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

EERE ARG ERBEEREETR
EDH - A EBHEEER - BEX
TEREGRUBERN (ANiZ iR R
- EmBE  ERFRENFRARE
REXKEMTAEERRNEBEEHLES
DINEREP I MHARREEE - %
ATERBREERINEAR  EREREEE
NRRBEERAIESEEBESRMF -
2RO BOR SRR B AR R TER Y & 3 A]
XEEM - —RME - WE S EWIA
BHBEE-—FATEXRFINTERY
2 AlSe T AN

TXHIIE AR EERAENAEEE
SRMFIBEERRKAER :

Past Due
ks
Less than More than
Current 3months  3to 6 months 7to 12 months 1 year past due Total
] HR3fEA 326187 TE2F  AERE-F Eh)
Expected credt loss rate BHEEREE 0.01% 0.01% 0.01% 0.41% 56.23% 5.24%
(Gross canying amount (HK'000) BEAG(TETL) 178,100 80,380 30,228 21236 31,665 341,600
Expected credit losses (HK$000) BREEEE(TET) 5 2 1 87 17,806 17,901

Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 37.
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 20. FERIE - B R HAMERK
RECEIVABLES b |
2025 2024
—E_RF —E-PUFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Prepayments (note) TERTFRIE (PR 114,475 141,085
Deposits e 123,092 141,805
Other receivables E h FE W R 222,848 251,692
460,415 534,582
Portion classified as non-current DI RIERNEIRER
— Rental and other deposits — e REMZE (102,052) (113,636)
— Prepayments and other receivables — TR RRIE K H A FE U EIR
(note) (FfF3E) (132,255) (195,317)
Current portion BIEAER > 226,108 225,629
Note: In connection with certain acquisitions in previous years, the Group M RBAFENETUREMNS ASEEH®
prepaid HK$138,340,000 to certain practitioners in respect of their future ETEBEAZAAEERHENORBAKS
services to the Group. F817138,340,000/8 T °
The amounts included in prepayments as at 31 March 2025 were RZEZRAF=A=1+—Ht ABNKE
HK$52,075,000 (2024: HK$66,409,000), of which HK$14,334,000 (2024: #) % B8 /52,075,000 70 (ZF Z IO 4F -
HK$14,334,000) is expected to be charged to profit or loss within 12 66,409,000% 7T ) + H #114,334,000% 7T
months from the end of the reporting period. (ZZ =4 : 14,334,000 70 ) FEEAHE 7

HEHRES 1 8 A AR BRI -

The above other receivables are unsecured, interest-free and Lt E b ENGRIE BB - £ 8 KA
recoverable within one year, except for amounts of HK$77,031,000 R—FRIE - 2 5E77,031,0008 7T
(2024: HK$83,846,000), including an amount of Nil (2024: (ZZ =P+ : 83,846,000 70) (BIER
HK$5,836,000) bearing interest at 2.5% to 5% per annum for TR FIRFFIE2 5% ES5%ET EME
2024, which are expected to be recovered after more than one BT (—Z 4 : 5,836,000/ 7T) ) TBEE
year; and HK$33,847,000 (2024: HK$32,347,000) which is AR B — 12 1 E 5 33,847,000/ T
secured by a property interest and the non-controlling interests in (ZZ U4 : 32,347,000 7C) A — 18
two subsidiaries, interest-bearing at the prime rate and expected to W2 R R K PR TR P B R B A FE I R
be recovered after more than one year. @EEAR - RHEEEF R ERTEEE

RBE—F &Y
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 20. EAFIE RERHEMERR

RECEIVABLES (continued)

The above other receivables include amounts due from non-
controlling interests, joint ventures and an associate of
HK$186,447,000 (2024: HK$217,463,000), HK$21,551,000 (2024
HK$21,550,000) and HK$23,000 (2024: HK$21,000), respectively.
The balances are unsecured, interest-free and recoverable
on demand, except for an amount of HK$12,629,000 (2024:
HK$65,587,000) which is expected to be recovered after more
than one year; and amounts of HK$46,229,000 bearing interest at
2.5% to 5% or the prime rate for 2024, which are expected to be
recovered after more than one year (including an amount due from
non-controlling interests as mentioned in the preceding paragraph).

The above other receivables include an aggregate amount of
HK$49,629,000 (2024: HK$98,305,000) which is measured at
fair value in accordance with terms and conditions set out in sales
and purchase agreements of certain acquired businesses in the
previous years. The fair value losses, net, of HK$48,676,000 (2024:
HK$1,254,000) were recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss during the year.

The above prepayments include an amount prepaid to a joint
venture of HK$1,817,000 (2024: HK$4,771,000) which is trade in
nature.

The non-current portion of prepayments and other receivables
includes prepayments to contractors of HK$7,500,000 (2024:
HK$8,240,000) in respect of the progress payment for renovations
under progress, of which HK$7,416,000 (2024: HK$5,602,000) is
prepaid to a joint venture.

The financial assets included in the above balances were neither
past due nor impaired as at 31 March 2025 and 2024, for which
there was no recent history of default. As at 31 March 2025 and
2024, the loss allowance on the financial assets was assessed to
be minimal.
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TR EMERRERSERASE A
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FUREBEBNEEHZET I HOIER L
BHEATENE - FRRERIBRER
P RE R R A A 18R 58 448,676,000
BT (ZZT 4 1,254,000/ 7T) ©

FENZREAEEMN —EEELE
B FRIE1,817,000/8 0 ( —ZF — IO 4F
4,771,000/870) - BRESME -

T8 < 3008 K H Ath B U R IE B9 FE BN B 6
BREMETFRT IRENERE N KM
A GE P8 1E &9 78 5 3K 18 7,500,000 7 T
—Z N4 : 8,240,00058 T) 0 HAP
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BIT)EBEMN T —HEAEDE-
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=+ 23
B AR I 5T
21. FINANCIAL ASSETS 21, TREE
(a) Financial assets at fair value through other (a) BRAFEFAHMEEE
comprehensive income HNEmEE
2025 2024
—E-RHF —E 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Unlisted equity investments IE MR E 3,637 9,637
The Group designated the above investments at fair value REEETE LR ERAFERA
through other comprehensive income, as the investments Hin2EWE TV BRREEIRET R
are held for strategic purposes. As at 31 March 2025, the HIEENmMEE - RZE_hF=
investments held by the Group were principally engaged A=+—8 x&EFBHEREE
in market and data research and provision of medical and ZARMSRBERERIRHER
related services. No dividends were received on these AR - F AW EIENE %
investments during the year (2024: Nil). ERENKRB(ZEZWF : &) -
(b) Financial assets at fair value through profit or (b) BRAFEFABERNERE
loss E
2025 2024
—E-RF —E P4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Non-current IERE
— Unlisted equity investments —JEEMRARE 15,619 25,510
— Unlisted fund investments —JELEMESKE 19,452 20,827
— Unlisted note investments —ELMEREKE 8,001 -
— Investments in life insurance policies — ASRIRIEE 59,071 58,190
Subtotal gt 102,143 104,527
Current TED
— Listed equity investments — EmlEAREE 885 899
— Unlisted fund investments —JELTEASKEE 16,273 12,280
Subtotal /NET 17,158 13,179
Total &t 119,301 117,706
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME 22 BERASEBYURERF

DEPOSITS N
(a) Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits comprise: (a) BReFFSSEYWURTEHRERE
75

2025 2024

—E_HEF —E=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET T

Cash at banks and on hand RITEREFEES 1,003,913 553,625
Time deposits with original maturity REH B BB =8 A

over 3 months TFHTFER 50,980 39,511

1,054,893 593,136

Less: Time deposits with original B REEIEEB=EAMN
maturity over 3 months TEHATF K (50,980) (39,511)

BHeEMIBEEEEW 1,003,913 553,625

Cash and cash equivalents

RITHEFRERITERA R XRAZ
B XREFE - EHFRNEFRBE
TR(RFAREEN SRS H K
MiE) » & EHIF A R BREA

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made for
varying periods depending on the Group’s immediate cash
requirements, and earn interest at the respective time deposit

rates. The bank balances and time deposits are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

Included in cash and cash equivalents, HK$4,123,000 (2024:
HK$4,141,000) are denominated in Renminbi and deposited
with the banks in Mainland China. These deposits are not
freely convertible and the remittance of funds out of Mainland
China is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the
Government of the PRC.
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME

DEPOSITS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

22 HEeERBEESEBEYURERE
ESE )

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

(b)

BMEEEELERENYR

TRHVNAEERELTBAELR
BEHEE  BRRENMIFREE
BoMEIHMELRBERZEAER
EREBIARRNBASREGNAE
NGRS RERTHOERR
ERBMERERENAE -

Bank Lease Convertible
borrowings liabilities bonds Total
BB HEAR MHRES 5z
(Note 25) (Note 28) (Note 32)
(PizE5) (PizE28) (PizF32)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THx THT TAL THT
At 1 April 2023 W=2==¢£mA-A 489,008 813,128 230,132 1,532,268
Changes from financing cash flows: BERSRELED:
New bank borrowings AERITET 686,641 - - 686,641
Repayment of bank borrowings BEBTEN (500,014) - - (500,014)
Capital element of lease rentals paid EREERENERSES - (323,112) - (323,112)
Interest element of lease rentals paid EREERE M EDS - (24,2393) - (24,239)
Interest paid on bank borrowings ENRITERFIE (52,967) - - (52,967)
Interest paid on convertiole bonds ERATRRESHS - - (6,630) (6,630)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BLERETFE 7 28185 133,660 (347,345) (6,630) (220,315)
Exchange adjustments EAAR - (2,690) - (2,690)
Other changes: Hitt8s .
Increase in lease liabilties from entering into AT HAEEHHE
new leases during the year BEEN - 206,546 - 206,546
Increase in lease liabilties from business ~~ £BAHEHAE
acquisitions BEEM - 4276 - 4276
Decrease in lease liabilties from disposal ~ HE—FIHBAREHR
of a subsidiary HE&ERD - (1,333 - (1,333)
Early termination of leases AR RS - (13,789 - (13,788)
Interest on lease liabilties HEEETIE - 24233 - 24,233
Interest on bank borrowings FATRHFIE 56,234 - - 56,234
Interest on convertible bonds* RRESHE - - 18,265 18,265
Total other changes EtEEEE 56,234 219,934 18,265 294,433
At 31 March 2024 RZB-ME=A=1+-H 678,902 683,027 241,767 1,608,696
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME 22 HEeERBEESEBEYURERE

DEPOSITS (Continued) ()
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) BMETHFELEEENHER
financing activities (Continued) (#&)
Bank Lease Convertible
borrowings liabilities bonds Total
RITEH HEEE MRRES H)
(Note 25) (Note 28) (Note 32)
(Hf&t25) (Hfzk28) (Mf32)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TAL ThL S TAL
At 1 April 2024 RZBE-MENA-A 678,902 683,027 241,767 1,603,696
Changes from financing cash flows: BERSTEZED:
New bank borrowings HERITED 112,500 - - 112,500
Repayment of bank borrowings EEBIER (247,841) = = (247,841)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BERAERSHERES = (286,590) = (286,590)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BEREERSHAEHD = (24,339) = (24,339)
Interest paid on bank borrowings BRRTERHNE (48,579) = = (48,579)
Interest paid on convertiole bonds BRAARESHE - - (6,631) (6,631)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BERETREZ E84H (183,920) (310,929) (6,631) (501,480)
Exchange adjustments ERAE - (638) = (638)
Other changes: HAth#g
Decrease in other payables HihERZERD (15) - - (15)
Increase in lease liabilties from entering into AT HTAEEHHE
new leases during the year BN - 150,131 - 150,131
Increase in lease liabilties from business ~ ¥BAHEHHEEARFEM
acquisitions - 25,319 - 25,319
Decrease in lease liabilties from LEMBARESHERRE
disposals of subsidliaries e = (22,094) = (22,094)
Early termination of leases RN = (2,484) = (2,484)
Interest on lease liabilties HEBERNE = 24,339 = 24,339
Interest on bank borrowings FATBFRFIE 41,167 = = 41,167
Interest on convertible bonds* MR ESHE = = 19,189 19,189
Total other changes Ehgsae 47,152 175,211 19,189 241,552
At31 March 2025 W-B-REZA=1-R 542,134 546,671 254,325 1,343,130

* The interest on convertible bonds of HK$19,189,000 (2024:
HK$18,265,000) charged for the year included a coupon payable
of HK$6,631,000 (2024: HK$6,630,000) included in other payables
and accruals. The coupon payment of HK$5,850,000 (2024:

HK$14,410,000) was settled by the Group during the year.

EC Healthcare
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¥ 5% £.5,850,000/8 0 ( ZF Z 4 -
14,410,000/ 7)) °

Annual Report 2024/25



Notes to the Financial Statements
B ERR M 5

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME
DEPOSITS (continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash
flows for leases comprise the following:

22,
ESE )

REeRASEENURENT

(c) HEMNRERHARE

IIANGEBRERERNEESHE
FRAT&IA

2025 2024
—E_REF —E_OF
HK$'000 HK$:000
FiEx FA&T
Within operating cash flows KB REN 23,546 17,267
Within financing cash flows BERSREN 310,929 347,345
334,475 364,612
These amounts relate to the following: ZESTEELTEIEER
2024
g R 2 —EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FA&T
Lease rentals paid BEfNHEERS 334,475 364,612
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23. TRADE PAYABLES 23.

An ageing analysis of the trade payables, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

BZRARE

Z SN RENRB DT LR EBHE
LN

2025 2024

—E-RHEF —E_NE

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHT TFET

Within 1 month 1E AR 67,660 47,442
1 to 2 months 1228 A 19,742 12,379
2 to 3 months 2% 3@ A 11,824 2,611
Over 3 months 3ME AL 6,806 18,662
Total A&t 106,032 81,094

The trade payables are non-interest bearing and generally have
payment terms within 60 days.

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 24,

Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average
payment term of three months except for those specified below.

B IRNRIBETFE - R E— & /R60
RIAA e

Hitp B RERETER

HMENRASTEE  FONFER
=8A - ETIFEEERI -

2025 2024

—E_REF —E O

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHET FAT

Other payables and accruals HAfEN FRIA R EETE A 659,537 575,565
Provision for reinstatement costs BERAEE 27,456 28,803
686,993 604,368

Portion classified as non-current DI RIERNEIRER

— Provision for reinstatement costs = N (26,392) (21,009)
— Other payables —H b e3R8 (229,233) (213,032)
Current portion BIHAEE 2 431,368 370,331

Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average
payment term of three months except for those specified below.

The current portion of other payables include amounts due to non-

controlling interests of HK$19,445,000 (2024: HK$36,867,000),
which are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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Br N XHEBAE SN - MM RIBE G
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24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)

Other payables include payables amounting to HK$323,140,000
(2024: HK$301,685,000), which are related to the business
acquisitions during the current and prior years, of which
HK$317,523,000 (2024: HK$213,032,000) is expected to be
settled after more than one year.

The provision for reinstatement costs represents management’s
best estimate of the Group’s liabilities of the costs of dismantling
and removing the leasehold improvements and restoring the sites
on which they are located.

25. BANK BORROWINGS

At 31 March 2025, the bank borrowings were repayable as follows:

24,

25.

HihENRERESER @)

Ho b [ 1 5118 B 3R FE 1 5/ I8 323,140,000
BT (ZZ -4 : 301,685,000 7T)
HNDBEAAFERBEFEMERK
8% HrP317,523,000/8 7C( —F — U4 -
213,032,000/ 7 ) TE i B3R — FF 1%
AT e

EERABRBEEEEHYASEARRRF
HEBGEHEEMRKEARKEHREY
KREMENRAN R EZ REMGR -

RITER

NRZZE-_RE=A=+—0 - BIEX
FEEFHAIT

2025 2024
—E_RF —E-JUFE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T
Within 1 year or on demand —FRHFIRELK 252,955 136,912
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFA 289,179 253,232
After 2 years but within 5 years MEBRBREFA - 288,758
Subtotal e 289,179 541,990
Total =18 542,134 678,902
2025 2024
—E_RE —E-E
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T

Bank borrowings HRITIERK
— unsecured — IR 542,134 678,902
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25.

26.

EC Healthcare

BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

Certain of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment
of covenants relating to certain of the Group’s financial ratios,
as are commonly found in lending arrangements with financial
institutions. If the Group were to breach the covenants, the drawn
down facilities might be subject to repayment immediately. It is also
provided in the facility agreement for the unsecured bank loans of
HK$538,484,000 (2024: HK$671,843,000) that if the controlling
shareholder of the Company, Mr. Tang Chi Fai, Eddy, is not or
ceases to be the controlling shareholder of the Company, owning
less than 51% of the total issued shares of the Company, then
the lender is entitled to request immediate repayment of these
outstanding loans and all accrued interest.

At 31 March 2025, none of the covenants relating to the drawn
down facilities had been breached.

DEFERRED REVENUE

The deferred revenue is mainly related to the provision of medical,
aesthetic medical and beauty and wellness services and multi-
channel networking and related services.

The service period for medical, aesthetic medical and beauty
and wellness services is generally one year and all customers are
required to prepay the packages in full prior to utilisation of those
services.

Upfront payment is required for certain customers for the provision
of multi-channel networking and related services.

The amount of revenue recognised for the year ended 31 March
2025 (2024: year ended 31 March 2024) that was included in
deferred revenue as at 1 April 2024 was HK$540,148,000 (1 April
2023: HK$596,247,000).

All of the deferred revenue as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 is
expected to be recognised as revenue within one year from the end
of the reporting period.
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25.

26.

RITER@#)

AEBAETROIBERAFTEXNBBARN
EEETHBLLERNZLN%E - HIRE
T WERNE RN BSRER A
BELZHH - WAEBEERZY BEiR
HBERLE AT AE B BN RSB IE o EIIAIRTT
B 51538,484,0008 0 (=& — I F
671,843,000/ 7T ) B gL & W ek TN AR E -
il 2 X B) A 152 AR % B0 A5 5 AR 0 FE Bk,
THEBEAEARREEBITRMHAEN
51% AR AR D GHIERBR - BIERA
ERERIAEEZERAEENERR
FrBRERTHIE °

R-EBE-_RAFE=A=+—0 #HEEE
BB IREEERNIZY -

IESEW A

EEWA T BERIBHER  XBBHU
NERNEERBIAR S REME S H
NMARERG AR -

BE ZRBEUANERRELRBH
REPBER—F - MABEPRERZ
ERBRILAZREANERER -

ETEFPARREHRZ RER
BARRTS SIS TRAAR

235 M AR

“EoNENA-BNEERABER
HEe_Z-_RAF=-A=-+—HIFE(Z
ZoNFHEENF=A=+—
B IFFE) R WA £ 58540,148,000
BIL(ZE=FWMA—A :596,247,000
BT o

R-E-_RAEN T _NF=ZA=+—

BT R WA TR A & R R
—FREBRBEA -
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BA 7% R T 5

27. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial

position represents:

27. GEUBRRARANFAER

(a) HAEMBMRK AR BIEATI IR

2025 2024
—E-RfF —E N4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 4 R&E S FI 1S5 8 &
the year 56,081 65,517
Tax provision arising from business RSB ELENRIBRE
acquisitions 3,841 4,014
Disposal of subsidiaries HEH B AR (1,964) -
Provisional tax paid AT EESEIE (72,721) (49,955)
(14,763) 19,576
Balance of Profits Tax provision relating H2:@ 7t £ /E A B T 5%
to prior years BiEER 29,588 9,170
14,825 28,746
Provision for tax outside Hong Kong BB IERE 7,183 4,687
Total Azt 22,008 33,433
Represented by: RE
Current tax recoverable BEEEE (16,475) (18,737)
Current tax payable FETENERFRIA 38,483 47,170
Total = 22,008 33,433
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27. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities

27. ZEMBEMRRKRAMWETEH
(&)

(b) EEHE(EE) EfF

Temporary
Temporary differences
differences between Fair
between  depreciation value
right-of-use and adjustment
assets therelated  arising from
Unused andlease  depreciation business
tax losses liabilities allowance  combinations Total
ERELER NEENBHE
KBR HEAEZH RN REBAHEL
HEEE WERER EHEE  WATERE -y
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT FAL TAT TAL
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=FEA—H (62,940) (7,465) 16,710 100,954 47,259
Credited to profit or loss RERFTA (25,929) (2,075) (5,759) (16,877) (50,628)
Business acquisitions £BUE - - 456 10,018 10,474
Disposal of a subsidiary LE—BHEAT 271 - 42 - 313
At 31 March 2024 and 1 Aprl 2024 H=Z-NF=ZA=+—H
R-Z-NEEA-A (88,592) (9,540) 11,455 94,095 7418
Credited to profit or loss RE&FTA (16,184) (1,377) (12,870) (18,210) (48,641)
Business acquisitions £ - = (2,211) 18,535 16,264
Disposal of subsidiaries HENERR 835 50 1,150 (10,559) (8,524)
At 31 March 2025 RZZZRE=R=1-H (103,941) (10,867) (2,536) 83,861 (33,483)
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27. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 27. MEMBERARANFAER

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of
financial position

(&)

R IR R R

2025 2024
—E_EREF —E O
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FHT
Deferred tax assets recognised in the AR E BT AR R R FERR Y
consolidated statement of financial EERIEEE
position (110,527) (86,389)
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RGBSR R IR
consolidated statement of financial RIEFIEAE
position 77,044 93,807
Total aat (33,483) 7,418

Deferred tax assets and liabilities not recognised

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect
of tax losses arising in Hong Kong and the Mainland China of
HK$29,977,000 (2024: HK$28,091,000) as it is not probable that
future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised will
be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses
do not expire under current tax legislation, except for the tax losses
of HK$16,967,000 (2024: HK$23,263,000) relating to the Group’s
entities in the Mainland China, which will expire within five years.

At 31 March 2025, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings
that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors, it is
not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings
in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled approximately HK$3,934,000 at 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$1,590,000).
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AERELERREEREE

AEETERNEBRFPRAANMELED
FHIEE54829,977,000/8 7T ( —ZE P4 ¢
28,091,000 ) ERBRLER B E E -
REAMBBEHEAEERE BB T8
B AR PR E RR W55 ) A DA F0 AT 2h A A S
B RIBERITBE  HEBEETER
B WEBEAEERTE AN E R
TR I8 E51816,967,000/8 70 ( — T — PO 4F ¢
23,263,000/ 7T ) Br AN - EGHR AF A E
H o

MN-EBE-_RF=A=+—0 " HERK
& BN B A L 2 B A B B R EE
o 2 B i B 2 TR R R R AT (R T R
B-EERAE HEMBARBTIER
AERAKRDRZSZAF - RZFT=ZH
F=A=+—H BE@ETERNHLHBEL
ARENABRECHBERE  BFZE
AR A 493,934,000 (= -
£ 11,590,000/ 7T) °
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27. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Continued)

Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of

financial position (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities not recognised

(Continued)

At 31 March 2025, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings
that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiary
established branch in Taiwan. In the opinion of the directors, it
is not probable that the subsidiary will distribute such earnings
in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investment in subsidiary in Taiwan for
which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled

approximately HK$2,818,000 at 31 March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group did not have material

unrecognised deferred tax liabilities.

28. LEASE LIABILITIES

At 31 March 2025, the lease liabilities were payable as follows:

27.

28.

mEMBRRRABFEHR
()

SREMBRRROER®E)
AERETEHEEERAEHE)

R-ZE-_RAFE=A=+—H AREFL
BILERBERLZWEB AR ABNTE
A RIER WA ERIELERE - £5
RE - HHEHBARBITERATERR
RAORZERBF - RZFE_RHF=H
=+—H BE/ENBATIREMNRK
BREREHEEGr EREHATAH
#92,818,000/8 7T °

RIE-_RAER T -_NFE=ZA=+—
B AEBITESAKBERAECHESR

(==
=]

o

HESE

RZEBE-_RAF=A=+—H - EROH
EaENT

2025 2024

—E_RF —E g

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT T

Within 1 year 1R 232,644 255,461
After 1 year but within 2 years 16 LAEE2 £ 168,755 180,962
After 2 years but within 5 years 2F A H1BE5 F 7 143,933 231,161
After 5 years 5%+ 1,339 15,443
Subtotal NEF 314,027 427 566
Total A&f 546,671 683,027

EC Healthcare

216

Annual Report 2024/25



Notes to the Financial Statements
B ERR M 5

29. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND

29, B - RERBRE

DIVIDENDS
(a) Movements in components of equity (a) #ERZDEE
The recondiliation between the opening and closing balances REBEREER S DR A & H
of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity BRIV G EEEEFR -
is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in NEEREZR SO N EY EERE
equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s individual B E B HEEHIMT -
components of equity between the beginning and the end of
the year are set out below:
Share-based Fair value
Share Share  Contribution  compensation Capital reserve  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve  (non-recycling) losses Total
HRARHH ATERE
B& BiEE HERE Hebfk BAfkE  (FEARR) 2itER it
(note 29(d)i)  (note 29(d)i))  (note 29(d)v)  (note 29(d)vi)
(Koo (Kieooihi)  (KEoid)  (ko9(al)
Note HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000
it T TATL TATL T AL TATL TATL T
A1 Apil 2023 W=2==EWm5-R 1 2017102 - 012 66,322 (3.900) moos) 132007
Dividend declared EEL 290) - - - - - - (55,669) (55,689)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for heyear ~ £NEER2 EERLESE - - - - - - (22249) (2205)
At31 March 2024 and 1 Apr 2024 WIECMEZA=T-B
RZEMERA-R 12 201,702 -+ 32122 66,322 (3900 (36085 1,244,173
Dividend declaed BERRE 290) - - - - - - (1852) (11,852)
Loss and tota comprehensiieloss for heyear - EMERR2EERESE - - - - - (6,000 (23,281) (29,81)
At31 March 2025 H-Z-RE=A=1-8 12 2011702 -+ 32122 66,322 (9900 (03218) 1,203,040
* Amount less than HK$1,000. * & FE 1,000 T °
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29. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND 29.
DIVIDENDS (continued)

(b) Dividends

(i) Dividends payable by the Company to equity
shareholders:

Interim dividend declared and paid of B & JE & < HBAR &,

1 HK cent per ordinary share (2024: BRI BRI
0.5 HK cents per ordinary share) —EOF
BREBAR0.57U)

B - RERBRE @

(b) BE
() ARFEMNESKENRS

2025 2024
—E_RE —E-E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TET

11,852 5,924

The final dividend proposed after the end of the
reporting period has not been recognised as a liability
at the end of the reporting period.

(i)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the

Company attributable to the previous financial year,
approved and paid during the year:

Final dividend in respect of the previous F 4 L KR A< &9

R & BE KRR R E 2R
HIRR B 13 R FE ¥R 5 HA PR R B
RBIE-

iy E—SBRFEEGEMSTAR
NREZBEROEE - BA
FEHE MRS

2025 2024
—E_RF —E-PFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T

financial year, approved and paid I BRFEE RS

during the year, of nil HK cents per SRS

ordinary share (2024: 4.20 HK cents —E_EFE - BIK

per ordinary share) A% 4.207810) = 49,765
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29. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (continued)

29, B - RERKRE @)

(c) Share capital (c) B=
2025 2024
S 2 13
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000

RGEE THEL RAEE TAL
Authorised EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.00001 each ~ EfXEE0.00001/8TAILER  38,000,000,000 380 38,000,000,000 380
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid Z&ER ' ERTRER
At 1 April and 31 March RUA-BR=A=+-A 1,185,211,265 12 1,185211,265 12
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive TR S AR KR EIRA
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to BE - RADRBRAE LGB
one vote per share at general meetings of the Company. All A —FREE - A ERREA

REMFIREEZERSER -

ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.
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29. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

EC Healthcare

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between
the nominal value of the shares of the Company and
proceeds received from the issuance of the shares of
the Company. Under the Cayman Companies Law, the
share premium account of the Company is distributable
to the shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company would be
in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of the business.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the consolidated share
capital of Union (Group) Investment Limited (“UGIL")
and a subsidiary acquired under common control.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations outside Hong Kong. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies set out in note 3.1.

Contribution reserve

The contribution reserve represents the difference
between the share of equity of Union Health Services
Holding Limited and the par value of share capital
for the issuance of new shares arising from the
reorganisation completed prior to the initial public
offering of the Company.
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29, B - RERKRE @)

(d) FRENMEERE®

@i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

P& 17 4 fB 48 2N 2 B 69 AR 10 T
1B B 31T AN B A P AR
FISRBEZHENER - RIE
MEBRBEREDE  AREIK
i ERAED IR T ARA
R HEERERZEDIKBE
RHEE - ARRIZABENE
BEENAEEBBEFTCE
HIZ1E%5 o

ROHEE

ROHEBERES (RERE
BRAR(TUGIL]) B —RIK
fE T 2R AOBH /8 2 8] (A RE
) EOAR B B

BE 5 i1
EXFEHEEMBERRES
BEINEBHBERRELD
SNEEZFE o R% I IR MY EESA
FrElE SRt R BRI

HE A

& % 5 9 {5 Union Health
Services Holding Limited 9 i%
NN = B/N/N - R =
TR EMBTSI B EITH
AR AR AR TEME 2 TR Z 58 -
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29. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Share-based compensation reserve

The share-based compensation reserve represents
the fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options and share awards granted
to employees, registered practitioners or other third
parties of the Group recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for share-based payments
in note 3.1.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises:

U)

(i)

the amount allocated to the unexercised equity
component of convertible bonds and related
warrants issued by the Company in the prior year,
recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy in note 3.1; and

the fair value of warrants issued to the sellers of
Hong Kong Pain and Wellness Solution Limited,
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
to subscribe 10,000,000 shares as part of the
purchase consideration to acquire a 24% equity
interest in this non-wholly owned subsidiary in the
prior year and adjustment for the effect arising
from exercise of warrants in the prior years.
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BARRAD STAY OB <& R 48

B X & R R
MRS RTE R AR BE
B 2 A5 SR PR A O & R IRR
FrERETAKERE &
MELHEME=ZTNER
SfAFTRITERREZRE &
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IR Ak
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) REMESANSEIBER
ERBREFERNRRAE
1T AR AE 75 M AR R 2
P hERE ) R T A 2R
MOFMEN BN S
K

(i)  MHong Kong Pain
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Limited ( 4 22 & 89 3F &
BMEBAR)EH BT
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29. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(vii) Other reserve

The other reserve represents the fair value of
consideration payables to acquire the remaining
equity interests in Pathlab, Bayley & Jackson, Pioneer
Evolution Limited and an immaterial business on the
respective dates of completion of the first tranche of
such acquisitions. The subsequent changes in fair value
of the consideration payables are either recognised in
profit or loss or equity depending on the nature of the

transactions.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated
14 December 2020, Jade Master International Limited
(“Jade Master”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, would acquire the remaining 24% equity
interest of Pathlab (a 75% owned subsidiary before
completion of the 24% acquisition) by end of 2023,
which would be dependent on the future profit (the
“Final Tranche Consideration”). The Final Tranche
Consideration was finalised to be HK$124.6 million,
before transaction cost of HK$323,000 and was settled
by the Group in November 2023. Upon completion,
Pathlab has become a 99% owned subsidiary of the
Group. Since the acquisition of additional interest
in Pathlab did not result in a loss of control, the
transaction has been accounted for as an equity

transaction.

EC Healthcare
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29. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(vii) Other reserve (Continued)

In connection with the Group’s acquisition of 100%
equity interest in Excellent Connect, as further detailed
in note 33(b), the Group transferred 25% issued share
capital of EC Medical Venture Capital Limited (formerly
known as Union Medical Technology Holdings Limited)
(“EC Medical Venture Capital”), the immediate holding
company of Excellent Connect, to the Excellent
Connect Seller (the “EC Medical Venture Capital Share
Transfer”). Since the EC Medical Venture Capital Share
Transfer did not result in loss of the Group’s control
over EC Medical Venture Capital, the net change in
the Group’s share of EC Medical Venture Capital’s net
assets immediately before and after the EC Medical
Venture Capital Share Transfer has been credited to

other reserve.

In connection with the Group’s acquisition of 100%
equity interest in EC BP Limited (“EC BP”), as further
detailed in note 33(a), EC Medical Venture Capital, the
immediate holding company of EC BP, allotted share
capital to EC BP sellers. Since the share transfer did
not result in loss of the Group’s control over EC Medical
Venture Capital, the net change in the Group’s share
of EC Medical Venture Capital’s net assets immediately
before and after the share transfer is credited to other

reserve.
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29. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND 29. BAE - RERKE @)
DIVIDENDS (continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued) (d) RENEERBEN@E)
(viii) Fair value reserve (non-recycling) (viii) A FEFE(TEABRLE)
The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises NEEFREBE(TEABRR) S
the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity EREHRFBRES ST
investments designated at fair value through other B EERIFEIRETERED
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) under HKFRS 9 that FEFAEMEERRKE ([
were held at the end of the reporting period. AFEFAEMEERmKE])
MRERE 2 A TFERTE
E)FEE o
(e) Distributability of reserves (e) REBHIDEM
As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available for RZE-_RAF=ZA=+—8" ' AR
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company were AR DB F AR D Bl RE R IR B Y
HK$1,136,706,000 (2024: HK$1,177,839,000). 1% /41,136,706,000/8 T ( —ZE — 1Y

£ :1,177,839,000/& 7T ) °

30. SHARE AWARD SCHEME AND 30. RO EBTERISFREEAG

CO-OWNERSHIP SCHEME gl

(a) Share Award Scheme (a) RfpREGTE
On 26 September 2016, the Board of directors (the “Board”) EF2([ESFERZZE—XFN
approved the Company’s Employees’ Share Award Scheme AZ+RB#ERR FE B Rin £
(the “Share Award Scheme”). Pursuant to the rules of the a2 Aty 2ZEETE ) © REBAR
Share Award Scheme, the Company had appointed a MERBETEIRA] - XABBERE—
trustee for the purpose of administering the Share Award AT ANNE B EE) T E R
Scheme and holding the shares purchased for the Share f&tn B25% R SR B R I5 8 AR () 22E
Award Scheme before the award and vesting of the same. FrEIMBEEMRG o RRF TR
The Company paid to the trustee from time to time for the B E Rl R EIMSEE
purchase of shares held for the Share Award Scheme from IR D A FE AR ©
the market.
The terms of the Share Award Scheme provide for the award M1 S B ET EMEFRAT R AT I AR &
of shares in the Company to employees of the Group as part EE 8 AN A R 1E R 1R & 5 B Y
of their compensation package. Subject to the rules of the —Ho o RIBRGHEERE 2
Share Award Scheme, the Board shall determine at the time B EELENE FRRERBE
of grant the vesting date for the relevant awarded shares. BROBEERE -
During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group HE-_Z-_RFR-ZZ-MF=H
did not hold any shares for this scheme nor grant any shares =+—HIEFE  AKEXERT
to the employees under this scheme. FFESAEARG - IMEREILET

A EERDEMRD -
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30. SHARE AWARD SCHEME AND
CO-OWNERSHIP SCHEME (continued)

(b) Co-ownership Scheme

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company
adopted the Co-ownership Scheme (“Co-Ownership Plan 17).
Pursuant to the scheme, the Company would grant shares
(“Award Shares”) to the invited employees of the Group. The
purpose of the Co-ownership Scheme is to incentivise the
employees. The Award Shares are the contingent rights to
receive the Company’s shares depending on the level of the
basic earnings per share (“EPS”) for the year ended 31 March
2023 (“2023 EPS”) and the cumulative EPS for the years
ended 31 March 2021, 2022 and 2023 (“3-year Cumulative
EPS”). The minimum level of the EPS and 3-year Cumulative
EPS to be achieved before any Award Shares will be granted
are 1.33 times over the basic earnings per share for the year
ended 31 March 2020 (“2020 EPS”), and 3.64 times over the
2020 EPS, respectively.

On 29 May 2023, the ordinary resolutions approving the
termination of Co-Ownership Plan 1 and the adoption of a
new Co-ownership Scheme (“Co-Ownership Plan 2”) were
duly passed by the Shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 29 May 2023. For details
of the Co-Ownership Plan 2, please refer to the Company’s
circular dated 12 May 2023.

The invited employees were required to transfer shares
or cash to a trust managed by an independent appointed
trustee, in which the cash was used to (i) acquire shares from
the market or two directors of the Company; or (i) subscribe
the Company’s shares being allotted at the market price.
As at 31 March 2025, 9,964,493 shares (2024: 9,964,493
shares) were held on trust by the trustee on behalf of the
employees.

The Group has not recognised any share-based payment
expenses in connection with the Co-ownership Scheme.
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HE-_Z-—F=ZA=+—HItF
B ARBRAFRERE ATE
(MR EEAGTEN]) - BIBZS
g ARmmASEEZEESRD
Bt (THEBIAR D 1) - HREEAG
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WA R B () B Sk A RE R - HEAR
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted on
26 September 2016 whereby the directors of the Company are
authorised, at their discretion, to invite employees of the Group,
including directors of any company in the Group, to take up
options at considerations ranging from HK$3.03 to HK$13.30 to
subscribe for shares of the Company. Unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, the Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective
within 10 years commencing on the date on which it became
effective. Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one
ordinary share in the Company and is settled gross in shares.

(a) The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows:

31. BRERTE

AKRABRZE—ARFNLAZ T NABEM
BRERE - AR 7%%#%%?%@]
BEBEAEEEE (BRASEEMNA
%%)L/UJEF3 O3/\17E:|:13.3O/§7E7¥KE§E%
fRHE - REBARG KRG - BRIESITHE
HoEE] - BRETEKEEEREH
t‘?’iﬁxﬁl&ix& tT\E§HX$$ET%T¢
BEAEFNRBRA @k - e
BUARDEE -

(@) BHERRMEHDT

Number of Contractual life
instruments  Vesting conditions of options
TEHE BEGY BRESHFH
Options granted to directors:
RTESNBRE
—On 26 September 2016 5,020,000 Exercisable in ten tranches from 10 years
1 January 2017 to
31 December 2026
—-RZZE—R"FAAZ+H ASATHR=ZZE—+F—A—HZE 104
ZEZRF+=ZA=+—H
HARITTE
—On 18 September 2017 735,000 Exercisable in one tranche from 10 years
1 January 2027 to
17 September 2027
-RZE—tFNA+NH DE—HRZZE_+F—-—H—HE 10F
_Y_tiﬂﬂ+t5%ﬁﬁﬁ
—On 21 August 2018 300,000 Exercisable in two tranches from 10 years
2 January 2019 to
20 August 2028
-RZE-NFNAZ+—H DEMHR-ZE—-—NF—HZHE 10§
:E_AEAH_+E%%ﬁﬁ
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(a) (Continued)

—On 21 August 2018

_73—/\\\: S5

—\ENAZ+—H

—On 2 October 2018

_K\:,

—N\FE+HA=H

—On 2 October 2018

_Eé\: S5

—N\F+AZH

—On 28 November 2018

7)‘%\: S

—N\F+—A=Z+N\HRH

—On 12 July 2019

NF+A+=H

—On 16 October 2019

—NEFE+A+RA

Number of
instruments
THE#E

500,000

100,000

735,000

1,600,000

1,000,000

735,000
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31. BRETE (@)
(a) @)

Vesting conditions

BRI

Exercisable in four tranches from
2 January 2019 to
20 August 2028
AIDANHNR —_ZTE—NF—A-HZ
ZEZ N\FNAZTHERTE

Exercisable in four tranches from
2 January 2019 to
1 October 2028
ARUBR-ZE—-NF—-—AZHZE
fij¢+H A HARTT®

Exercisable in one tranche from
3 January 2028 to
1 October 2028
E R _ZT_NF—-H=H
—E = )\F+ A —H R

Exercisable in seven tranches from
2 January 2019 to
27 November 2028
AREIR_ZB-NFE-AZHZE
f7fA¢+ A=++H
BT

Exercisable in four tranches from
2 January 2020 to 11 July 2024
AR/RUPENR-_ZE-FTF—-A-HZF
fjfmitﬂ+ HHAR 1T

Exercisable in one tranche from
2 January 2029 to
15 October 2029
ﬁ HRZFE_hF—H=H
—E-NAFTATEA
%%ﬁ@

Contractual life
of options

BRESHTH

10 years

104F

10 years

104F

10 years

109F

9 years

ofF

5 years

5%

10 years

10
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 31. BRETE ()
(a) (Continued) (a) &)
Number of Contractual life
instruments Vesting conditions of options
IEHE EEKHG BRESHFH
— On 16 October 2019 1,000,000 Exercisable in five tranches from 10 years
16 October 2019 to
15 October 2029
—-RZE-NFTA+H ApARMR-_ZE—NF+A+ B 10F
EE-NF+TA+RBEESTE
—On 15 March 2021 2,500,000 Exercisable in eight tranches from 10 years

15 March 2022 to

14 March 2031
—-RZE-—F=H+FHH AnAE/ MR- E-—F=A+HHB 10F

E-T=—4= A+NARHTE

— On 24 September 2021 10,000,000 Exercisable in ten tranches from 10 years
26 September 2022 to
23 September 2031
—-RZE—FNAA-+ImA AnATHIR-_TE-—FhA 106

Z+ARAEZZE=—F1A
—+=HHETE

— On 1 December 2021 10,950,000 Exercisable in nine tranches from 10 years
1 December 2022 to
30 November 2031
—-RZZE=—F+=H—H ADABIMR-—ZE-_—F+=-HA—H8 105
E-E-—F+—A=+H
HARETTE
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(a) (Continued)

Options granted to
employees:

BRFEENBRE

— On 18 September 2017

—-R-E—LtFNAAT/\H

—0On 10 July 2018

—-R-E-\FtA+H

—On 7 September 2018

—-RZE-N\FNLALH

—On 2 October 2018

—-R-ET-N\F+HAZH

— On 28 November 2018

—RZE-\F+—HA=Z+N\H

Number of
instruments
THE#E

655,000

100,000

100,000

482,500

95,000
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31. BRETE (@)
(@) &)

Vesting conditions

BRI

Exercisable in four tranches from
1 January 2018 to
31 December 2021

A AENMR=_Z—\F—H—H
EZE-—F+-A=+—H
BAfEI TR

Exercisable in five tranches from
2 January 2019 to
31 December 2023
AnRANR_E—hd—H=H
EZE_=HF+-A=+—H
HRRRIT T

Exercisable in four tranches from
2 January 2019 to
6 September 2028
AnREIMtNR_E—hF—H=H
Z22FE - \FHASNBERTE

Exercisable in four tranches from
2 January 2019 to
1 October 2028
AnREIMR_E—F—H=H
Z-E-)\F+A—BERETE

Exercisable in seven tranches from
2 January 2019 to
27 November 2028

A AtHR_ZE—NF—H=H
BT N\F+—HAZ++tH
HAfEI T

Contractual life
of options

BRESHTH

4 years

44

5 years

5%

10 years

104

10 years

104

10 years

104
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 31. BRETE @)
(a) (Continued) (a) &)
Number of Contractual life
instruments Vesting conditions of options
IAYE BERG BRESHFS
—On 2 July 2019 150,000 Exercisable in three tranches from 4 years
2 January 2020 to
1 July 2023
—-RZZE-NF+AZH Ao R=#MR_Z_ZTF—-H_H 45
E_TFA-AHRETE
— On 5 March 2020 150,000 Exercisable in one tranche from 10 years

5 March 2020 to

7 November 2029
~RZT-TH=AAA ADAHR-_F-FTF=ARH  10F

BT AFE+— AL BHRTHE

—On 29 July 2021 380,000 Exercisable in four tranches from 10 years
29 July 2021 to 28 July 2031
—-RZEZ—FtA=Z+NH D R/OHHR T —4 104

tA-thHE-ZE=—%
+ A=+ N\BHEETE

—On 1 August 2022 3,500,000 Exercisable in five tranches from 10 years
1 August 2022 to 31 July 2032

—-RZZE-_—FNA—H Ao ARAMNR=ZZE=__FNA—H 104
ZE_T=_F+HA=+—H
HETTE

—On 5 January 2023 1,800,000 Exercisable in six tranches from 10 years
5 January 2023 to
4 January 2033

—-RZEZ=F—AHH AR AR T -_=F—AAA 10

E_T=—F— AMAHFEITE
Total share options granted to 42,487,500

directors and employees
RYEFENEBNBERER
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise prices of share (b)

(c)

options are as follows:

31. [BRETE ()

T

2025
—E-HE
Weighted

Number of average
options exercise price

BRERE NETSTEE

BB E RINEF 1T EE

2024
i3
Weighted
Number of average
options  exercise price

RREHR IEYOTEE

Outstanding at the beginning of the FYRITE

year 22,262,500 HK$10.0978 T 33,967,500 HK$10.56/8 7T
Forfeited during the year FRREKR (1,100,000) HK$7.0487T  (11,705000) HK$11.50%87C
Outstanding at the end of the year FERKITE 21,162,500 HK$5.22& 7T 22,262,500 HK$10.097% T
Exercisable at the end of the year FRATE 11,167,500  HK$9.905& 7T 8,990,000  HK$9.587E T

The options outstanding at 31 March 2025 had a weighted
average exercise price of HK$5.22 (2024: HK$10.09) and
a weighted average remaining contractual life of 6.28 years
(2024: 7.12 years).

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services or assets received in return for
share options granted is measured by reference to the fair
value of share options granted. The estimate of the fair
value of the share options granted is measured based on
a binomial option pricing model, which takes into account
the suboptimal exercise factors and the post-vesting exit
rates. The contractual life of the share options is used as
an input into this model. Expectations of early exercise are
incorporated into the model.
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R-EBE-_RAF=A=+—BX17&E
FERER INETFI1TH (8 B5.228
TT(ZZE -4 : 10.09/87T) - M
EFEYFGE N TFHE6.28F (=

T PO 7124F) o

(c) BREAFERRR

DA th R s e 1 2 B ol P S AR 7%
HEEZRNFESEMRXHERE
R FERE o AR EAER {4
ARFERE CEASHEEEERN
(EERETERZLEBROE
HE)FE - BERENSOFHA
TEREA B ABE - ZEAEE

RIEHRPITENEE -
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(d) Share options granted other than those under

the Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement in connection
with the acquisition of an additional 24% equity interest
in Hong Kong Pain and Wellness Solution Limited, a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, during the year
ended 31 March 2021, the Group issued warrants which
allow the sellers to subscribe an aggregate number of
10,000,000 shares of the Company within 1 to 5 years at an
exercise price of HK$4.20. The warrants vested in stages in 5
years following the completion of the acquisition. The Group
measured the fair value of such warrants by reference to their
fair value based on a binomial option pricing model.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, 2,000,000 shares
were allotted and issued at an exercise price of HK$4.20 per
share.

As at 31 March 2025, the warrants granted to the sellers had
a remaining contractual life of 0.4 years (2024: 1.4 years).
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31. BRETE (@)
(d) CEHBRE(ERBERE

SRR HERRN)

B # Ht U B Hong Kong Pain and
Wellness Solution Limited ( 7 2 &]
HIEEEWE QR KEEIN24% A%
BRFTVHEERS  #HE-ZT
——FZAZT—HIFE A&
B E TR AR RS - /\/L,?F,‘HEA‘I
E5FNIRITHEEL2 BLRBE
#£10,000,0008& AR &R 5 ° ﬁAn
521451%%15?% RIREBENRSFA
DPEER SRS - ﬁ’il,ﬁ&%%ﬂ%ﬁ_
TR B TE (B R 15 H R AR B
AHEAERREZHATE -

HE-_T-_=F=A=+—HItF
€ © 2,000,000 f& R LZ7TEE =
f&%4. 2078 T AR 8 [ 251 T o
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32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

32, IR ES
—E=A=t+— B

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company issued 3
tranches of convertible bonds. The bondholders are entitled to
exercise the conversion rights to convert the principal amount
outstanding at a pre-determined conversion price at any time up to
the maturity of the convertible bonds. The details of the convertible

HE-Z

RABEITHABBES - EFFA
ANBREITERHE - R RRESE B
B IR R R TR S B E R IR B B R R (B
BADE - NIWE IR REE TR

bonds that are outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are BEFBLT
as follows:
Original Conversion
Principal conversion price
amount Interest rate price per share Conversion
Tranche Issue date outstanding per annum Maturity date per share (adjusted) period
SRERE
#R BTRS KEBAEH = HHA SRELKRE (BB%) BRHH
Tranche A 5 February 2021 HK$234,000,000 2.5% 4 February 2026 HK$5.69 HK$5.37 At any time up to
(2024: (note) maturity date
HK$234,000,000)
FH “E--%-ATA (ZZ-mF: “EZREZARA 56087 5378 EZEIHAA
234,000,007 7T (Fitz) FEfFIE A
Tranche C 8 February 2021 HK$31,200,000 2.5% 7 February 2026 HK$5.69 HK$5.37 At any time up to
(2024 (note) maturity date
HK$31,200,000)
=it “E--%ZANA (ZZ-mF: “EZREZAtA 5608 5378 EZEIEHAA
81,200,000 7T) k) FEfFR A
Note: In addition to the conversion rights in connection with the convertible AT« BR A B SRRl 75 B AT R AR 5 55 RO R AR 1

bonds as stated above, the Company issued warrants which allow the

S RRFETREER

HAFES

EC Healthcare

bondholders to subscribe for an aggregate number of 50,145,867 shares
at an exercise price of HK$6.17 share with an aggregate consideration of
HK$309,400,000. As at 31 March 2025, the outstanding warrants would
allow the bondholders to subscribe for 5,899,514 shares (2024: 5,899,514
shares).

It is provided in the subscription agreements for the convertible bonds that
if the controlling shareholder of the Company, Mr. Tang Chi Fai, ceases to
be the controlling shareholder of the Company, owning less than 51% of
the total issued shares of the Company, then the bondholders are entitled
to request immediate repayment of the outstanding convertible bonds
and all accrued interest.
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HBEAUTEESRG17 BLRBEAH
50,145,867 %7 - #2HK(E %&309,400,000
BT - MR-_ZE-_RAF=-A=+—H &
RITERREZBETTEFFEARE
5,899,514 Bxp&in ( —Z — P04 :5,899,514
A& )

AAREFNRBHERE - MAREN
ERRRBSEEETBREGARAR
BEATID AR BREN51 % SA I B9 AR 2 BIRE AR AR
R AMESFAABRERIBERERE
BRI E 5 BT A JERT A o
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32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 32, MR ES @)
Upon the issuance of convertible bonds, the liability component REEFTRAIMRESE - AEHX D VIFIE
was initially measured at its fair value of HK$238,118,000. The HAF{E238,118,000/8 7T & - Flthd
residual amount of HK$66,082,000 was recognised as capital %866,082,00078 T YA HE R N ER A KK
reserve within equity (see note 29(d)(vi)). AN (RHEE29(0)(vi)) ©
The liability component of convertible bonds was analysed as MREFNEESS ST
follows:

2025 2024
—E_RE —E-PE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T

Current liabilities mENEE 254,325 -
Non-current liabilities EmEaE - 241,767
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS

(@) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended

31 March 2025

33.

The fair values of the net assets acquired through business
acquisitions as at the dates of acquisitions are as follows:

EBUWE

RBE-—B-_AF=/=T
—RIEFENEBERR

RO ) HRS 4 3 75 B T
FAENATENT :

EC BP Pangenia
Limited Inc. Rising Gold
BRE HFEEYRE Phoenix Total
BRAR BRAR Limited et
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
T FHT FHT FHT
Total identifiable net assets A & B F A E 4258 56,135 206,094 469 262,698
Non-controlling interests e (17,082) (92,207) 47) (109,336)
Goodwill on acquisitions W EE R Ry 37,095 22,396 52,078 111,569
Consideration for the I HEa B
acquisition 76,148 136,283 52,500 264,931
Satisfied by: LUATHRNER
Cash consideration ReRE 39,000 33,200 52,500 124,700
Fair value of the existing A BRENAFEE
shareholdings - 103,083 - 103,083
Fair value of consideration RERODOAFEE
shares 37,148 - - 37,148
Cash consideration paid FREMNBRERE
during the year 39,000 33,200 52,500 124,700
Cash and cash equivalents ~ FREEIR & &
acquired REeEEY (16,410) (74,992) (8,979) (100,381)
Net outflow/(inflow) of cash s+ AREEENIR S
and cash equivalents MENEE K
included in cash flows of REFEY
investing activities e GRA)
JRER 22,590 (41,792) 43,521 24,319

The Group measured the non-controlling interests at their
proportionate share of these subsidiaries’ net identifiable

assets.

Had the acquisitions taken place at the beginning of the
year ended 31 March 2025, the consolidated revenue of
the Group and the consolidated loss of the Group for the
year would have been HK$4,422.6 million and HK$55.5
million, respectively. In aggregate, the Group incurred net
cash outflow totalling HK$24 million from acquisitions of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2025.

EC Healthcare

236

AREBILERNZEMHE A BH A 3
REEEPTA L BIGT IR

ﬁo

MUBERABE S -_HEF=A
“t+—BUEFEMHRELE  FRA
EEZABARAEBGZAEEER
DR AE4,422 68 EBITNEE5.588
BT HE_Z-_AF=—A=1—
ALLFEE  AEEBRENEBEAR
EEBRERL FHEAH 2485
5T o
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(@) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended
31 March 2025 (Continued)

The business acquisitions are analysed below:

(i)

EC BP Limited

On 14 November 2023, EC Medical Venture Capital
Limited (“EC Medical Venture Capital”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with the sellers (“the EC
BP’s sellers”) to acquire 100% of the equity interest
in EC BP Limited (“EC BP”) at consideration consists
of (i) cash consideration of HK$39 million and (ii)
consideration of shares of 7.24% of the equity interest
in EC Medical Venture Capital. The acquisition was
completed on 24 May 2024. Upon the completion, the
Group’s shareholding in EC Medical Venture Capital
has reduced from 75% to 69.57%.

EC BP is engaged in the distribution of aesthetic
medical devices and beauty related consumables in
Taiwan.

On 24 May 2024, the initial cash consideration of
HK$39,000,000 has been settled in full and the
consideration shares have been allotted by EC
Medical Venture Capital to the sellers. EC BP became
a 69.57%-owned subsidiary of the Group upon
completion of the acquisition on 24 May 2024.
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(i)

BRMEERAT

E’\\ —E=F+—A+KX
CAEBEMEEZEEZENBA
TEC Medical Venture Capital
Limited ([ EC Medical Venture
Capital ] ) & 7 ([ B B R ZFE

EHDIICEER S WE
BEBMERBE AT ([ERMR
Zx ) H9100% B At zs - RIB

BIENRERBEIBEE LT
(ilEC Medical Venture Capital
7.24% F% 7S HE s B AR 19 AR
B WEEN-_Z-NFH
AZ+WWHTEK - EKE
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Capital Z % # B 75% & =
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(@) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended
31 March 2025 (Continued)

(i)

EC Healthcare

EC BP Limited (Continued)

A profit guarantee arrangement is included in the sale
and purchase agreement. Under the arrangement, the
EC BP’s sellers have agreed to give profit guarantee
to the purchaser that the accumulated net profit (as
defined in the agreement) for 3 years shall be no less
than TWD153.3 million. The EC BP’s sellers shall
compensate EC Medical Venture Capital any shortfall in
accordance with the sale and purchase agreement.

Management expected certain profit targets as
stated in the sale and purchase agreements will be
met. Accordingly, the present value of the aggregate
consideration in connection with the acquisitions of EC
BP on the completion date was HK$76,148,000.

The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy in strengthening and stabilising the supply
chain of non-surgical aesthetic devices in support of its
businesses and achieve business synergies.

The goodwill of approximately HK$37 million arising
from the acquisition was attributable to the synergy
by establishing a platform to capture and consolidate
market shares and expand into the Southeast Asian
and Asian markets by way of uniting the influence of
the stakeholders in the upstream and downstream
businesses in the medical and aesthetic medical
industry.

The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of
HK$221,000. These costs have been charged to
“administrative and other expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year.
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33. ¥XKWE @

REBEZ-ZE-HF=A=+1+
—BIEFENKEHME @)

(a)

@i)

BRIRMRARATE (&)

BEERETESHRMNRESR
B RIBLHE BRMEE
FEREME A ELEFEF
B A=ZFNRIAF(EE
Bz TR a%153.3
BET -BERMETEHE
1B i B & # 5 1 EC Medical
Venture Capital # & {T {1 =
B o

EEEEHEEHEMEN
BT HEMNEBEKEHESD -
At - R5EK HH B B E
EEMEMERENIRES
76,148,000/ 7T °

BRMESAEE MBI R
ERFMETRBOMHE
o AXHEERRERE
B ERE R — &7 -

WENEBENRITAER
T HAREBHSBERER
XRBERTELTHEBRH
ROENFENRYT —E
‘ECBRREBETS D
o WIRRmDRBMT
% 0 RETE £ W RIAUE
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued) 33. EXKWE @
(@) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended () RBE-ZE-_HEF=A=1
31 March 2025 (Continued) —BLEFEENWEHSE®)
(i) EC BP Limited (Continued) () BEMRBRARGE)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of RUWERE  BEMENT
EC BP as at the date of acquisition are as follows: HANEERABEBEHNATFEN
T
Total
et
Note HK$°000
FfaE Fix
Inventories FE 8,297
Trade and other receivables B 5 M E A EWGRIA 523
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEED 16,410
Trade and other payables 5 REMENFRIE (21,655)
Deferred revenue BRI A (848)
Intangible assets on acquisition WHERr B B E 63,962
Deferred tax liabilities BEFRIRRE (10,554)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BN EETENA]HA
FEEMERE 56,135
Non-controlling interests Eealiig T (17,082)
Goodwill on acquisition WS E AR 2 14 37,095
Consideration RE 76,148
Cash consideration paid during the year FREMBERE 39,000
Cash and cash equivalents acquired iR e RIS EEY (16,410)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents st AREEFE S REN
included in cash flows of investing ReFRSEEYWRL
activities FE 22,590
Since the acquisition, EC BP contributed HK$78.3 Q WHER  BEMERER
million to the Group’s revenue and HK$18.3 million ZERF=A=+—H1E
profit to the Group’s consolidated loss for the year FEARAEBIKAETRT8.3
ended 31 March 2025. BEALTMRAEEEREE
BEENEF183BEEETT
The intangible assets are amortised over their estimated EEETRA MG AER
useful lives. FERVEHESY -
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(@) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended
31 March 2025 (Continued)

(ii)

EC Healthcare

Pangenia Inc.

On 30 November 2023, the Group acquired 42.88%
issued share capital in Pangenia Inc. (“Pangenia”) from
Active Compass Limited and Victor Mind International
Limited for an aggregate consideration of HK$115
million. The Group’s 42.88% interest in Pangenia was
accounted for as an associate in the Group’s financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2024.

On 13 June 2024, the Group completed the acquisition
of an additional 12.38% issued share capital in
Pangenia from Success Synergy Limited and Bio-Gene
Limited for a consideration of HK$17.4 million and
HK$15.8 million, respectively, increasing the Group’s
interest therein from 42.88% to 55.26%.

Upon completion of the acquisition on 21 July 2024,
Pangenia became a non wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group.

The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy to leverage the Pangenia’s expertise and
network in life science and premium medical service
industry and facilitate the Group’s expansion into the
medical laboratory testing market. The Group can also
optimise the Group’s overall business operations in
enhancing the operational efficiencies, cost savings and
improve profitability of the Group.

The goodwill of HK$22 million arising from the
acquisition was attributable to the synergy from the
share of customer pool with other businesses of the
Group.

The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of
HK$210,000. These costs have been charged to
“administrative and other expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year.
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REBEZ-ZE-HF=A=+1+
—BIEFENKEHME @)

(a)

(ii)

HEEMBRERAT

Wz - =ZfF+ — A
=+ B8 - K% B 1A Active
Compass Limited & %5 sl
BAERARKRETEEYME
HAERAR(#22])42.88%
BEITRA - BREA115
BEBT AEBRIERN
42 88% EZE N AEEEHE
—E-NNF=A=+—H81F
FENFEHREALR °

RZE-ZWMFRNA+=
B + 78 £ & 5E 5K [A] Success
Synergy Limited & 1A 2% & R
NAUEEFT B EEINM2.38%
BITRA  REDAR17.4
BEATKI58EEB T
SAREBRER ZEEH
42.88%3E INE55.26% °

WER_-_ZT_MNF LA
T BERE R
RAEERFZEMB AT

BRI TN R E SRS ) —
B LNERHDREGH
BRELBERBITENE
FAMB LB LlERE
ERER(CBRAATS -
BESN - TR AMB LA SR B R B
BEBEE RALEX
T HEARANKEAEH

BEFEET °
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued) 33. EXKWE @

(@) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended () RBE-ZE-_HEF=A=1
31 March 2025 (Continued) —BLEFEENWEHSE®)
(i) Pangenia Inc. (Continued) (i) FEEYREBRARE)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of PUCEE BB - #ran A9 AT Bl
Pangenia as at the date of acquisition are as follows: BERABENATEET :
Total
et
Note HK$’000
Fi7E FHEx
Property, plant and equipment Yz - B MR 17,917
Deferred tax assets RIETIEEE 2,271
Inventories "rE 20,228
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E A FEWEIE 143,545
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEFEY 74,992
Trade and other payables E 5 R HEMENFRIE (64,460)
Deferred revenue IR A (15,592)
Tax payable FESBIIE (3,841)
Lease liabilities HEBE (6,069)
Intangible assets on acquisition WHENEFEE 44,435
Deferred tax liabilities RIEHIEBE (7,332)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BN ETENAH5
FEERE 206,094
Non-controlling interests Eealiig T (92,207)
Goodwill on acquisition W R 2 14 22,396
136,283
Satisfied by: AT RE -
Cash consideration RERE 33,200
Fair value of the existing shareholdings WA RREN LA 103,083
Cash consideration paid during the year FAENBENRE 33,200
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FriEIR & RIREEEY (74,992)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents FFAREEESRSREN
included in cash flows of investing ReRReFEMRA
activities HE (41,792)
Since the acquisition, Pangenia contributed HK$220.6 BWERL  FuREE—-%
million to the Group’s revenue and HK$10.2 million ZHE=A=1T—RHILFE
profit to the Group’s consolidated loss for the year AAREBWABE22068 8
ended 31 March 2025. BTk ABAEEEEBER
BUEAM102B BB T -
The intangible assets are amortised over their estimated EIEETRAMEAERA
useful lives. FEVEHESY -
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(@) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended
31 March 2025 (Continued)

(iii)

EC Healthcare

Rising Gold Phoenix Limited

On 10 December 2024, BMF Worldwide Limited
(“BMF”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with the seller (the “BMF Seller”) to acquire 90% of
the equity interest in Rising Gold Phoenix Limited
(“Rising Gold”) and its subsidiaries (“BMF Group”) at
a consideration of HK$52,500,000. BMF Group is
principally engaged in the provision of tailored skincare
solutions and expert haircare solutions and provision of
comprehensive cosmetic care solutions.

Upon completion of the acquisition on 27 January
2025, Rising Gold became a non wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group.

During the year, the Group disposed of certain of
its subsidiaries for an aggregate consideration of
approximately HK$521 million, resulting in gain on
disposal of subsidiaries, net, of HK$268 million. Further
details of material disposals are set out below:

The acquisition represents a pivotal step in this
direction, empowering the Group to leverage on the
BMF Group’s expertise and established network in
delivering bespoke skincare solutions, advanced
haircare services, and comprehensive cosmetic care
solutions.

The goodwill of HK$52 million arising from the
acquisition was attributable to the synergy from the
share of customer pool with other businesses of the
Group.

The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of
HK$235,000. These costs have been charged to
“administrative and other expenses” in the consolidation
statement of profit or loss for the year.
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REBEZ-ZE-HF=A=+1+
—BIEFENKEHME @)

(a)

(iii)

Rising Gold Phoenix
Limited

R-ZB_MF+-_A+H"
TEEFREZENE QA
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FFILEE R UARE
52,500,000 7 7T U & Rising
Gold Phoenix Limited([ Rising
Gold |) & E Bt & 22 & ([ BMF
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BB o
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T BHHENE AR RS
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued)

33. EXKWE @

(a) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended (@) REBZ-ZE-_HF=A=+
31 March 2025 (Continued) —BIEFENREMSE®)
(iii) Rising Gold Phoenix Limited (Continued) (iii) Rising Gold Phoenix

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
BMF Group as at the date of acquisition are as follows:

Limited(4&)

RIEE B - BMFEE R A
BRAEEMBENAFEN
T~

Total
et
Note HK$’000
Btk FTHER
Property, plant and equipment M - WE R 27,954
Inventories "rE 9,429
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E A FERGRIA 61,034
Deferred costs IRIERL AR 6,002
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEY 8,979
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAM N RIA (45,717)
Deferred revenue RIEURA (51,248)
Lease liabilities HEBE (19,250)
Intangible assets on acquisition g B EE 3,935
Deferred tax liabilities BEFIRRE (649)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BEAHERTEM A #5
THEERTR 469
Non-controlling interests IR R (47)
Goodwill on acquisition WHEEER SR 14 52,078
Consideration RE 52,500
Cash consideration paid during the year FREMNBERE 52,500
Cash and cash equivalents acquired iR ¢ RIS EEY (8,979)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents 5t AREEHIR S REN
included in cash flows of investing ReMREEEMRN
activities FE 43,521

Since the acquisition, BMF Group contributed HK$25.0
million to the Group’s revenue and HK$3.1 million profit
to the Group’s consolidated loss for the year ended 31
March 2025.

The intangible assets are amortised over their estimated
useful lives.
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued) 33. ¥BWE@
(b) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended (b) RBE-_ZF-_MF=A=+
31 March 2024 —HALEFENKESE
The fair value of the net assets acquired through business RUHE B B35 B T W FTIE A
acquisitions as at the dates of acquisitions are as follows: FEENRTENOT
Excellent HWEVC
Connect and Maple Total
Excellent HWEVC
Connect N Maple wEr
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THIT FAT FAT
Total identifiable net assets/ A RLEFEE,(BE)

(liabilities) 1a% 56,755 (1,153) 55,602
Non-controlling interests IR e (14,189) 565 (13,624)
Goodwill on acquisitions gt ol 192,334 11,298 203,632
Consideration for the IiEeRE

acquisitions 234,900 10,710 245,610
Satisfied by: AT HRER

Cash consideration ReRE 100,000 10,710 110,710

Fair value of consideration RERDBAFE

shares 61,426 - 61,426

Contingent consideration ARE 73,474 - 73,474
Cash consideration paid FREMBERE

during the year 100,000 10,710 110,710
Cash and cash equivalents P iEIE & &

acquired RE&EEY (9,4293) (5,274) (14,697)
Net outflow of cash and cash 5T AREEENIR S

equivalents included incash  REMIEE KRG

flows of investing activities LEYIREFEE 90,577 5,436 96,013

EC Healthcare

The Group measured the non-controlling interests at their
proportionate share of these subsidiaries’ net identifiable
assets.

Had the acquisitions taken place at the beginning of the
year ended 31 March 2024, the consolidated revenue of
the Group and the consolidated profit of the Group for
the year would have been HK$128.3 million and HK$29.9
million, respectively. In aggregate, the Group incurred net
cash outflow totalling HK$96 million from acquisitions of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2024.

244

REEZRENRZENB AR &%
%Iﬁé?ﬁﬂﬁtﬂﬁﬂﬁrgaﬂ B% 1
WEKBREZE_Z-_MNF= A
=+ BHIEFEMNHEE  FAR
EELGEEWARNEBLEA &M
DR A1283EBEAETN2996 8
/%713 @Z:ﬁ:fzflzqi )E] +_
AILEFE  AEEBKRENEAR
EERSRL FEASFTBHEER
5T o

Annual Report 2024/25



Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(b) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended
31 March 2024 (Continued)

The business acquisitions are analysed below:

(i)

Excellent Connect

On 7 February 2023, EC Medical Venture Capital
(formerly Union Medical Technology Limited) and Union
(Group) Investment Limited (“Union Group”), both being
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group, entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with the seller (“Excellent
Connect Seller”) to acquire 100% equity interest in
Excellent Connect Limited (“Excellent Connect”). The
maximum consideration consists of (1) the maximum
total cash consideration of HK$125,000,000 comprising
(i) the initial cash consideration in the amount of
HK$100,000,000 to be payable to the Excellent
Connect Seller, and (i) the contingent consideration
in the maximum amount of HK$25,000,000, and (2)
transfer of 25% issued share capital of EC Medical
Venture Capital (the “Consideration Shares”) from Union
Group to the Excellent Connect Seller.

Excellent Connect is an investment holding company
of companies engaged in the distribution of aesthetic
medical devices and beauty related consumables in
Hong Kong.
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33. EXKWE @

(b) REBE=S-WFE=A=+
—HBIEFENKBEME @)

EBWBEIIAT

(i)

Excellent Connect
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Medical Venture Capital ( i
78 Union Medical Technology
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Investment Limited ( [ Union
Group ) (MEHAEEHZ
BB AR LEEHZ
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#)100% I # - ==& KRB
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125,000,000% 7t + B3E () FE
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(b) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended
31 March 2024 (Continued)

(i)

EC Healthcare

Excellent Connect (Continued)

On 1 April 2023, the initial cash consideration
of HK$100,000,000 was settled in full and the
Consideration Shares were transferred by Union Group
to the Excellent Connect Seller. Excellent Connect
became a 75%-owned subsidiary of the Group upon
completion of the acquisition on 1 April 2023.

A profit guarantee arrangement is included in the sale
and purchase agreement. Under the arrangement,
the Excellent Connect Seller has agreed to give profit
guarantee to the purchaser that the accumulated net
profit (as defined in the agreement) for 3 years shall
be no less than HK$75 million. The Excellent Connect
Seller shall compensate Union Group any shortfall in
accordance with the sale and purchase agreement.

Management expected certain profit targets as
stated in the sale and purchase agreement will be
met. Accordingly, the present value of the aggregate
consideration in connection with the acquisition
of Excellent Connect on the completion date was
HK$234,900,000.
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(b) REBE=ZS-_WFE=A=+
—BIEFENKEHME @)

@i)

Excellent Connect(#&)
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(b) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended
31 March 2024 (Continued)

@i)

Excellent Connect (Continued)

Union Group also granted an option (the “Option”) to
the Excellent Connect Seller the right to require Union
Group to purchase from it up to an aggregate of 20%
of the issued share capital of EC Medical Venture
Capital (“Option Shares”), subject to certain terms
and conditions. Upon the exercise of the Option, the
Excellent Connect Seller shall become bound to sell,
and Union Group shall become bound to purchase the
Option Shares. The consideration of the Option Shares
payable by Union Group to the Excellent Connect Seller
shall be HK$110,000,000, satisfied by allotment of
shares in the Company or cash.

The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy in strengthening and stabilising the supply
chain of non-surgical aesthetic devices in support of its
businesses and achieve business synergies.

The goodwill of HK$192 million arising from the
acquisition was attributable to the synergy from the
share of customer pool with other businesses of the
Group.

The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of
HK$280,000. These costs have been charged to
“administrative and other expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year.

247

%.%ﬁ%ﬁ%?

—Hiﬁf%%ﬁﬁg%)

(i)

Excellent Connect(#&)

Union Group 71 #% F Excellent
Connect® 75 — IR ([ B8
A4 1) - B F E Z sk Union
Group #t E 8 E EC Medical
Venture Capital & 317K A
HZmZ20% KR ([ B AR

f&fa 1) - BB TIERK
NG - BT BEIRER

Excellent Connect® 75 #5748
£ ifmUnion Group 5 /B % B B
fi% 7 B 17 > Union Group & 1
Excellent Connect® /7 Hy B %
1 B 19 (B 7 4110,000,000
ST - WARR AR RIRGD
SR SR N o

ERAWEAEREE N TIE
EIFMEAREHHEE
P AR RN ENER
15[ 3k FE SR B — 26

WEEEEMEE192E8E BT
TIREAREBHMEBRZF
BEHZ AW RBUE -

AEEEENRERRBKAEA
£280,000/8 7T ° i ERAE,
RERMEGEEBERAITTR
MEMF S [H0k o

FEHRE 2024/25



Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(b) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended
31 March 2024 (Continued)

(i)

EC Healthcare

Excellent Connect (Continued) (i)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
Excellent Connect’s group as at the date of acquisition

33. ¥XKWE @

(b) REBE=-E-_WFE=A=+
—BLEEENRBRE®)

Excellent Connect(#&)

B U B B H - Excellent

ConnectE BRI AR E E K

are as follows: BENAFEDT :
Total
#Et
Note HK$’000
FtEE FBIT
Property, plant and equipment M - WE MR 6,803
Deferred tax assets BIETIEEE 59
Inventories 58 6,154
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E A ERGRIA 6,038
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREeEED 9,423
Trade and other payables E 5 R HEMENFRIE (16,260)
Deferred revenue EEUA (77)
Tax payable FERTRIR (3,062)
Lease liabilities HERE (2,507)
Intangible assets on acquisition WHERr B EE 60,717
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBEE (10,533)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BEATEFENA HAFEE
4EEE 56,755
Non-controlling interests IR R (14,189)
Goodwill on acquisition WHEEA R 14 192,334
Consideration KIE 234,900
Cash consideration paid during the year FREMNBERE 100,000
Cash and cash equivalents acquired iR ¢ RIS EEY (9,423)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents 5t AREEHIR S REN
included in cash flows of investing ReMREEEMRLEFE
activities 90,577

Since the acquisition, Excellent Connect’s group
contributed HK$118.3 million to the Group'’s revenue
and HK$28.7 million to the Group’s consolidated profit
for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The intangible assets are amortised over their estimated
useful lives.
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(b) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended
31 March 2024 (Continued)

(ii)

HWEVC and Maple

On 1 October 2022, High Group Corporation Limited
(“High Group”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, entered into sales and purchase agreements
with the seller (“HWEVC and Maple’s Seller”), to acquire
51% of the equity interest in each of HWEVC Limited
(“HWEVC”) and Maple Investment Limited (“Maple”),
HWEVC and Maple are principally engaged in the
provision of veterinary services in Hong Kong.

According to the agreements, High Group paid an
aggregate cash consideration of HK$10,710,000 for
these acquisitions. Upon completion of the acquisition
on 12 June 2023, HWEVC and Maple became non
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group.

Profit guarantee arrangements are included in the
agreements. Under the arrangements, HWEVC and
Maple’s Seller agreed to guarantee the aggregate profit
generated by HWEVC and Maple for the coming 5
years of not less than HK$18.85 million. HWEVC and
Maple’s Seller shall compensate the shortfall of the
profit attributable to High Group in accordance with the
sale and purchase agreements.

Management expected certain profit targets as
stated in the sale and purchase agreements will be
met. Accordingly, the present value of the aggregate
consideration in connection with the acquisitions
of HWEVC and Maple on the completion date was
HK$10,710,000.

The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy in the expansion of veterinary services.

The goodwill of HK$11 million arising from the
acquisition was attributable to the synergy from the
share of customer pool with other businesses of the
Group.
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(ii)
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(b) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended
31 March 2024 (Continued)

(ii)

EC Healthcare

HWEVC and Maple (Continued)

The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of
HK$200,000. These costs have been charged to
“administrative and other expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
HWEVC and Maple as at the date of acquisition are as

%.%ﬁ%ﬁ%?

—Htﬁf%%ﬁﬁg%)

(i) HWEVCKMaple(#)

AEEEENRERBRBKA
£200,000/8 7T ° s ERAE,
RERMEGEBERAITTR
MEMF S JH0k o

RU B B 8 - HWEVC &
Maple®) Al 3% 5| & = K B &K

follows: NEEWOT -
Total
5T
Note HK$’000
MI5E FAT
Property, plant and equipment E YN 2,263
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b IR 322
Cash and cash equivalents BeNBEEEEY 5,274
Trade and other payables 5 REMER IR (6,291)
Tax payable FERI TR (952)
Lease liabilities HEBE (1,769)
Total identifiable net liabilities at fair value R AF(EFEN A HBIFEE
ke (1,153)
Non-controlling interests IR A 565
Goodwill on acquisition WERE R mEE 14 11,298
Consideration RE 10,710
Cash consideration paid during the year FREMBERE 10,710
Cash and cash equivalents acquired iR ¢ RIS EEY (5,274)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents ~ FAREEEFIE S REN
included in cash flows of investing ReRRSEEBYRLFE
activities 5,436

Since the acquisition, HWEVC and Maple contributed
HK$10.0 million to the Group’s revenue and HK$1.2
million to the Group’s consolidated profit for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

The intangible assets are amortised over their estimated
useful lives.
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34. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES 34. HEMBATE
Summary of disposals during the year ended BE-_ZE_HF=A=1+—HL
31 March 2025 FENHERE
During the year, the Group disposed of certain of its subsidiaries FR - AEEBHESTHEAR - 42 1J§
for an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$521 million, BARLs21B8 5T %ﬁuﬂ’%l‘ﬁ%
resulting in gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net, of HK$268 million. W) FEE268 B BB T © EKH&'%%EE’\J
Further details of material disposals are set out below: E—FFBNT
() Preeminent Medical Centre Limited () =AREBBEPLERAR
On 12 June 2024, Jade Master, a wholly-owned subsidiary RZE-WMFENA+=H ~EE
of the Group disposed of 51% of the entire issued share 2 E B FlJade Master AR &
capital of Preeminent Medical Centre Limited (“Zenith”) for a {E80,249,0007% 7T 1 & & SR EE 155
cash consideration of HK$80,249,000. Zenith is principally DB AR ([ Zenith]) 2P E 81T
engaged in the provision of obstetrics and gynaecology EANEI51% © Zenith= EH Bt
medical services. IRERI B BEARTE o
An analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was HEAEEHENEERBEETD
lost: #
Total
et
HK$’000
FBx
Property, plant and equipment M - WE LR 2,581
Goodwill EES 55,881
Intangible assets mEE 28,613
Inventories "FE 989
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEFIE - He REAMEWGIA 1,370
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEFEY 21,274
Other payables and accruals HAb eI ga R ERHE R (7,476)
Tax payable JERITRIE (86)
Lease liabilities HEaE (453)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIERE (3,942)
Non-controlling interests SRR (21,598)
Net assets disposed of EEFELE 77,153
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: & — b B A R A9 M
Cash consideration ReERE 80,249
Net assets disposal of EEFELE (77,153)
Gain on disposed of a subsidiary & — R B A R Ay e 3,096
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34. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 34. HEMWEB AT (®)
Summary of disposals during the year ended BE-_ZFE-_HF=A=+—HL
31 March 2025 (Continued) FENLHERE®R)
() Preeminent Medical Centre Limited (Continued) (i) =ARBEHDLERQTE)
An analysis of cash flow from the disposal of a subsidiary is as HEMNBARMSRESREN TN
follows: T
Total
et
HK$’000
FExT
Cash consideration received BUIRESRE 80,249
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEED (21,274)
Net cash inflow from disposal of a subsidiary HEMRBATMNERESRAFE 58,975

(ii)

EC Healthcare

New Medical Centre Holding Limited

On 6 November 2024, Jade Master, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, two sellers and an independent
third party (the Purchaser”), entered into the Share
Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which the Purchaser has
conditionally agreed to purchase 51%, 48% and 1% of the
issued share capital in New Medical Centre Holding Limited
at considerations of HK$437,580,000, HK$411,840,000 and
HK$8,580,000, respectively. New Medical Centre Holding
Limited and its subsidiaries were primarily engaged in the
provision of medical services and medical imaging services.
Disposal of this business allows the Group to enhance the
utilisation of and manage its resources to better develop
its assets portfolio. The disposal allows the Company to
re-allocate the proceeds for other investment opportunities
when they arise and adjust, if needed, the overall strategy on
its investment portfolio when the market conditions warrant.
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(ii)

New Medical Centre Holding
Limited

RZZEZWME+—ARAB &%
B 2 & [ B A 7 Jade Master £2
MEEAN—BBIE=FH([E
FDEIIROHBERZE - it
B 75 B &4 R E B New Medical
Centre Holding Limited & 217 B Z<
M51% ~ 48% K 1% * REHFIA
437,580,000/ 7T * 411,840,0007%8
7T 58,580,000/ 7T ° New Medical
Centre Holding Limited & E ff & 2
AEENEREREREREEY
GRS - HEZEBAEASEIRE
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34. HEMBAT(#)
BE-—E-_AF=A=+—AH1t

34. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Summary of disposals during the year ended

31 March 2025 (Continued) FENHERE®R)
(i) New Medical Centre Holding Limited (Continued) (i) New Medical Centre Holding
Limited (&
An analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was HEEERHENEERAEETD
lost: #r
Total
et
HK$’000
Fix
Property, plant and equipment M - WE MR 43,973
Goodwiill Bk 127,482
Intangible assets mLEE 35,382
Rental and other deposits HekHEMEe 4,006
Inventories TE 1,426
Deferred tax assets BIETRIRE E 1,631
Trade receivables g 5 W ERIA 20,977
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TENFRIE « e REAMEWGRIA 3,967
Tax recoverable AU EI R IR 784
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEED 13,469
Trade payables Z S EMNFIE (975)
Other payables and accruals HAb N RIBRIERTER (13,855)
Tax payable JERITRIR (2,662)
Lease liabilities HEaE (21,641)
Deferred tax liabilities EIETIEAE (7,048)
Non-controlling interests FEtER (40,053)
Net assets disposed of EEFELE 166,863
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE— B A R8s
Consideration RE 437,580
Net assets disposed of EEFELE (166,863)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE— KB AR Mk 270,717
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34. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 34. HEMB AR &)
Summary of disposals during the year ended BE-_ZE_HF=A=1+—HL
31 March 2025 (Continued) FENLHERE®R)
(i) New Medical Centre Holding Limited (Continued) (i) New Medical Centre Holding
Limited (4
An analysis of cash flow from the disposal of subsidiary is as HEWBARMBHRSRES TN
follow: N
Total
#at
HK$’000
Fix
Cash consideration received BUIR S R(E 393,822
Cash and cash equivalents REMREEEY (13,469)
Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiary HEMRBATMRESRAFE 380,353

35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, there was no capital commitment
to acquire property, plant and equipment for new service points.

The Group was committed at 31 March 2025 to enter into a few
new leases that have not yet commenced and the aggregate lease
payments without considering the extension options amounted to
HK$380 million (2024: HK$380 million).
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. BEBHARS
(@ In addition to the transactions and balances detailed @ FMREBHmKREMEBOPAFRNZS
elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had the NN - REBF R HET
following material transactions with related parties during the BTINERRZS :
year:

2025 2024
—E_RF —EPUF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET

Companies beneficially owned by HEEIEE R
Tang Chi Fai BEENAT
Lease rental payments HEHESZ 0] 1,770 2,124

Companies beneficially owned by B EEIREEE

the spouse of Tang Chi Fai BENAT
Lease rental payments MAERe®K () 144 240
Joint ventures EELE

Purchases of skincare and BEEENMERER

beauty products and medical N BB RN

consumables (i) 19,537 16,653
Purchases of property, plant and BEWE  BEX

equipment B (i) 12,019 20,189
Equipment maintenance service RIBHEE RS E

fee (iv) 3,191 4,406

Companies beneficially owned by HFiB A TH
non-controlling shareholders of  FEIERBRES
subsidiaries BEWAT
Lease rental payments BERESMR () 2,208 2,208

Companies beneficially owned HBBEN— BRIk
by a family member of Lu Lyn REEZHEENATE
Wade Leslie
Lease rental payments BERESMR (i) 17,166 17,207
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@)

EC Healthcare

(Continued)

Notes:

i) The lease rentals were charged from the related parties according
to mutually agreed terms.

(ii) Purchases were made with the joint ventures according to the
mutually agreed terms.

(iii) Items of property, plant and equipment were purchased from joint
ventures according to mutually agreed terms.

(iv) Equipment maintenance service fees were charged from the joint
ventures according to mutually agreed terms.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

All members of key management personnel are directors of
the Company, and their compensations are disclosed in note
9.

There was no continuing connected transaction nor
connected transaction entered into by the Group during the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 which is required to
be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
related party transactions with entities beneficially owned by
Tang Chi Fai or his spouse or non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries disclosed in note 36(a) are exempted from
the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules as they are below the de minimis threshold under
Rule 14A.76(1).
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 37. cRIEAMEEREMIAND

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and equity price
and investment risks. The directors review and agree policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.

The Group was involved in the provision of medical, aesthetic
medical, beauty and wellness and multi-channel networking
and related services, and the sale of skincare, healthcare and
beauty products, and receivable balances are mainly from
financial institutions in respect of credit card receivables and
other institutional customers arising from medical and multi-
channel networking and related services. Receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis by senior management and the
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. In addition, the
Group’s bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets arises from the
default of the counterparties, with a maximum exposure equal to
the carrying amounts of these financial assets.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix or based on the probabilities of default with reference to
available market information. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 37. cRIEAMEEREMIAND

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NRENE Y
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EER K@)
The following table provides information about the Group’s TN B _RAFR_FE_NF=
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables as at 31 March 2025 A=+—AAKEHEEE RO
and 2024: Br
Gross Gross
carrying carrying
amount amount
EREAE REEE
2025 2024
—E_RE —E-PE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Current (not past due) BNER(REH) 178,100 144,768
Less than 3 months past due B HAD A3 (& A 80,380 83,921
3 to 6 months past due #IEAS =61E A 30,228 22,943
7 to 12 months past due #E7 212 @A 21,236 10,020
More than 1 year past due B FUAE 31,665 1,364
Total ol 341,609 263,016
Liquidity risk REESREE
The Group monitors and maintains a sufficient level of cash and AEEERNMEREEBRRFRNE
cash equivalents deemed adequate by management to finance MRS FEWKF  UBRNEAEEDN
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in LERRERESREETNTE - 12
cash flows. Management reviews and monitors its working capital ErHEFNEREEEESHF R -

requirements regularly.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 37. cREKREERSMTIAND
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NRERE )]
(Continued)

REESRE @)

AEENTREEENAGORMBRRE
MEMNBABERAT

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities, based on the
contractual undiscounted cash flows, is as follows:

As at 31 March 2025 R-ZE-_RFE=HA=+—H

Within
1 year or
on demand

BR-hg
BEXHE
HK$'000
Tin

More than
1 year but
less than
PATE
—-ElE
EmER
HK$'000
Tén

More than
2years

but less than
5years
MENLL
BRER
HK$'000
Tén

More than
5years

BEME
HK§'000
TER

Total
undiscounted
cash flows
AER
RenesE
HK$000
Tén

Carrying
amounts

Kt
HK$'000
TEn

Trade payables B5EATE 106,032 - - - 106,032 106,032
Other payables and accruals At EMNFERENER 431,368 - 211,678 - 703,046 686,093
Bank borrowiings RO 281,251 204,438 - = 575,689 542,134
Lease liabilties BEAE 248,569 177422 149,820 1,350 577,161 546,671
Convertible bonds RES 265,338 - - - 265,838 254,325
Totd At 1,333,058 471,860 421,498 1,350 2,201,766 2,136,155

As at 31 March 2024 RZZE-WMF=ZA=+—8H

More than More than
Within 1 year but 2 years Total
1yearor lessthan  but less than Morethan  undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flows amounts
)i AL & F L) b N
FEXEE {BRER [BRER nENE  RensEE HaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL ThL ThL ThL ThL Th
Trade payables BRENTE 81,094 - - - 81,004 81,004
Other payables and acoruals AtEATERETER 370,331 14,643 263,878 17,271 666,123 604,368
Bank borrowings BITER 185,385 285,742 295,239 - 766,366 678,902
Lease liabiities HERE 273,985 192,175 241,057 15,809 723,206 683,027
Convertible bonds wifkES 6,630 259,208 - - 265,838 241,767
Total =5 917,405 751,768 800,374 33,080 2502627 2289158
BERRE 259 FEE®RE 2024/25
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank borrowings,
convertible bonds and lease liabilities. Bank borrowings, convertible
bonds and lease liabilities issued at variable rates and at fixed rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value

interest rate risk respectively.

The Group monitors the level of its variable rate borrowings and
fixed rate borrowings and manages the contractual terms of the
interest-bearing financial liabilities. The Group’s interest rate profile

as monitored by management is set out in () below.

(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of the

Group’s borrowings at the end of the reporting period.

37. cRiEREEREMIANA

EE @)

FEm B

AREBO R RREREZRERITER
AMBREFMEERE - WIFBHFER
Bl A R % 2 RITERK - ATRRES
REEREDHSAKREARRAGRE
MR R S R FEM R ER -

REBEEEF B H R B R M EEH EME
TR EREEFEERABENALRK
e AEEHEREBERNOMEGERE
A TNXEH()A

(i) FIZ=ER

TRHAVAREBRRE R R &
K2 M EBER -

2025 2024
—EC-RHE —E-ME
Effective Effective
interest rate Amount interest rate Amount
BERAI=E Ex.c) VRS Gl
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BizE TET TBT
Fixed rate borrowings: EERRED
Bank borrowings BITIER 25 7.13% 3,650 7.13% 7,059
Lease liabilities MHERE 28 1.9%-6% 546,671 2.66%—6% 683,027
Convertible bonds AAkRES 32 7.94% 254,325 7.94% 241,767
Subtotal st 804,646 931,853
Variable rate borrowings: FERIRER
Bank borrowings BITIER 25 5.30%=-6.12% 538,484  5.77%-8.33% 671,843
Subtotal et 538,484 671,843
Total &3t 1,343,130 1,603,696
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 37. cRIEAMEEREMIAND

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2025, it was estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would have increased/decreased
(2024: decreased/increased) the Group’s loss (2024: profit)
after taxation and decreased/increased retained profits by
approximately HK$5,540,000 (2024: HK$6,820,000). Other
components of the consolidated equity would not be affected
in response to a general increase/decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the annualised impact
on the Group’s interest expense that would arise assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred at the end of
the reporting period arising from floating rate non-derivative
instruments held by the Group as at that date which exposes
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

Equity price and investment risks

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from individual
equity investments classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss or fair value through other comprehensive income. The
valuation of the unlisted investments is determined by reference
to the financial forecast of the investees, the recent transaction
price of the same class of instruments or price/earnings ratio of
comparable companies. Investment fund risk is the risk that the
fair value or future cash flows of investment funds will fluctuate due
to changes in the prices of underlying securities or the financial
performance of the funds. All of the Group’s unquoted investments
are held for strategic purposes. Their performance is assessed
regularly based on the information available to the Group.

In addition, the Group has taken out two life insurance policies
covering a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary which include
investment elements, which the price risk is similar to the above
investment fund risk.

BEREE 261

EE @)

== 2 By (4
(i) BEEDH

R-EBE-RE=A=+—80 14
R R R EERE EF TR 1001E E
B EFBEMEERBETENS
T AEBOBRKEEBE(ZZ
ZmF ER) M OB (ZF
ZF R ) KRB & T
153/ /18 HN495,540,00078 7T ( —
T U4 : 6,820,00058 7T ) ° E A
RAREBOB TR REE L

O TRME R E -

B GRE D TR AR B RS
FXBEELENFLELRE  EPR
BAEERBEPRRBEEHAE
EEERERENRRROIEITE
THA: G MEEIERFEHIEER
Rz BRIFIRGFRES -

ERERRRERR

AEBEHEEBRKEDERRAFEFAR
s A FEFARMEE G S/
BENEBRARENERERRR
FLTRENEEDEZ2ERRE TN
MBIEA - RBRTAERNIRRZERL
AELBRARMAXETE - WEETR
BRAREESHNAFEIRKEZRE
#EEEEFNERESH AR SO
FIRMIKENHIRR o P AN 5 B #) 5 37
BREDNFHERBEEN - ERAREAN
SE A HER T MR -

BAN > REEE B —KHERRNH—F
FERBRREBEMDASRE - ZFR
BERSRERZ  AERRARSE K
BERABRAE
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 37. ciEREEREMTANA
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NRENE Y
(Continued)
Equity price and investment risks (Continued) EREXRKRERRE®)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5% TRIREMBEMBERFAZEAR
change in the fair values of the investments to which the Group has AREBBEZENBEALT -  AREER
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period, with all other WMEHRRAYEARRBRNKEN A FE
variables held constant and before any impact on tax. There is no BES%HHRE o L EAEE A RE (R
impact on the Group’s equity except on the retained profits and fair Ba | R AT ERFEECTEAEZE)BRIN
value reserve (non-recycling). RiZi=2-2
The maximum risk resulting from these investments equals their fair ZEREMEEN &S ARBEERSENH
value. NEE -
Change
Carrying Change in other
amount of in profit/loss comprehensive
investments before tax income/loss
REMEE
REHN  BRBARER W& EEN
FREE EENEE BE)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FATT FBIT
As at 31 March 2025 R-BE-_HFE=A=+—H
Unlisted investments — FVOCI EEHERE —RAFE
STARA R EIE 3,637 - 182
Unlisted investments — Fair value  3E FH#&& — 12 A F1(E
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) &t A48z ([1RA (A
FABE] 119,301 5,965 -
Total &5t 122,938 5,965 182
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_WNFE=A=+—H
Unlisted investments — FVOCI FEEMKE LN FE
FFARM R EIRE 9,637 - 482
Unlisted investments — FVTPL FEEMRE L ANFE
FtAEE 117,706 5,885 -
Total XLl 127,343 5,885 482

EC Healthcare
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 37. cRIEAMEEREMIAND

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Capital management

The Group’s main objectives with respect to capital management
include maintaining a solid and stable financing structure to support
its ongoing business growth so that it can continue to maximise
shareholders’ return, and providing an adequate return to the
shareholders by pricing products and services commensurate with
the level of risk.

The Group regularly reviews and manages its capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to the shareholders, return capital to the shareholders
or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made to the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the
year.

Fair value measurement
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments measured at the end of the reporting period on a
recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The level into
which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

° Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs, i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

° Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs,
i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available

° Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs
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NRERE ),

EXEHE
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 37.

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
(Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value

tREREERSMTIAND
NRERE ),

Heim

+

(=] (&)
RATFEAENEMEERER (A

YN

[res

2 FIEER(E)

TRINTAEECH ITAENRAFEAR
B :

BAHERENEE

Fair value measurement using

ERATHIEETAVENE

Quoted prices

Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WERTS EATBE EATUHEER
FrRfER BAHE BAE
(E—ER) (B=ER) (B=E#R) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THL THL
As at 31 March 2025 R-ZZ-HF=A=+-H
Financial assets at fair value through profit  ZATEE ABRME 8
orloss BE 885 11,152 107,264 119,301
Financial assets at fair value through other IR AFEAE M2 E
comprehensive income Wt emaE = = 3,637 3,637
Other receivables Hib A - = 49,629 49,629
Total CEl 885 11,152 160,530 172,567
As at 31 March 2024 RIB-ZME=A=+—-H
Financial assets at fair value through profit 22 EzT ABRH S8
or loss BE 899 3,248 113,559 117,706
Financial assets at fair value through other A FEEAEMEE
comprehensive income RS REE - - 9,637 9,637
Other receivables Ht e IR - - 98,305 98,305
Total CE 899 3,248 221,501 225,648
EC Healthcare 264 Annual Report 2024/25



Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 37. cRIEAMEEREMIAND

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

(Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Assets measured at fair value (Continued)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3

for financial assets (2024: Nil).

Liabilities measured at fair value

EE @)

Heim

+

(=] (&)
RATFEAENEMEERER A

YN

[res

2 FIEER(E)
BAVERENEEE)

KFEE eHEENF ERBRE_E
BB EATFEFSEE - NEET
FEREARE L (T _OF - HE) o

NAHEENARE

Fair value measurement using

ERTHIEETAFENE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WERTSM EXTEHE EDNGIEES
HwEHR BARE BAYE
(5—EHR) (E=E#) (F=BR) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT FAT TAT
As at 31 March 2025 R-ZZ-HF=ZA=+-H
Other payables Hith R FA - 12,205 12,205
As at 31 March 2024 RZE-WNE=A=1—H
Other payables Hit e 5RIE - 17,023 17,023

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
for financial liabilities (2024 Nil).

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair
value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which they
occur.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 37. cRIEAMEEREMIAND

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2
fair value measurements

The unlisted fund investments are not quoted in an active market
and may be subject to restrictions on redemptions. Management
considers the valuation techniques and inputs used in valuing these
investment funds as part of its due diligence prior to investing to
ensure they are reasonable and appropriate and therefore the net
asset value of these funds may be used as an input into measuring
their fair values.

The unlisted note investments are not quoted in an active market
and may be subject to restrictions on redemptions. The valuation
of such is determined by reference to the latest redemption prices
from fund administrators.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3
fair value measurements

The fair value of an unlisted equity investment amounting
to HK$6,128,000 (2024: HK$10,877,000) is determined by
referencing to the fair value of underlying properties held by the
investee using the market approach by taking into account the
quoted selling price of such properties. The fair value measurement
is positively correlated to the estimated profit margin of 5% (2024:
5%) on redevelopment. As at 31 March 2025, it is estimated
that with all other variables held constant, a decrease/increase in
estimated profit margin by 1% (2024: 1%) would increase/decrease
(2024: decrease/increase) the Group’s loss (2024: profit) for the
year by approximately HK$122,000 (2024: HK$340,000).

The fair value of the unlisted fund investment relating to a co-living
project amounting to HK$18,140,000 (2024: HK$19,418,000) is
determined by the income approach based on the forecast of future
cash flows. The fair value measurement is positively correlated to
the average occupancy rate for the next five years (2025: 95%;
2024: 90%) and negatively correlated to the discount rate (2025:
10.1%; 2024: 10.5%).
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— T PO : 10,877,000 BIT) Jh2E
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 37. cRIEAMEEREMIAND

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3
fair value measurements (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, it is estimated that with all other variables
held constant, a decrease/increase in average occupancy rate
for the next five years by 5% would increase/decrease (2024
decrease/increase) the Group’s loss (2024: profit) for the year
by approximately HK$13,472,000 and HK$13,472,000 (2024
HK$12,030,000 and HK$12,030,000) respectively, while a
decrease/increase in discount rate by 1% would decrease/increase
(2024: increase/decrease) the Group’s loss (2024 profit) for the
year by approximately HK$3,462,000 and HK$3,462,000 (2024:
HK$3,092,000 and HK$3,092,000), respectively.

The returns of the life insurance policies are at the discretion of the
insurers. Accordingly, management assesses that the redemption
values of such policies approximate to their fair values.

The Group’s other investments categorised in Level 3 were
managed by unrelated asset managers who applied various
investment strategies to accomplish their respective investment
objectives. The fair value of these investments is recorded based
on valuations supplied by the fund managers. These valuations
are measured by the percentage of ownership of the private
equity’s net asset value, which is an unobservable input. The fund
managers apply appropriate valuation techniques such as the latest
transaction price, discounted cash flow, or a forward price/earnings
multiple arrived at by comparison with publicly-traded comparable
companies and after applying a liquidity discount. The models are
calibrated regularly and tested for validity using prices from any
observable current market transactions in the same instruments or
based on any available observable market data.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 37. cRIEAMEEREMIAND

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3
fair value measurements (Continued)

The fair value of other receivables measured at fair value is
determined with reference to present value of forecast of future
cash flows in accordance with the terms set out in underlying sales
and purchase agreements. The fair value of other receivables is
negatively corelated to net income of investee companies.

As at 31 March 2025, it is estimated that with all other variables
held constant, a decrease/increase in net income in the
investee companies by 5% would decrease/increase (2024:
increase/decrease) the Group’s loss (2024: profit) for the year
by approximately HK$1,814,000 and HK$1,675,000 (2024:
HK$2,985,000 and HK$2,823,000), respectively.

The fair value of other payables measured at fair value is determined
with reference to present value of forecast of future cash flows
in accordance with the terms set out in an underlying sales and
purchase agreement. The fair value of other payables is negatively
corelated to discount rate applied to the cash flow projections.

As at 31 March 2025, it is estimated that with all other variables
held constant, an increase /decrease in discount rate by 1%
would decrease/increase (2024: increase/decrease) the Group’s
loss (2024: profit) for the year by approximately HK$211,000 and
HK$216,000 (2024: HK$86,000 and HK$480,000), respectively.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3

fair value measurements (Continued)

The movements during the year in the balance of the Level 3
measurements are as follows:

37. cRiEREEREMIANA

EE @)

FZEBRAFEFEMANMGE
B i K b A\ B ()

FAF=BRTELEHREHWT ¢

Financial assets SREE
Unlisted equity Unlisted Investmentsin  Unlisted equity
investments - fund lifeinsurance  investment- Other
FVIPL investments policies FVOCI receivables Total
FLmiA
FLmRA RE-RAVE
RE-RAVE  FLmES AERE AR 2
HABR ke e 2EkE FEEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THI THI THI ThI Thi Th
At 1 Apri 2023 RZB-=FmA-H 33,696 42532 56,507 10419 99,559 242,803
Aditional contrioution FINTE 1168 944 - - - 2112
Fair value change NTEEY (9,354) (13,617) 1593 (782) (1,254) (23.414)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZE-RE=A=1-H
RZE-MEMA-H 25,510 29,859 58,190 9,637 98,305 221,501
Additional contribution BNTE 1,758 2,300 = = = 4,058
Fair value change ATEED (11,649) #5 881 (6,000) (48,676) (65,029)
At 31 March 2025 RZZ-RE=F=1-H 15,619 32,574 59,071 3,637 49,629 160,530
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 37.

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3

tREREERSMTIAND
NRERE ),

F=ERAVEFERANMGE

fair value measurements (Continued) B i B b A\ B (4F)
Financial liabilities CA =k

Other payables
HAebpE{TRIE
HK$’'000
FABT
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-_=FMA—H 7,518
Fair value changes NEEES) (1,058)
Addition nNE 10,563
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-ZE-_NFE=A=+—BER-ZE-_WFMA—H 17,023
Fair value changes NHEES) (4,818)
At 31 March 2025 W_E_RF=A=+—H 12,205

During the year ended 31 March 2025, there were no transfers into
or out of Level 3 for financial liabilities.

Financial assets and liabilities not measured at
fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried
at amortised cost are not materially different from their fair values as
at the end of the reporting period.
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38. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 38. QA RIEEMBARR T

FINANCIAL POSITION

2025 2024
—E-RF —E-PUFE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHxT FiBT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RSB ARIMEE 1 1
Financial assets at fair value through EAHEETARMEER
other comprehensive income WEmemEE 3,637 9,637
Financial assets at fair value through BATERT ABER
profit or loss SREE 7,615 11,728
Total non-current assets IERBEELE 11,253 21,366
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Prepayments, deposits and other TENFIE - ek
receivables E b U FRIA 775 15,775
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUSE B A Rk TE 1,446,751 1,449,703
Cash and cash equivalents ReRAEEEYD 2,027 1,755
Total current assets REVEERLE 1,449,553 1,467,233
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables HAb T FRIE 3,441 2,659
Convertible bonds AR ES 254,325 -
Total current liabilities PN =RE 257,766 2,659
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 1,191,787 1,464,574
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEABERRBER
LIABILITIES 1,203,040 1,485,940
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FREBEME
Convertible bonds AIRES - 241,767
NET ASSETS EEFE 1,203,040 1,244,173
EQUITY R 29(a)
Share capital &N 12 12
Reserves #E 1,203,028 1,244,161
Total equity fatEm 1,203,040 1,244,173

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 19

June 2025.

Lu Lyn Wade Leslie

R-CFE-_RAFAATNAEESSHE

KA RETIE -

Lee Heung Wing

BHE EqE]
Director Director
EE EE
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39. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 39. RITBE A RMNIRE
The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which UTHREEFHNETEFEREBR X
principally affected the results, assets and liabilities of the Group. HBENBEBEIZHNBRAFFS -
Effective percentage
of equity interest
Place of held by the Group
incorporation/ Issued FEERENER
establishment/ share capital/ READL
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
AL/ BRITRE/
WEARER R/ E$h% BRRA B B FEEE
Able Lead Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 97%  Provision of healthcare services
(EFEBRAR) &k 10,0007 RAEER RS
Ace Miracle Enterprises Limited BVI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
ERAEBRES Er REBR
All Union International Investment Limited  Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Sales of skincare products
(EHERREERAF) &k B HEEEED
AmMed Cancer Center (Central) Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$2 - 100%  Provision of top notch cancer
i 28T diagnosis services

T 1/\’_”@?&;\@“1&%

ATO Hair Club Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Hair treatment
i 10027 BEER

Bayley & Jackson Dental Surgeons Hong Kong HK$100 - 50%  Provision of dental services
Limited EB 10087 BBt TR
(EHBRTHBBHRERAR)

Beautisky International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 75%  Distribution of aesthetic
(REBBRAE) % 10,000 7T devices and beauty related

consumables

DEFEER IR

Beautisky Leasing Limited Hong Kong HK$10 75%  Leasing of aesthetic devices
(RRHEEBRRAR) R 1087 HEXSES
Bella Skin Care (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 90%  Provision of skin-care services
R 10,0007 AR R
Best Union (China) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Provision of medical, quasi-
(EB(RE)ERAT) i AT medical and traditional
beauty services and sale
of skincare and beauty
products
RIUER  ERRRESR
FERBIAREEEE R
FREM
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39. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. AMBATIMNKRE®)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
Place of held by the Group
incorporation/ Issued FEEEENER
establishment/ share capital/ READL
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
EMAL/ BRITRE/
WEARER TAe-E3:t BRBRA B B FEER
Bilion Energy Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Property investment
KFERAR) B AT RENE
Centre of Rehabilitation & Exercising Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 51%  Provision of rehabilitation
Specialist Limited B 10,000 7T services
(REMZRBREENRARAF) RARER
Crown Leader Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 51%  Provision of veterinary medical
(BRBRAR) B 10,000%7C services
RUEHBERRY
Conya Group Limited Hong Kong HK$11,000 - 60%  Provision of dental services
(RHEEEERRAT) &k 11,0007 AT RIBRR
Cosmetic Care Macau Limited Macau MOP10,000 - 90%  Provision of cosmetic products
i 10,0007 R #m
Dermagic Skin Treatment Centre Hong Kong HK$770 - 85%  Provision of traditional beauty
Company Limited B TT0%TT services and sale of skincare
(BEALRERLERAT) and beauty products
RIEAERRB AR
HEEEREDER
Dr. Pro and Dr. Rebom Medical Macau MOP26,000 - 100%  Provision of aesthetic medical
Aesthetics Centre Limited il 26,0009 7T beauty services
EEXBEXTPLERAR) RIUBEXRRH
EC BP Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100%  Distribution of aesthetic devices
BERFARLA) EE 10,000,000/ PHXEEE
EHC Management Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Investment holding
(EHREERARLT) &k 100%7T REER
Ellisland Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 51%  Provision of veterinary medical
i 1,000 7 services
RS ERERY
Eternal Harvest International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 51%  Provision of veterinary medical
(R2ERBERAT) B 10,000/87C services

REBBEERY
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39. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. AMBATIMNKRE®)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
Place of held by the Group
incorporation/ Issued FEEEENER
establishment/ share capital/ READL
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
EMAL/ BRITRE/
WEARER TAe-E3:t BRBRA B B FEER
Excellent Power Investments Limited BV US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
EREBRES %7 REHER
Gala Equity Limited BVI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
AEABRES Er RERR
Global Beauty International Management - Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 90%  Provision of beauty brand
Limited & 10,0007 management and cosmetic
business development
RUEFAMEEER
flmEBER

Gold Rise Global Limited Hong Kong HK$415 - 85%  Provision of traditional beauty

(RHRRAR AT Bk 4158TT services and sale of skincare
and beauty products
REEREARBUARHEEE
BRFERER
Grand Best Union Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Provision of administrative
(BIZHERLF) Bk 1T services
RATIR
Grand Best Union Services Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 90%  Investment holding
&k 100787 REHER

Green Mile Veterinary Management Hong Kong HK$30,000,000 - 70%  Provision of veterinary medical

Limited Bk 30,000,000/ 7T services
RUESBRERY

Guangzhou Zhuansheng Aesthetic The PRC/ RMB10,000,000 - 90%  Provision of medical services
Medical Beauty Clinic Company Limited ~ Mainland China AR%10,000,0007T REBERY
(ENMELXBEXAMDHAERLA)  (Notel)

E/ R ()

Guangzhou Zhuansheng Enterprise The PRC/ RMB500,000 - 90%  Provision of medical services
Management Company Limited Mainland China AR#500,0007 RHEBERS
(BMEECXERARAA) (Note 1)

/B ()
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39. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. AMBATIMNKRE®)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
Place of held by the Group
incorporation/ Issued FEEEENER
establishment/ share capital/ READL
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
EMAL/ BRITRE/
WEARER R/ %% BRBRA B B FEER
Hair Forest Treatment Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Hair treatment
&k 10,0007 BEER

Hairchitect Institute (Harbour City) Hong Kong HK$1,200 - 75%  Hair treatment
Limited &k 1200%7 BERR
EEMEZ RSN ARAR)

Health Easy Dental Group Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 60%  Provision of dental services
(RETHERFRAA) Bl 10087 RAETRIRE

Health & Care Dental Clinic Limited Hong Kong HK$8,708,433 - 100%  Provision of dental services
(BERTHERMERA) i 8,708,433 7T RAETHIRS

Health & Care Dental Services Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$800,000 - 100%  Provision of dental services
(BRTHRBERAR) Bk 800,000 7 RETHIRS

Health & Care (Macau) Dental Group Macau MOP25,000 - 100%  Provision of dental services
Limited 2 25,0007 AT RIS
(ER(ZM) TREEERAR)

High Group Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Investment holding
(REEEERAR) i 10087 REER

Hong Kong Medical Advanced Imaging ~ Hong Kong HK$80,000,000 - 42.6%  Provision of medical imaging
Limited Bk 80,000,00077C (Note 2) services

(ko) REBSYERE

Hong Kong Medical Endoscopy Center ~ Hong Kong HK$100 - 73%  Provision of medical surgery
Limited B 10047 services

Hong Kong Oncology Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Provision of medical services

&R 10,0007 REEERE

Hong Kong Orthopaedic and Clinical Hong Kong HK$20,000,000 - 45%  Provision of medical services

Myotherapy Limited BE 20,000,000/ Note?) IRMBERE
(Fitz+2)

Hong Kong Orthopaedic and Spine Hong Kong HK$2 - 100%  Provision of medical services
Centre Limited B 28T REBERY
(BEEBMRARPLERAT)
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39. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. AMBATIMNKRE®)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
Place of held by the Group
incorporation/ Issued FEEEENER
establishment/ share capital/ READL
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
EMAL/ BRfIRE/
WELFER TAe-E3:t BERE B B IEXER
Hong Kong Pain And Wellness Solution BV US$10,000 - 75%  Investment holding
Limited ABEARES 10,000% 7T REER
Hong Kong Polyclinics Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 60%  Provision of medical services
EE 18T BRI
Hong Kong Polyclinics Limited BV US$10,000 - 60%  Investment holding
SEERAREE 10,000%7T REER
Hong Kong Professional Vaccine Limited  Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Provision of vaccine services
&R 10,0007 R R R
Hongkong Professional Pediatrics Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 95%  Provision of vaccine services
Vaccine Limited B 10,0007 RERE RS
Hong Kong Veterinary Imaging Center Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 51%  Provision of medical imaging
Limited BE 1,000 7T services
(ERBRYEPLARAT) RUBEYERY
Honor Hong Kong Development Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$10 - 100%  Sale of skincare products
(FEEAEEERLA) Bl 1087 HEERER
Honour Year Limited Hong Kong HK$20,000 - 55%  Investment holding
&k 20,0007 RERR
Humphrey & Pariners Medical Services  Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Provision of medical services
Management Limited B 1B RERERE
HWEVC Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 51%  Provision of electric vehicle
EREELEERAF) & 10,0007 (EV) charging infrastructure
solutions
RUEFHEREENRINE
BARE
iMedtech Limited BVI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
EBEARES %7 RERR
Jade Master Intemational Limited BVI USs$10 - 100%  Investment holding
EERBRES 0% RERR
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39. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. AMBATIMNKRE®)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
Place of held by the Group
incorporation/ Issued FEEEENER
establishment/ share capital/ READL
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
EMAL/ BRfIRE/
WELFER TAe-E3:t BERE B B IEXER
King Equity Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 51%  Provision of veterinary medical
(FHREERRAR) i 10,000/7T services
RUHBRRRY
Langham Crystal Eye Center Limited Hong Kong HK$15,000,000 - 100%  Provision of eye services
&R 15,000,000/ T AR
Laugh and Shine Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Provision of dental services
&k 10087 FRATRIRTS
Majai Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 75%  Provision of veterinary medical
(SHFERAF) & 1,000 services
RUEBRRRY
Mainwell Beauty Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000 - 73.3%  Provision of hair services
(EHABRAT) &k 2,000 RTBERE
Marvel Champion Group Limited BVI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
(REEERRAR) SEEARES 1% RERR
Mber (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding
&R 10,0007 REER
Mber Limited BV US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
ABUBRES %7 RERR
Mckenzie Capital Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$40,000,000 - 51%  Investment holding
R 40,000,000 70 REER
Mckenzie Healthcare Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 51%  Provision of medical services
(EEREEERAR) &k 10,0007 RAUBRIRI
Medic One Surgery Center Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Provision of management
i 1B services
REEERS
Mobie Medical Int'l Centre Ltd BV US$100 - 75%  Investment holding
ABUARES 100%7T REHR
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39. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. AMBATIMNKRE®)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
Place of held by the Group
incorporation/ Issued FEEEENER
establishment/ share capital/ READL
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
EMAL/ BRITRE/
WEARER TAe-E3:t BRBRA B B FEER
Mobile Medical & Health Check Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Provision of medical services
Centre Ltd EE 1007 REBRRY
ERABSRRPLARAA)
My Healthcare Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 75%  Leasing and hospital income
B 100787 RERERKA
New Elite Inc. Limited Hong Kong HK$10 - 100%  Provision of medical and
FBEEERAT) BE 107 traditional beauty services
and sale of skincare and
beauty products
RUBRREGEIDRBIR
REREREAER
Maple Investment Limited Hong Kong HK10,000 - 51%  Investment holding
(BERE(EE)ERRT) &k 10,000%7 RERR
New Union International Capital Limited ~ Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100%  Provision of management
FEERELBRAF) &8 AT services
REERRE
New York Medical Group Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100%  Provision of chiropractic
([BHBEEXE) B 1,000 services
REERBRE
New York Medical Group (HO) Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Provision of chiropractic
Bk 10077 services
AR
Pangenia Inc BV US$ 58,917,041 - 55.26%  Investment holding
FrEENRBERAA) SEEARES 58917,01%TT RERR
Grandtech Scientific Hong Kong Limited  Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 55.26%  Provision of scientific
(ERBHEEERAT) Bk 10,000 7T instruments and laboratory
solutions
RUNPERNERE
BARR
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39. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. AMBATIMNKRE®)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
Place of held by the Group
incorporation/ Issued FEEEENER
establishment/ share capital/ READL
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
EMAL/ BRITRE/
WEARER TAe-E3:t BRBRA B B FEER
Bio-Gene Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 55.26%  Provision of biotechnology
(RERRARRE) EE 10,0007 solutions
REENRBRARTR
Grandtech Scientific China Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 55.26%  Provision of integrated scientific
B 10,0007 T instruments and lahoratory
solutions
RtGANBEERERE
Y VaES
Pangenia Genomics Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 55.26%  Provision of integrated life
i 10,000%7C sclences solutions
REEGAENRERAFR
Pangenia Lifesciences Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 55.26%  Provision of integrated life
FrRENRBERAT) Bk 10,000/7C sclences solutions
REEGSENBHERANE
22 Plus Genomic Information Technology - Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 55.26%  Provision of genomic data
Limited BB 10,000/87C solutions
(EREREANRARAT) REEERARERATR
Bio-Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$50,000 - 55.26%  Provision of integrated
(MBS RMERLAT) Bk 50,0007 biotechnology solutions
REEGRENRHBARTR
Perfect Sunshine Limited Samoa US$1 - 55.26%  Provision of premium wellness
BES (e and festyle enhancement
services
RUBEREREEAT
HERHK
GenDet Health Management Limited Hong Kong HK$800,000 - 55.26%  Provision of precision health
BB 800,000 7 services
REZRERS
Sonic Master Limited BVI US$1 - 55.26%  Provision of premium audio
EEERAREE 1E engineering solutions and
acoustic technology services
REBESAIRBATRR
BERBRS
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Name of subsidiary

WEAFER

Myocea Inc

Guangzhou Jinkechian Technology Ltd.
(BIERBZRIRARAR)

Beijing Jinkechian Technology Ltd.
(ERERBLHRERRT

Guangzhou Bogi Biotechnology Ltd.
(BMEEEMHRARAF)

DiagCor Bioscience Incorporation Limited

(EERENHBARLT)

Pathlab Medical Laboratories Limited

(BUBSILRAERLE)

Perfect Magnum Limited

Plenty Business Limited

Pioneer Evolution Limited

Premier Medical Group (BVI) Limited

EC Healthcare

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Place of
incorporation/
establishment/
operations
ML/
R/ %%

United States
e

The PRC/Mainland
China
BE/FER

The PRC/Mainland
China
HE/ BN

The PRC/Mainland
China
FE/RER

Hong Kong
&R

Hong Kong
&R

BVI
REAERES

BVI
REEARES

BVI
REGARES

BYI
ABEARES

39. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Issued

share capital/
paid-up share capital
BRTRE/
BRBRA

US§100

100%7T

RMB10,000,000
AE#10,000,0007

RMB200,000
A& 200,000

RMB1,500,000
AR 1,500,007

HK$2,652,246
2,652,246/ 70

HK$5,000,000
5,000,000/

US$1
3

USSt
E

US$1
1%

Us$10
ES

280

39. RBATINKRE @)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
held by the Group
REERENER
RERDL

Directly Indirectly

B Rk

- 55.26%

- 55.26%

- 55.26%

- 55.26%

- 55.26%

- 99%

- 100%

- 100%

- 60%

- 70%

Principal activities

TEER

Provision of innovative
molecular diagnostics
AR TR

Provision of intelligent
transportation

RUBITR

Provision of intelligent
transportation systems

RIEZTRES

Provision of advanced life
science research tools
RELEEGHERETIA

Provision of molecular
diagnostics and precision
medicine solutions

BEATHHRIEER
EYES

Provision of laboratory testing
services

RHESRRE

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

BB

Investment holding

BB
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39. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. AMBATIMNKRE®)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
Place of held by the Group
incorporation/ Issued FEEEENER
establishment/ share capital/ READL
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
EMAL/ BRITRE/
WEARER TAe-E3:t BRBRA B B FEER
Prime Inspire Limited BV US$1,000 - 70%  Provision of multi-channel
REERAREE 1,005 networking services
RIS REPE RS
Prime Kids Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 51%  Provision of medical services
& 10078 7T BRI
Professional Aesthetic Surgery Centre Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Provision of management
Limited Bk 1B services
EXEZRPAHLERLR) REERRE
Professional Medical and Surgery Center  Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Provision of management
Limited Bk B services
ERBEZEAPLARAA) REERRE
Qualigenics Medical Limited Hong Kong HK$3,000 - 100%  Provision of medical services
(EERRERLA) &k 3,000/t RLEERE
Reliable Global Group Limited BVI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
AEABRES [Er RERKR
Rising Gold Phoenix Limited BVI 1S$100,000,000 - 90%  Investment holding
EEEARES 100,000,000 7 RERR
Sure-Care Medical and Health Cayman ~ Cayman Islands HK$99,064 - 30.32%  Provision of medical services
Limited REHS 99,0647 7T Note2) FREEEMRI
(ERBERARLT) (Htsx2)
Swiss Line by Dermalab Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100%  Sale of skincare products
ENEERAT) &k 1,000%7 HEEEED
Svenson Hair Centre (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 90%  Provision of expert hair care
i 1B solutions
RUZXBEMATR
Team Expert Investment Limited BVI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
ERGEBRES %7 REHR
The One Dental Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Provision of dental services
R 1007 RETHRS
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39. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. AMBATIMNKRE®)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
Place of held by the Group
incorporation/ Issued AEEEENER
establishment/ share capital/ READL
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
ERAL/ BRfIRE/
WELTER R/ B BERE B B IEXER
The One Dental Plus Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Provision of dental services
5 T RETHRS
The One Dental Three Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Provision of dental services
EE 10078 7T AT RIS
UMH GP Network (Kwun Tong) Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 - 80%  Provision of medical services
& 3,000,000 7T REEERE
UMH GP Network Holding Limited BVI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
REABRES %7 RERR
UMH GP Network Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Provision of medical services
(BREZESEERAT) &k 1007 RALBRIRT
UMH Treasury Services Alpha Limited Hong Kong HK$10 - 100%  Holding of healthcare machines
EE 1087 BEEEES
UMH Treasury Services Beta Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Holding of healthcare machines
B 10,0007 BREEES
Union (Group) Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$29,608 - 100%  Provision of medical,

e (EB)REERAT) Bk 29,6087 T quasi-medical and traditional
beauty services and sale
of skincare and beauty
products

RUBR  CRERESR
EERBUARHEEEER
eI
Union Advanced Imaging Holding Limited  BVI US$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding
AEABRES 10,000%7C REER
Union Capital Investment Holding Limited BV US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
REABRES %7 RERER
Union Dental Holding Limited BVI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
ABURRES %7 REHR
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39. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. AMBATIMNKRE®)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
Place of held by the Group
incorporation/ Issued FEEEENER
establishment/ share capital/ READL
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
AL/ BRfIRE/
WELFER TAe-E3:t BERE B B IEXER
Union Dermatory Holding Limited BV US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
ABEARES %7 RERKR
Union Enchanting Limited BV US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
BaRCARRE) AEABRES 1% RERKR
Union General Surgery Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Provision of medical services
&R 100787 BRI
Union Harvest Corporation Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100%  Provision of marketing services
(EE2ERAR) &R 18T RS HRA
Union Health Services Holding Limited ~~ BVI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
ABURRES %7 REER
Union Honor International Enterprise Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Provision of management
Limited BE 10,000 7T services
BEEREXERAT) RAETRR
Union Lab Holding Limited BVI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
REABRES 1% RERR
Union Medical Association Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Owner of trademarks
5 1A BRERA
Union Medical Capital Management BVI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited ABURRES £ RERR
Union Medical Technology Holdings BV US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited RESARES 1% REER
Union Neurology and Orthology Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$100 - 75%  Provision of medical services
&k 100787 BRI
Union Oncology Holding Limited BVI US$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding
ABEARES 10,000%7T RERR
Union Preventive Healthcare Limited BV US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
ABEARES 1% REER
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39. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/ Issued
establishment/ share capital/
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital
ERAL/ BRITRE/
WEARER R/ %% BRBRA
Union Trichology Limited BV 1S$20,000
ABUARES 20,0007
Wincom Limited Hong Kong HK$100
(EAERAR) Hi 10087
Window-Discovery Tours Limited Hong Kong HK$800,000
ERHEERAR) &k 800,000/#7T
Young Aesthetics Medical Limited Hong Kong HK$100
(AEBRARLT) B 100%7
Notes:
1. The subsidiaries are wholly-foreign owned enterprises in the PRC.
2. These three entities with lower than 50% effective interests held by

the Group are subsidiaries of the Group as the Group controls the

compositions of the respective boards of directors.

EC Healthcare
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39. RBATINKRE @)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
held by the Group
REERENER
RERL
Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
EE B TEER
- 75%  Investment holding
REER
- 51%  Provision of veterinary medical
services
RESBRERE
- 97%  Provision of travel agency
services
AR R

- 96%  Provision of aesthetic medical
services
REBEERRE

1. ZEMBRARRTEIEEERE -
2. SEBATRONERERNZ=HE

BRAAEENNBLR  JIHRAEEE
HlE B EF AL o
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR &R M5

40. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 40. BEEARFERERNIT D
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS BB AT
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling REBEEBERFZERERBNE QR
interests are set out below: REEBMT ¢

2025 2024
—EC-hEF —Z PO
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT THET

Percentage of equity interest held by IR RIS ENRET O
non-controlling interests:
Subsidiary group A — principally engaged WMBEBA-TENES

in provision of medical services in B R P ERERE (M)
Hong Kong (Note 1) = 49%
2025 2024
—E_RF —E-UFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FABTT
Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to ARG IFERERNTE
non-controlling interests: swFL (EE)
Subsidiary group A WEEEA N/ATE A 16,663
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests: 2 A% A% 8. F IFfE L fEz -
Subsidiary group A M EEEA N/ATE A 23,030
Accumulated balances of non-controlling ¥ A B IR IR
interests at the reporting date: RIEERE -
Subsidiary group A HEBEEA N/ATE A 121,846
Note: BisE
1. Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement data 6 November 2024, the 1. BERBHA-ZT_NF+—AAMNEER
Group disposed 51% of the issued share capital in Subsidiary group A. Wik AEELENBEEAS1%HE R
The Subsidiary Group A ceased to be subsidiaries of the Group during TRAE - RAFE - MEBEBATHAXR
the year and their financial results were no longer consolidated into the SENMBAR EMBEEELTHR
Group’s financial statement since then. AEBROFEHREREAANE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ERR M 5
40. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 40. BEEARFERERNI 2
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS BHE AR )
(Continued)
Subsidiary
group A
WEBEEA
HK$'000
T
2024 —E 4
Revenue WA 265,506
Total expense BH 209,385
Earning before interest, tax, depreciation BT E R AT 2 BT
and amortisation 92,720
Current assets MENEE 215,105
Non-current assets IERBEE 333,594
Current liabilities MENAE 189,245
Non-current liabilities EmEaE 10,488
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 384 NMIR & S EYIE HNF 58 12,133
41. IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING 4. EERBRERAE
PARTY
At 31 March 2025, the directors consider the immediate parent and RZEBE_RAF=ZA=1+—H EE=REA
ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Union Medical Care AREBNEEE AR NHRKEIER A A
Holding Limited, which is incorporated in the BVI. AP R A B R B B 5l AK 2 Y Union

Medical Care Holding Limited °
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Corporate Information
NEIEFR
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Cayman Islands
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Definitions

“AGM”
[BREFAE

“Articles of Association”
4R EF2 4R ]

“Audit Committee”
[EZZEE ]

“Board”
[EF ]

“CG Code”

[EERTA

“Chinese Medicine Practitioner(s)”

[FhE& )

“Company”

EVNCIN

“Director(s)”
(&%
“EBITDA”

[ BRI E MR 2 27 ]

‘gfa’
(4R EmEE

the annual general meeting of the Company proposed to be held on 22 August 2025
FRNTECRAFENAS+T HETHNARRRERFRS

the Company’s articles of association
RARIAEBERAA

the audit committee of the Board
EEgEREZEY

the board of Directors

BFe

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, as
amended from time to time

E AR BIPMERCH PR A (R E VA ST RI (B ABFHERT)

person(s) who is (are) registered as registered Chinese medicine practitioner(s) of the
Chinese Medicine Council of Hong Kong under the Register of Chinese Medicine
Practitioners kept in accordance with the Chinese Medicine Ordinance

RIEBCP B EGROBEFNREIMEMAaMaed bR aERZ e MPEN
AT

EC Healthcare 2 B, an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

EC Healthcare & BIEE - NASHST M NEREER AR - HRHONBIAME
R

the director(s) of the Company

RARESE
earnings before interests, taxation, depreciation-owned property, plant and equipment
and amortisation

Rt ARE - HE - BAYE - BELREITEL#EZ 2T

gross floor area

RIBE IR
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Definitions

HEx

“Greater Bay Area”

[ K& ]

“Greater China”

PGk

“Group”
[R&E

“Healthcare Professionals”

o

[fERREIREE |

\

HKS’
%7t

“Hong Kong”
[ &8 ]

“Listing Date”

[ Em B

“Listing Rules”
[ Em#RAl]

MEA”
[ 8]

“Macau”
B ]

EC Healthcare

city cluster across the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau region, consisting of Hong Kong,
Macau and nine cities in Guangdong Province, namely, Dongguan, Foshan, Guangzhou,
Huizhou, Jiangmen, Shenzhen, Zhaoging, Zhongshan and Zhuhai

BR—&A R (BBR)EARTE - BFEES  RBFIREREANERT (BIR
B BN M OIPT ORI EBE - RILRINE)

Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
RERL - B RPIRAE

the Company and its subsidiaries
/NSRS YNC]

person(s) registered with the respective boards or councils before he/she is allowed
to practise in Hong Kong under the relevant laws of Hong Kong as may be amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time. The 13 healthcare professionals
comprise Chinese medicine practitioners, chiropractors, dental hygienists, dentists,
medical laboratory technologists, medical practitioners, midwives, nurses, pharmacists,
occupational therapists, optometrists, physiotherapists and radiographers
FEREERIBRIGETRER] - AR NERNBEBERENEETBREZA
EHEEFEdBEEFETANALT - 1IBEREEEEERETE F8  THRE
B T8 BELRA - B4A - BELT - EL - EBIAED - BIOGER - B - ¥R
JEERRD K PO £ AP

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BEREEERETT

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
hEE ARAMBEEBRHITTHR

11 March 2016, being the date on which the shares were first listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange
“TE-RF=RA+—H  BRPEREBIAER T2 A

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
B A PRE 7 E AR A

merger and acquisition

RIS E L

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
hEE A R HFBRFIEFRITTE R
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Definitions

“Macau Doctor(s)”
[EPIEE A

“Medical Professionals”

BEEXAER]

“Memorandum and Articles of

Association”
EEE Ry N SE N

“Model Code”

[y

“Mr. Tang”
[BR5E A |

“PRC”
[ ]

“PRC Doctor(s)”

[ B P 1h B8 A

“Prospectus”

[ ER ]

“Registered Practitioner(s)”

[eEfi &4 |

doctor(s) licensed by and registered with the department of health in Macau (23455l
TR BT R A D)
BRI RIFTR BT G E R Al R B E

Healthcare Professionals excluding full-time and exclusive Registered Practitioners

REHEIEEE TRREEREEFMEE
the Company’s memorandum and article of association
PAUNSIFEE RN DS

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
FTiRRIMERCIMEK T EITAEFETERXHIRETA])

Mr. Tang Chi Fai, the chairman and an executive Director

ETRFATESHSELLE

the People’s Republic of China
FEE ARFEME

medical practitioner(s) with the qualification of a doctor (E26) or assistant doctor (#3
B2 22 Rf) under the PRC Law on Medical Practitioners (FR 2 A B2 L0 B 3 B2 Rl 0X)
and is practicing at a medical or healthcare institution
BEC(PEARLATMBEREZMEZ) L EBASNENEBMERNEE - EEEIR
RHmamE

the prospectus dated 1 March 2016 issued by the Company
RRBR_E—RE=ZA—BHBNBRER

registered dentist within the meaning of the Dentists Registration Ordinance (Cap. 156),
registered medical practitioner within the meaning of the Medical Registration Ordinance
(Cap. 161), registered chiropractor within the meaning of the Chiropractors Registration
Ordinance (Cap. 428), listed or registered Chinese medicine practitioner within the
meaning of the Chinese Medicine Ordinance (Cap. 549), registered veterinary surgeons
within the meaning of the Veterinary Surgeons Registration Ordinance (Cap. 529),
Macau Doctors and PRC Doctors

CrasTMEpI)(E156% ) Frig M 8 - (B AT MHEAN (1615 ) Frigayst e
& (B BEMERN)(F428F ) FriEMAMAEE - (P B 2%1%@@(%549;)%%5 H&R
SHEEe & - CBREE L MRPI(F5629%F ) Pris st M ERER BA KPR
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Definitions

“Reporting Period”
[ ¥R HAfE

“Sales Volume”
[$H &R
“Share(s)”
[Rsctn |

“Shareholder(s)”
[P ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ B6 32 P

“Trained Therapists”

[BEZEI A5

“YoY”
[RIEE ]

wo”
[%]

financial year ended 31 March 2025
HE-_T-_AF-A-+HULIREE

being the total sales volume generated from contracted sales entered into, and all
products and services offered by the Group

BRI A QIHE AR BIRE A PTE Em MRS E £ ARHE R

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company with par value of HK$0.00001
each
N2 BIAR AN AR AR TAE0.00001 7 7T /Y 3 38 A%

holder(s) of Share(s)
EESE:ES TSN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BRBMAaRZMAERIR

our employees who have completed mandatory internal training developed by our
Doctors to provide quasi-medical services and/or traditional beauty services under our
internal licensing programme

B SERE P88 A il E A 58 1 1 R RS B AR IR R PI B s I AR P IR E B B RIS I
S EGEDRBES

year-on-year

Cil=e

per cent.
ERasd

References in this document to Hong Kong are to Hong Kong SAR, to  AX{RIEMAEEIEEBERITTHE - B

Macau are to Macao SAR and to Taiwan are to the Taiwan region.

EC Healthcare
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EC Healthcare
ERBRRER
Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability

NHASHESEMKIZCERAT
(Stock Code & 3 1t 55E: 2138)

#re:HEALTH
E B LM om R

.
\ / AmMed Medical Diagnostic Center

RORW BT

EC Healthcare

Medical Centre
BERERER PO

N = eEs

~ PRIMECAIC

EREREBE PN

‘d) PAINKILLER
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AR T A

Conya Dental Centre

dm
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SureCare Medical and Health Network

§ PANGEN

EERHERDL

ﬁed\co\\

Health Check Centre

1A B =0 e
A step ahead for healthcare QJ = 1 J:i

Al MEDICAL

SPECIALISTS

E_‘ CENTRAL
5

T E 5 R

EC EvE

¢ BRERM

C’
NYMG

NEW YORK MEDICAL GROUP"

H B &R £ B

T mREAT AR D
Z Cavomn AsiwNeck & Bacx st
& St e

88 DR REBORN Ylpany

Seout

ELEGANT

Maple Veterinary Hospital

18 15 5 ¥ & I

EC Vetcare
Crizd

=

SKIN BODY HAIR

as s

C

CORES

Bayley & Jackson
Dental Surgeons Ltd.
R R AT

//

™

A7 &
st

swiss line

BY DERMALABQ

2\ Animal Medical Centro

HMWERP L

EC Vetcare
Cryid

Svengen

HARVALLL

ADDHAIR TECHNOLOGIES

2 45| Parulan SHKAI

%ED
@
2

CHIKIN TONG

ML Premier Medical Centre
it B B8 35 oh L

LSy

HREPRORER PO

Hong Kong Intemaional Cardiology Center

MCKENZIE
HEALTHCARE

PET

EC pENTAL cARE
BEROE

FOREST

‘E‘;HA(R%?’%

AMAH

Anmat Med cal Academyosp tal

BNERBEEER

e L ———
CRIME R

EC Vetcare
mRAE

DR

0 {9 O 48 B2 B A o 0

E I

HONG KoNG ADVANGED IMAGIG.

umphrey
artners

Qualigenics FEiE

RIS LHLRRM AR

@ reVIVE

{ZEREEREED D

O

EEBRRFLAREP L
HI Orthopacdic & Cliicel Myotherapy

fa 4 B oW BB
Health & Care Dental Clinic

ATO HAIR CLUB

EC Vetcare
8 BBl E

BN

THE AESTHETICS PEOPLE

LASER SOLUTIONS.



	封面
	目錄
	財務摘要及五年概要
	醫思健康一覽
	地域覆蓋
	一站式多品牌生態系統
	主席報告
	董事及高級管理人員簡歷
	管理層討論及分析
	可持續發展方針
	持股管理人
	投資者關係報告
	企業管治報告
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益表
	綜合全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	財務報表附註
	公司資料
	釋義
	封底



